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NEW NAME . . . RENEWED COMMITMENT
WWW.KEYERA.COM

The name KEYERA captures the essence of our business.
It recognizes our rich heritage, built on the legacy assets
of Gulf Canada and Chevron Canada, and embraces our
future. With processing facilities located in key producing
areas of the western Canadian sedimentary basin, we
provide key products and services to our customers.
And we are entering a new era as a 100% publicly owned
business, with strong North American natural gas
fundamentals to support continuing growth. In short,
our business can be summed up in a single phrase:

KEY FACILITIES FOR A NEW ERA
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KEYERA

PROFILE

GLOSSARY

Keyera operates one of the largest natural gas
midstream businesses in Canada.
Our business consists of natural gas gathering

and processing as well as the processing, transportation,
storage and marketing of natural gas liquids (NGLS).

Our gas processing plants and associated facilities are strategically located in the west
central and foothills natural gas production areas of the western Canadian sedimentary
basin. Our NGL infrastructure includes pipelines, terminals and processing and storage
facilities in Edmonton and Fort Saskatchewan, Alberta, a major North American NGL hub.
We market propane, butane and condensate to customers in Canada and the United States.

KEY.UN

A RICH HISTORY OF LEGACY ASSETS

PRE 1998

1998-2003

MAY 2003

JULY 2004

DECEMBER 2004

FEBRUARY 2005

Gulf Canada Resources

Midstream business created.

KeySpan Facilities Income

Chevron Canada legacy

KeySpan Facilities Income

Name is changed to Keyera.

Limited builds and operates

Gulf legacy assets and

Fund is created and listed on

assets acquired through

Fund acquires remaining

The change reflects a new

natural gas processing plants

personnel are transferred

the TSX. Through the initial

purchase of EnerPro

interest in KeySpan Energy

independence, a long-term

to meet growing Canadian

to new midstream entity.

public offering, 17 million

Midstream Company.

Canada Partnership,

commitment and a fresh

production.

KeySpan Corporation acquires

units are issued to purchase

KeySpan Energy Canada

providing unitholders

energy to capture the

the business and name is

a 39% interest in KeySpan

Partnership becomes one

with 100% ownership.

potential of this exciting

changed to KeySpan Energy

Energy Canada Partnership.

of the largest midstream

Canada Partnership.

businesses in Canada.

new era.

acid gas

hydrogen sulphide (H2S) or carbon dioxide (CO2) or a combination of H2S and CO2

acid gas injection

the injection of acid gas into a suitable underground geological formation

bbls and bbls/d

barrels and barrels per day

butane

a natural gas liquid (NGL) with the molecular formula C 4H10

CO 2

carbon dioxide

condensate

a natural gas liquid (NGL) consisting primarily of pentanes and heavier liquids

H2S

hydrogen sulphide

mmcf/d

million cubic feet per day

NGL or NGLs

natural gas liquids, consisting of any one or a combination of propane,
butane and condensate

propane

a natural gas liquid (NGL) with the molecular formula C3H8

raw gas

natural gas before it has been subjected to any processing that may be required
for it to become suitable for sale

NGL mix

NGLs that have been separated from the raw gas but have not yet been subjected
to the processing required to convert them into propane, butane or condensate

sales gas

natural gas that has been treated in a natural gas processing facility and is
suitable for sale

sour gas

natural gas containing more than one percent H2S

sulphur

a yellow mineral extracted from natural gas

sweet gas

natural gas that contains no H2S or less than one percent H2S when produced

KEYERA

INTRODUCTION

Strategically

Keyera

located in
western Canada

Connected to

key North American
markets

THREE INTEGRATED BUSINESS LINES
FACILITIES
NATURAL GAS GATHERING AND PROCESSING
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Natural gas gathering and processing is the core of Keyera’s



One of the largest independent sour gas processors in Canada

business. Our gas processing plants and their associated



17 natural gas processing plants

infrastructure have the ability to process both sweet and sour



1.65 billion cubic feet per day of gross processing capacity

natural gas and remove NGL mix from the raw gas stream. We



Over 90% of capacity able to process sour gas and extract NGLs

provide an essential service to natural gas producers and are a



2,500 kilometres of gathering pipelines

key link in the natural gas value chain.



Fee-for-service revenue with no exposure to commodity price risk

page 15

NATURAL GAS LIQUIDS PROCESSING, TRANSPORTATION AND STORAGE

Keyera’s natural gas liquids (NGL) infrastructure creates value by



4 NGL processing facilities

processing, transporting and storing NGLs recovered from



65,000 barrels per day of net processing capacity

the raw gas stream. Our NGL facilities separate the NGL mix into



6 million barrels of net storage capacity

specification products like propane, butane and condensate.



3 rail car and 10 truck loading terminals

We also store and transport products to end-use customers.



Located in the major western Canadian NGL hub



Fee-for-service revenue with no exposure to commodity price risk

NATURAL GAS LIQUIDS MARKETING
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NATURAL GAS LIQUIDS MARKETING

Keyera’s NGL marketing business is tightly integrated with



Purchase supply from approximately 200 producers

our natural gas processing facilities and NGL infrastructure,



Sell to more than 100 customers across North America

offering a competitive advantage in the marketing of propane,



Manage fleet of 600 railcars to access niche markets

butane and condensate to customers across North America.



Low-risk strategy tied to asset ownership

INTRODUCTION
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INVESTMENT HIGHLIGHTS

Stability with growth potential
Keyera is well positioned to benefit from strong North American

natural gas fundamentals over the next several decades.


Stable cash flows driven by fee-for-service revenues
from natural gas gathering and processing



Low risk profile with SR-3 stability rating from
Standard & Poor’s



Long-life assets with low maintenance capital
requirements



Solid footprint in western Canada, with facilities situated
to capitalize on increased industry drilling activity



Three tightly integrated business lines capture revenues
all along the natural gas value chain



Experienced management and highly skilled
operating personnel

STRACHAN GAS PLANT

INVESTMENT HIGHLIGHTS
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

2004 was a year of

The trustees and directors are

tremendous
accomplishment

committed to the principles of

good corporate
governance.

for keyera.

In 2004, Keyera achieved several key objectives, increasing distributions
and positioning the business for continued growth. This success has
been driven by a commitment to add value and a passion for the business.
The Fund now owns 100% of Keyera Energy Partnership (formerly

We believe that, beyond regulatory and legal compliance, these

KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership) with the purchase of KeySpan

values directly contribute to our financial success, whether it be

Corporation’s remaining interest in December. This represents a

plant reliability or community satisfaction.

milestone for the Fund, having increased our ownership from

The Trustees and Directors are committed to acting in the

39% at the time of our initial public offering, to now own all

best interests of our unitholders. In fulfilling our stewardship

of the operating business. This is exciting for unitholders as it

responsibilities, we have embraced the principles of independence,

comes at a time when prospects for the business have never

integrity and Board effectiveness. We provide guidance and

been better.

perspectives to management that will ensure good business

KeySpan Corporation has been a strong supporter of our

practices, prudent corporate responsibility and strong governance.

business and it is with mixed feelings that we see them depart

As we celebrate Alberta’s centennial in 2005, I see in the people

as an owner. We are fortunate that KeySpan Corporation’s

of Keyera the same entrepreneurial spirit and energy that has

representatives, Bob Catell and Neil Nichols, have agreed to

made Alberta great. During this year of significant growth and

remain on our Board in an independent capacity, allowing us to

change, I would like to thank my fellow Trustees and Directors, as

continue to benefit from their knowledge, experience and

well as the management and employees of Keyera, for rising to

strategic insight.

the challenge, and express my appreciation for a job well done.

Keyera’s business activities are guided by a set of corporate values

Looking ahead, Keyera is well positioned to benefit from

based upon integrity and respect. These values underpin our

strong natural gas fundamentals in North America over the next

strategic decisions as well as day-to-day operations. We conduct

several decades. I am confident that Keyera has the vision, the

our business in a professional manner, treat our stakeholders with

opportunities and the resources to achieve continued success.

respect and work in a spirit of cooperation and consultation.

As a Trustee and Director, as well as a unitholder, I am proud

We operate our facilities in a manner that protects the health

to serve you.

and safety of our employees, contractors and the public.

ON BEHALF OF THE TRUSTEES AND DIRECTORS,
E. PETER LOUGHEED
Chairman
March 1, 2005

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
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ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Monthly cash distributions up 13.4%

to 10.3¢ per unit
The acquisition of EnerPro

We acquired the remaining

midstream company solidified
our position as the premier
midstream company in canada.

(Seated) JAMIE URQUHART Vice President, Foothills Region



partnership interest to own 100%
of underlying midstream business.

DAVID SMITH Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary



MARZIO ISOTTI Vice President, West Central Region

(Standing) BRADLEY LOCK Vice President, Engineering and Operational Services



KEN MERRITT Vice President, Commercial Infrastructure and Marketing

JIM BERTRAM President and Chief Executive Officer



DAVID SENTES Vice President, Comptroller

ACCOMPLISHMENTS
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PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE

Our success is driven by our
employees who share a common
vision and demonstrate a passion
for value creation.

We have a six year history of stable
and growing cash flows
driven by our fee-for-service model
and strategically located assets.

2004 was truly an exceptional year, with success that exceeded our
expectations. We accomplished several key objectives, delivered solid
growth and provided strong returns to our unitholders.
Throughout the year we increased our ownership in Keyera

BUSINESS STRATEGY REMAINS CONSISTENT

Energy Partnership (formerly KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership),

While our name has changed, our business strategy has not.

and now own 100% of the business. We implemented a number

We remain focused on creating value for unitholders. Our

of internal projects that capitalized on our core facilities and

management and operations teams are experienced, share

contributed immediately to our cash flows. We completed a

common core values and have a clear and consistent vision that

number of acquisitions that strengthened our competitive

guides our day to day activities and decisions.

advantage. And we increased our market capitalization and
trading liquidity, benefiting all unitholders. The business

Our vision focuses on a three-phased approach:

environment continues to be strong, and I am very optimistic



about the opportunities available to us in the future.

Aggressively protecting our geographic franchise areas to
ensure that natural gas produced in our capture area is
processed at a Keyera plant. By providing superior customer

ACQUIRED 100% OF THE BUSINESS

service and extending the reach of our gathering pipelines,

At the beginning of the year, the Fund held a 39.1% indirect

we will increase plant utilization and encourage competitor

interest in KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership with KeySpan

plant consolidations.

Corporation of Brooklyn, New York, holding the remainder. In



April, we purchased a 35.9% interest in the Partnership from

Targeting optimization and expansion opportunities in and
around our facilities to add revenues, increase the profitability

KeySpan Corporation, raising our ownership interest to 75%.

of our existing business and strengthen our competitive

With the contribution of the Fund’s EnerPro assets into the

advantage.

Partnership in July, our interest increased to 82.6%. In December,


we acquired KeySpan Corporation’s remaining 17.4% interest.

Pursuing opportunities to grow our business and increase
returns to unitholders. We will focus on selective acquisitions

In February of this year we changed our name to Keyera. The

where there are competitive advantages through our operational

change reflects a new independence, a long-term commitment

expertise, barriers to entry or synergy with existing operations.

and a fresh energy to capture the potential of this exciting new
era in strong North American supply and demand fundamentals.

Our business has been developed based upon a low risk model. The

Our new name emphasizes the essential nature of our

majority of our cash flow is derived from gathering and processing

midstream business and its strategic location in western

fees. This stable fee-for-service revenue is not exposed to volatility

Canada, providing valuable products and services to customers

in commodity prices.

from the wellhead through to the end-user.

PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE
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The EnerPro and Caribou acquisitions
are in keeping with our vision of
steady value growth built
around dominant processing facilities.

Recent gas discoveries support
our view that we are well
positioned to benefit from
industry activity for many years to come.

KEY ATTRIBUTES CREATE COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE

EnerPro Acquisition

The size and scope of our operations, together with our focused

With assets located in key growth areas and the same three

approach, have established Keyera as the preeminent independent

business lines, the EnerPro acquisition fit our strategy perfectly.

midstream business in western Canada. A number of key

Like Keyera, which was formed with the legacy assets of Gulf

attributes differentiate Keyera from others in the industry:

Canada, EnerPro’s assets are the legacy assets of Chevron

 LARGE, WELL POSITIONED FACILITIES –

Canada, another well-established exploration and production

Our natural gas

company, with deep roots in western Canada. Gulf and Chevron

processing facilities and associated infrastructure are located

shared a similar vision and over the years became partners in

in the west-central and foothills regions of the western

many producing fields and associated facilities. That close

Canadian sedimentary basin. The lands around our assets are

association is paying off for us today.

relatively under-explored and the multi-zone geology has

The integration of EnerPro’s people and assets has progressed

significant gas potential.
 FLEXIBLE PROCESSING CAPABILITY – Our

smoothly and, given our common ownership in five of the eight

plants are equipped

facilities, there have been no surprises. We have already realized

to process large quantities of both sweet and sour gas, and are

much of the synergy we had expected and have identified several

able to extract NGLs from the raw gas stream.
 MULTI-PURPOSE NGL FACILITIES –

new business opportunities.

Our NGL infrastructure

Assuming operatorship of the Fort Saskatchewan NGL processing

includes processing plants, transportation terminals and

and storage facility solidifies the integration of our business lines

storage facilities. We can separate NGL mix into propane,

and enables us to manage the facilities to greater efficiencies.

butane and condensate, transport these products via

The acquisition dramatically increases our processing and

pipelines, load them at rail and truck terminals for

storage capacity in a key North American NGL hub at a time

transportation to end-use customers, or store them in

when there is very strong demand for these services. This

underground salt caverns for future sale.
 INTEGRATED BUSINESS LINES –

demand is expected to remain strong as drilling activity moves
west into the liquids-rich part of the basin.

Our three business lines are

tightly integrated, providing a competitive advantage and

Caribou Acquisition

allowing us to generate incremental cash flow all along the

The acquisition of the Caribou gas plant in late June provided an

midstream value chain.

opportunity to enter an exciting new area in northeast British
Columbia. Located 170 kilometres northwest of Fort St. John,

ACQUISITIONS FUEL FUTURE GROWTH

Caribou is situated in an area that is relatively under-developed

Of our many achievements this past year, I am most pleased with

and has significant undrilled geological potential. We are seeing

the quality of our acquisitions. The EnerPro and Caribou

increasing land sale and drilling activity in the areas surrounding

acquisitions are in keeping with our vision of steady value

the plant. In early December, Anadarko Canada completed a

growth built around dominant energy processing facilities.

pipeline crossing of the Buckinghorse River north of the plant,
opening an exciting new capture area.

PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE
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POSITIVE INDUSTRY FUNDAMENTALS

provides a model for similar projects at other Keyera facilities.

Increasingly, industry experts are suggesting that we have

New business opportunities such as the CO2 liquification facility

entered a new era in North American natural gas fundamentals.

built at the Rimbey gas plant and the NGL truck terminals at

North American natural gas supply and demand are in

various plants are examples of how we can use our existing

equilibrium and most believe there will not be any change in

facilities to create additional value.

this fine balance in the near term. North American demand is

The lands surrounding our plants in the Foothills Region are

forecast to increase, creating the need for additional gas supply

highly prospective for natural gas. We are monitoring industry

to keep pace. New sources of natural gas, particularly from

activity with a view to constructing additional gathering pipelines

offshore deliveries of liquified natural gas or new supplies from

as new production is developed.

the north, still face major hurdles and it will be many years

Increasing plant throughput is our most profitable growth prospect,

before they are available in meaningful quantities. As a result of

as the majority of our facilities have unutilized capacity and we

these factors, we anticipate a continuing era of higher natural

are able to accommodate increased volumes with minimal capital

gas prices that will foster an environment where producers have

investment. A key focus of our business development activities is

strong incentives to develop additional natural gas production.

on customer service to enable producers to connect their gas

With significant natural gas reserves remaining to be discovered,

quickly, thereby increasing plant utilization and cash flow.

we believe that the western Canadian sedimentary basin will

We continue to pursue opportunities to increase our ownership

continue to be a key source of natural gas supply for some time.

interests in existing facilities, reducing administrative effort

This basin is the second largest in North America and currently

and providing more control of business development activities.

supplies about 25% of North American demand. The west side

In 2004, we acquired additional ownership interest in the

of the basin, where our facilities are situated, is attractive to

Wabasca oil pipeline and the Rimbey Pipe Line Co. Ltd.

producers as there are many gas-prone zones and the area is
relatively under-explored.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In 2004, we saw increased drilling activity in the capture areas

In closing, I’d like to acknowledge the many people who have

surrounding our plants, a continuation of the trend that began in

contributed to our success. To KeySpan Corporation, thank you

2003. The deeper natural gas discoveries made by a number of

for enabling us to pursue our vision for the business. To our

producers in 2004 demonstrate the potential that exists on the

unitholders, thank you for your support through our various

western side of the basin. As well, a number of medium depth

financings over the past year and for your confidence in

regional plays and shallow zone development programs around

management and our strategic direction. To our customers, thank

our plants support our view that we are well positioned to

you for your continued business. I hope, through continued hard

benefit from industry activity for many years to come.

work and great service, we can continue to earn your trust and
work collaboratively together. To our Trustees and Directors, thank

ABUNDANCE OF INTERNAL GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES

you for your support and guidance during this very busy year.

The size and the breadth of our operations create numerous

And finally, to our employees: your commitment to meeting our

internal opportunities to capture incremental value and

objectives and willingness to do that little bit extra have been

generate additional cash flows. These types of projects are often

instrumental in the success we have enjoyed this year and will

low cost to develop and can be commissioned quickly.

enjoy in the future. Thank you for helping to make Keyera the

The success of our Strachan waste heat recovery project, where

‘can do’ organization that it is!

we increased cash flow by reducing plant fuel gas consumption,

JIM V. BERTRAM
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 1, 2005

PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE

7

2004 ANNUAL REPORT

KEYERA

KEYERA’S VALUE CHAIN
From wellhead to customer, Keyera provides essential

midstream services to natural gas producers.
FACILITIES Natural Gas Gathering and Processing
GATHERING AND COMPRESSION

NATURAL GAS PROCESSING

Our business begins with the collection of

The raw gas stream that arrives at the processing plant contains many

customers’ raw gas in our network of gathering

components. Some of these are commercially valuable such as sales gas,

pipelines for delivery to Keyera’s processing

natural gas liquids (NGLs) and sulphur. Others are impurities that must be

plants. In some cases, raw gas requires

removed and disposed of, such as water, hydrogen sulphide (H2S) and carbon

compression to ensure that it enters the

dioxide (CO2). In this stage, through the application of physical and chemical

gathering systems or gas plants at sufficient

processes to the raw gas stream, the commercially valuable products are

pressure. Keyera charges customers a fee for

separated from the impurities. Keyera charges customers a fee for providing

the use of our pipelines and compressors.

these plant services.

RAW GAS

NGL MIX

ACID GAS INJECTION

SULPHUR

SALES GAS

The acid gas (H2S and CO2) that is recovered from the raw gas

Sulphur is a by-product of natural gas

Sales gas is delivered via

stream can be injected into a suitable underground reservoir.

processing. It is used extensively in

transportation pipelines for

This is called acid gas injection. Through the use of this

the manufacture of fertilizers, plastics

delivery to end-use markets

process, greenhouse gas emissions are reduced.

and pharmaceuticals throughout

throughout North America.

the world.

KEYERA’S VALUE CHAIN
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FACILITIES NGL Processing, Transportation and Storage

MARKETING

NGL PROCESSING

NGL TRANSPORTATION
AND STORAGE

NGL MARKETING

The NGL mix that is separated from the

Propane, butane and condensate are

Our marketing professionals purchase

raw gas stream during the gas processing

delivered to end-use markets by pipeline

NGLs from approximately 200 natural

stage must be further separated into

or on trucks or railcars from loading

gas producers and sell to more than 100

products such as propane, butane and

terminals located adjacent to our

customers. We manage a fleet of 600

condensate before being sold to end-

processing and storage facilities. Both

railcars, which provides access to retail

use customers. Keyera provides these

the NGL mix and sales products are

and industrial customers across North

services at its NGL processing facilities

often stored in underground salt

America. Ownership and operation of

and charges customers a fee for providing

caverns for future processing or sale.

NGL infrastructure gives us a competitive

this service.

advantage.

PROPANE

BUTANE

CONDENSATE

Propane is sold primarily as a

Butane is primarily used for

Condensate is often used

heating fuel in areas where natural

crude oil blending, in refineries

as a diluent or blending

gas is not available. It is also

for gasoline blending or

agent for heavier grades of

consumed in barbeques, used as an

used as a feedstock for

crude oil, to enable the oil

automobile fuel or as a feedstock

the petrochemical industry.

to flow freely in pipelines.

for the petrochemical industry.

KEYERA’S VALUE CHAIN
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KEYERA’S OPERATIONS

Keyera’s facilities are well

positioned to

exploit the increasing drilling activity on the west
side of the western Canadian sedimentary basin.

CARIBOU
CHINCHAGA

NORTH STAR

Fort St. John

WORSLEY

BILAWCHUCK

BRITISH COLUMBIA

A L B E RTA

S A S K AT C H E WA N

PADDLE RIVER
BIGORAY

Edmonton
TOMAHAWK

WEST PEMBINA
BRAZEAU NORTH
BRAZEAU RIVER

EDMONTON TERMINAL

STRACHAN

GREENSTREET

RIMBEY

Lloydminster

GILBY

NORDEGG RIVER

Natural gas
processing facilities

DOW FORT SASKATCHEWAN
KEYERA FORT SASKATCHEWAN

MEDICINE RIVER

NGL processing facilities
Pipelines

Calgary

KEYERA

NATURAL GAS GATHERING AND PROCESSING

Natural gas gathering and processing

is the largest of our business lines
and the core of our business.

(Top, left to right) GILBY GAS PLANT



CARIBOU GAS PLANT



NATURAL GAS ENGINE FOR INLET GAS COMPRESSOR, RIMBEY GAS PLANT

(Bottom) BRAZEAU RIVER GAS PLANT

NATURAL GAS GATHERING AND PROCESSING
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NATURAL GAS GATHERING AND PROCESSING

We operate 16 of 17
natural gas processing
facilities with an average plant

Our fee-for-service
revenue model delivers

stable cash flow.

ownership of 74%.

Our 17 processing plants have the capacity to process 1.65 billion cubic
feet per day of natural gas and most are equipped to process natural gas
that contains hydrogen sulphide.

Over 90% of our capacity can extract valuable natural gas liquids

gas to enter our plants. Ownership of the products remains with

from the raw gas stream. Our work force is well trained and has a

the producer during this gathering and processing phase and the

great deal of experience in gas processing. The high cost of new

specification products such as sales gas, propane, butane and

facility construction and stringent government regulations are

condensate are returned to them at the outlet of the plant.

significant barriers for new entrants.
LOW RISK STRATEGY

The capture areas surrounding many of our facilities are underdeveloped with significant future potential. Drilling activity in

Revenues generated in the gathering and processing business

these areas is increasing and we expect this trend to continue

are based on a fee-for-service model, where customers are charged

over the next decade. With current plant utilization averaging

a fee in exchange for services we provide relating to the gathering,

50%, and an extensive gathering system to collect new gas, we

compression and processing of raw gas. These fees are not

are well positioned to accommodate increased volumes with

linked to the price of natural gas, nor to the differential between

minimal capital expenditures.

natural gas and natural gas liquids prices, and are not exposed to
volatility from changes in commodity prices. These revenue
characteristics result in greater stability and predictability of

AN ESSENTIAL SERVICE

cash flows.

Most natural gas produced from the well bore cannot be sold in
its raw state. In addition to methane, or sales gas, the raw gas

The majority of our processing fees are based on a cost-of-

stream contains a number of compounds including water,

service model, where the fee is comprised of a capital component

hydrogen sulphide and carbon dioxide that must be removed

and an operating component. With this type of fee structure all

prior to selling the gas. Other products, like natural gas liquids

of the operating costs are passed through to customers on a pro

(NGLs), must be separated from the gas stream before they can

rata basis based on total throughput of the facility. This ensures

be sold. As a result, the services we provide at our gas processing

that all of our operating costs are fully recovered, reducing cash

plants are essential to most producers.

flow volatility should plant throughputs decline. As throughput
increases, Keyera and our customers both benefit: customers

Producers’ gas is delivered to our plants for processing through

pay lower per unit operating costs and the incremental revenue

an extensive network of gathering pipelines. Often, we need to

contributes directly to Keyera’s cash flow.

increase the gas pressure using compressors to enable the raw

NATURAL GAS GATHERING AND PROCESSING
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94% of our capacity can process
sour natural gas; over 90%

Our gross processing capacity
is 1.65 billion cubic feet
per day of natural gas.

can extract natural gas liquids.



GROWTH PROJECTS

Commissioned a CO2 liquification facility at our Rimbey gas

We completed a number of projects in 2004 that enhanced our

plant, generating incremental cash flow from a waste product

gathering and processing business.

while reducing greenhouse gas emissions. The facility can
process up to 285 tonnes per day of liquid CO2, which is sold



Constructed the Brazeau Northeast Gas Gathering System, an

into growing energy and industrial markets in Alberta.

84 kilometre pipeline to deliver sour gas from the Pembina


area to the Brazeau River gas plant for processing. The area

Constructed a waste heat recovery unit at the Strachan gas

serviced by this new pipeline is experiencing significant

plant, reducing fuel gas consumption and increasing cash

exploration and development activity.

flow. This project combines good business practice and
environmental conservation and will be a model for similar



Doubled the sulphur handling capacity at the Bigoray gas

projects at our other facilities.

plant to 65 tonnes per day, increasing sour gas processing



capacity to meet growing demand in the Pembina area.

ENERPRO ACQUISITION STRENGTHENS

Expanded the Easyford oil battery, allowing additional oil

COMPETITIVE POSITION

and associated solution gas to be produced. The additional

The acquisition of EnerPro Midstream Company in 2004

gas volumes will be delivered to the Bigoray gas plant and, via

strengthened our competitive position. In addition to NGL

the Brazeau Northeast Gas Gathering System, to our Brazeau

processing, transportation and storage and an NGL marketing

River gas plant for processing.

business, we increased our ownership positions in the Rimbey

NATURAL GAS PROCESSING FACILITIES
Ownership
Interest
(%)

License
Capacity
(mmcf/d)

Average
Daily
Throughput
(mmcf/d)

Utilization
Rate
(%)

61

275

180

65

Rimbey

Brazeau River

52

218

95

44

Gilby

78

71

36

51

Nordegg River

78

75

65

87

Medicine River

24

64

37

58

Chinchaga

100

148

48

32

Bigoray

89

85

33

40

Caribou

100

40

19

48

Brazeau North

65

49

10

22

Worsley

FOOTHILLS REGION
Strachan

WEST CENTRAL REGION

Ownership
Interest
(%)

License
Capacity
(mmcf/d)

Average
Daily
Throughput
(mmcf/d)

Utilization
Rate
(%)

84

422

257

52

100

20

3

15

West Pembina

74

43

14

30

North Star

87

6

1

16

Tomahawk

67

16

1

6

Bilawchuk

46

11

0

0

Paddle River

87

81

18

22

793

411

52

Greenstreet

100

25

7

28

Total Foothills

Total West Central
Total (Foothills and West Central)

NATURAL GAS GATHERING AND PROCESSING
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856

413

48

1,649

824

50

KEYERA

and Bigoray gas plants and acquired interests in three other

which 72% were targeting natural gas. These trends were also

plants in highly prospective areas. The Brazeau North and West

evident in the capture areas surrounding our gas plants.

Pembina plants are located in our existing core area of operations.

In the Pembina area, a number of producers are actively pursuing

Chinchaga is located in northwestern Alberta and has attractive

a Nisku bank edge play that has developed over the last two years

characteristics including promising geology and limited

and continues to attract significant land sale and drilling activity.

competition. This overlap of facilities allowed us to integrate the
EnerPro assets and people easily and capture immediate value

The gas being discovered has high levels of hydrogen sulphide,

from the acquisition.

and requires specialized processing. The majority of the plants in
the Pembina area do not have the processing capability to

CARIBOU ACQUISITION ESTABLISHES NEW FOOTHOLD

handle the gas associated with these wells. Our Bigoray, West

With the purchase of the Caribou gas plant and associated

Pembina and Brazeau River gas plants are located adjacent to

facilities in 2004, we established a presence in northeast British

this development and are equipped to process this gas. As a

Columbia, an area with exciting geology that is relatively under-

result, we are well positioned to benefit from activity in the area.

explored. Plant throughput is increasing and land and drilling

To expand the processing options in the area, we constructed

activity is encouraging. In December, Anadarko Canada

the Brazeau Northeast Gas Gathering System, connecting our

completed a river crossing project designed to deliver natural

Bigoray gas plant to our Brazeau River gas plant. This pipeline

gas across the Buckinghorse River to the plant. Using cutting-

allows increasing amounts of sour gas produced in the area to be

edge technology, wells were drilled from each side of the river

delivered to our Brazeau River plant where substantial sour gas

that met in the middle, with the well bores creating an

processing capacity is available.

underground pipeline under the rugged river gorge. This project

In the Rimbey area, a number of producers, the largest being

resulted in delivery to the Caribou plant of 9 million cubic feet

EnCana, have been actively drilling into medium depth gas-

per day of natural gas that had been shut-in for up to 18 months.

prone zones in areas surrounding our Rimbey and Gilby gas

The success of this project has allowed Anadarko to pursue an

plants, increasing raw gas throughput. These regional play types

active drilling program for 2005 in the newly opened area on the

will continue to be aggressively drilled as activity moves further

north side of the river.

west in the basin.

POSITIONED TO BENEFIT FROM

The area of operations adjacent to our Strachan, Nordegg River

HIGH LEVELS OF INDUSTRY ACTIVITY

and Brazeau River gas plants have seen a number of sizeable

For the second consecutive year, the natural gas industry in

discoveries in the past year. The largest of these was Shell Canada’s

western Canada set new all-time records for number of wells

discovery of the Tay field. Tested at flow rates of 30 million cubic

drilled, averaged depth drilled and prices paid at land sales. In

feet per day of sour gas, the discovery supports our belief that

2004, industry participants drilled approximately 23,000 wells, of

significant natural gas remains to be discovered in the area.

The EnerPro acquisition fit our
strategy perfectly and positions us to
create value from additional
internal growth opportunities.

NATURAL GAS GATHERING AND PROCESSING

For the second consecutive year,
the natural gas industry in western
Canada set new all-time
drilling records.
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NGL PROCESSING, TRANSPORTATION AND STORAGE

The key to our NGL infrastructure network is the
Keyera Fort Saskatchewan NGL processing and storage
complex, located in Fort Saskatchewan, Alberta.
(Top, left to right) NGL MIX TRUCK OFF-LOADING RACK, FORT SASKATCHEWAN

FORT SASKATCHEWAN CONTROL ROOM



(Bottom) FORT SASKATCHEWAN NGL PROCESSING AND STORAGE FACILITY

NGL PROCESSING, TRANSPORTATION AND STORAGE



EDMONTON RAIL, TRUCK AND PIPELINE TERMINAL
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NGL PROCESSING, TRANSPORTATION AND STORAGE

Our net ngl processing capacity
is 65,000 barrels per day.

We have 6 million barrels of
net underground storage capacity.

Our ngl processing, transportation and storage business links our
gas gathering and processing facilities with our marketing business
and is a significant contributor to our profitability.

Keyera’s second business line consists of NGL processing,

NGLs to and from the Keyera Fort Saskatchewan facility; and our

transportation and storage services at our four strategically

Wabasca oil pipeline system located in northwest Alberta. Also

located NGL facilities. Most natural gas processing plants in

located at the Edmonton terminal are our NGL rail and truck

Alberta are only able to separate NGL mix from the raw gas

loading terminals where product is shipped via truck to local

stream and must deliver this mix to NGL processing facilities to

markets, and via railcar to markets across North America.

further separate it into specification products such as propane,
NGL PROCESSING AND TRANSPORTATION

butane and condensate. In addition to providing 65,000 barrels
per day of net NGL processing capability, our NGL infrastructure

Ownership
Interest
(%)

includes 6 million barrels (net) of underground storage capacity,
loading and unloading terminals for railcars and trucks and

License Average Daily
Capacity
Throughput
(bbls/d)
(bbls/d)

Utilization
Rate
(%)

NGL PROCESSING

pipelines to move products between locations.
INTEGRATED INFRASTRUCTURE LOCATED IN KEY AREAS
The integration of our business lines enhances our ability to
create incremental value throughout the midstream natural

Rimbey Gas Plant

84

Gilby Gas Plant

78

Fort Saskatchewan (Keyera)

77

Fort Saskatchewan (Dow)

18

31,500

16,448

52%

3,200

1,621

51%

30,200

29,112

96%

30,000

23,921

80%

10

69,200

59,300

86%

Fort Saskatchewan (Keyera)

77

210,000

130,706

62%

Rimbey Pipeline

89

45,000

42,667

95%

Judy Creek Pipeline

19

31,950

10,036

31%

Fort Saskatchewan

gas value chain and is a fundamental component of our strategy.

(Dow De-ethanizer)

The key to our infrastructure network is the Keyera Fort

NGL PIPELINES

Saskatchewan NGL processing and storage complex, located in
Fort Saskatchewan, Alberta. Fort Saskatchewan is one of only
four NGL marketing hubs in North America and the major NGL
processing and distribution centre in western Canada. From a
supply perspective, most of the NGL pipelines in Alberta deliver

NGL STORAGE FACILITIES

NGL mix into the Fort Saskatchewan hub for processing.
Specification products are then delivered to market by railcar,
truck or via the two major NGL export pipelines to eastern

Ownership
Interest
(%)

Gross
Capacity
(bbls)

Net
Capacity
(bbls)

Canada or the United States.

Fort Saskatchewan (Keyera)

77

7,415,000

5,709,550

In addition to our Fort Saskatchewan facilities, we operate a

Fort Saskatchewan (Dow)

18

2,000,000

360,000

major transportation terminal in Edmonton. From Edmonton
we operate the Rimbey pipeline, which delivers NGL products
from our Rimbey gas plant into the Edmonton/Fort Saskatchewan
hub; the Fort Saskatchewan pipeline system, which delivers

NGL PROCESSING, TRANSPORTATION AND STORAGE
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Our Rimbey and Gilby gas processing plants are also equipped

The acquisition also strengthened our position as a key player in

to process NGL mix into propane, butane and condensate. Both

the important Edmonton/Fort Saskatchewan NGL hub. Keyera

plants have NGL rail loading facilities that allow the specification

and EnerPro had common interests in the Fort Saskatchewan

products to be delivered directly to end-use markets. These on-

NGL processing and storage complex, the Edmonton terminal,

site facilities provide additional flexibility for our NGL marketing

the Rimbey pipeline and the Rimbey gas plant. Increased

department with respect to choice of processing location,

ownership allowed us to assume operatorship of the Fort

increased delivery options and cost savings. This enables us to

Saskatchewan processing and storage complex. We now control

optimize our operations, create synergies and increase plant

the business decisions at these facilities, enhancing plant

utilization, resulting in incremental value creation across all of

operations, project timing and business development activity.

our business lines.

The location and capability of our NGL infrastructure create a
number of opportunities. With the increase in heavy oil

FEE STRUCTURE REDUCES RISK

production in Alberta, the demand for condensate for use as a

Revenues for NGL processing, transportation and storage are

diluent, to enable heavier crude oils to flow in pipelines, has

based on a fee-for-service model. Fees do not fluctuate with

increased substantially. Our terminals, pipelines and storage

commodity prices and are not exposed to differentials between

facilities create opportunities to expand our role in the

natural gas and NGL prices. These characteristics result in

condensate delivery and value chain in Alberta. In addition,

greater stability and predictability of cash flows.

our infrastructure may provide new growth opportunities
through the provision of crude oil midstream services.

GROWTH POTENTIAL ENHANCED BY ACQUISITIONS

NGL INFRASTRUCTURE

The acquisition of EnerPro Midstream Company in 2004 dramatically
increased the size of our NGL processing, transportation and
storage business. The acquisition increased our processing

R18W4
T58

capacity by 95% to almost 65,000 bbls/d in a capture area that
DOW FORT SASKATCHEWAN
KEYERA FORT SASKATCHEWAN

encompasses most of the western Canadian sedimentary basin.
The increased capacity comes at a time when there is a growing
demand in Alberta for more NGL processing and storage

Edmonton

capacity, as increased drilling on the western side of the basin is
Natural gas
processing facilities
NGL processing
facilities

resulting in the production of increasing amounts of liquids-rich
natural gas.

FORT
SASKATCHEWAN
PIPELINE
EDMONTON
TERMINAL

Pipelines

RIMBEY PIPELINE

RIMBEY

GILBY
T38
R18W4

NGL PROCESSING, TRANSPORTATION AND STORAGE
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NATURAL GAS LIQUIDS MARKETING

Integration with our natural gas processing and NGL infrastructure
businesses allows our NGL marketing business to aggregate supply,

enjoy economies of scale and access higher-margin niche markets.
(Top, left to right) RAIL CAR LOADING RACK, RIMBEY GAS PLANT

BUTANE STORAGE SPHERES, EDMONTON TERMINAL



TRUCK LOADING PROPANE, EDMONTON TERMINAL

(Bottom) RIMBEY GAS PLANT RAIL LOADING TRACK

NATURAL GAS LIQUIDS MARKETING
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NATURAL GAS LIQUIDS MARKETING

Our low-risk marketing
strategy is tied to asset
ownership.

We operate one of the

largest ngl marketing
businesses in Canada.

To complement our asset base,we have a team of marketing professionals
offering NGL products and services to customers across North
America. Our NGL marketing business is focused on the marketing of
by-products recovered from the processing of raw natural gas.
Our NGL marketing begins with the purchase of NGL products,

LOW RISK STRATEGY PROVIDES STABLE CASH FLOWS

generally in unprocessed form. We buy from approximately 200

Our low-risk marketing strategy is tied to asset ownership. Cash

producers, acquiring our supply as it is extracted from the raw

flows from NGL marketing are derived from the margin between

gas stream. Our marketing staff arranges for delivery of the NGL

the revenue received on the sale of NGL products to end-users

mix to one of our NGL processing facilities, using our loading

and the cost of buying the NGLs from producers, including the

terminals or via pipeline. After processing into specification

expenses associated with processing, transportation or storage.

products like propane, butane and condensate, the products are

A large portion of our supply is sold in the same month as it is

then delivered to end-use customers via our rail and truck

purchased, thereby reducing exposure to price fluctuations.

loading terminals. To accommodate seasonality, product can

For product that must be stored in inventory to meet the winter

also be placed in our underground storage caverns at Fort

season demand, we can fix the future sale price through forward

Saskatchewan, Alberta, for later resale.

sales and product swaps, mitigating much of the risk of price
movement.

INTEGRATION CREATES COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE
Ownership and operation of NGL processing, transportation
and storage facilities give our marketing personnel more control
over the accessibility and timing of deliveries. Integration with
our natural gas processing and NGL infrastructure assets
allows us to aggregate NGL supply, enjoy economies of scale and
access higher-margin niche markets. These characteristics enable
us to provide a broad range of services to our customers while
enhancing our competitive advantage.
With strong marketing performance and the contribution of
EnerPro’s NGL marketing volumes, we achieved record NGL
sales in 2004 of 49,500 barrels per day.

MARKETING PERSONNEL – LAWANA CHUN TURNER, RICK PINEAU, SHARA PIXLEY

NATURAL GAS LIQUIDS MARKETING
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HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT

At Keyera, we are committed to making

health, safety and the environment
an integral part of the way we conduct our business.
(Top, left to right) BIGORAY GAS PLANT



STRACHAN GAS PLANT CONTROL ROOM



RIMBEY GAS PLANT CONTROL ROOM

(Bottom) RIMBEY GAS PLANT

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT
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HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT

ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP IS GOOD BUSINESS

reservoir. This process eliminates emissions and increases plant

As a competitive business, we are always looking to invest in new

efficiency. In 2004, our five acid gas injection facilities eliminated

processes and technology to increase profitability and efficiency.

approximately 60,000 tonnes of greenhouse gas emissions and

And since concern for the environment is integrated into our

reduced sulphur emissions by approximately 2,200 tonnes.

decision-making process, we strive to combine good business

PATHWAYS PROGRAM

decisions with environmental stewardship. This approach
contributes to economic, social and environmental advances

Our facilities are important contributors to the economies of the

that benefit all of our stakeholders.

communities in which they are located. We employ more than
350 men and women in communities throughout Alberta and

Projects like the two described below enable our facilities to

British Columbia and we are committed to building strong

operate more efficiently, while producers realize gains through

community relationships. In 2003, we established a scholarship

cost recovery. The surrounding communities and the general

program for high school students living in communities near

public as a whole benefit from the reduction in emissions.

our natural gas processing facilities in west-central Alberta. The
Pathways Program assists local youth to access careers in the oil

Strachan Waste Heat Recovery Project

and gas industry through post-secondary education. In addition

In 2004, we completed the installation of a waste heat recovery

to financial assistance, we also offer summer apprenticeships

unit at our Strachan gas plant. The unit captures exhaust from a

and permanent employment to successful candidates.

gas turbine and turns it into steam, which in turn is used to
power the operations of the plant. As a result, less gas is used to

PARTNERSHIPS IN HEALTH AND SAFETY PROGRAM

run the processing operations, which translates into more

In 1989, Alberta Human Resources and Employment established

production for producers and less impact on the environment.

the Partnerships in Health and Safety Program to foster a culture
It made business sense to invest in the waste heat recovery unit

where health and safety becomes an integral part of every

because it provided benefits for our customers and for the

workplace. The program is based on the premise that when

environment. In addition to the cost savings, annual carbon

employers and workers voluntarily build effective health and

dioxide emissions from the Strachan plant have been reduced by

safety programs in their own workplaces, the human and

approximately 31,000 tonnes, or a full 11% of the plant’s previous

financial costs of workplace injuries and illnesses will be

annual greenhouse gas emissions.

reduced, and that supporting health and safety programs leads

Acid Gas Injection

to larger reductions in injuries than regulatory compliance alone.

Five of our gas plants (Bigoray, Brazeau River, Caribou, Paddle

Keyera embraces these beliefs and has been a voluntary participant

River and West Pembina) use an innovative technology to

in the Partnerships in Health and Safety Program since its inception.

manage two by-products of sour gas processing: carbon dioxide

A Certificate of Recognition (COR) is given to employers who

and hydrogen sulphide. As part of sour gas processing, these

develop health and safety management programs that meet

by-products must be removed from the raw gas stream.

established standards. Three-year certificates are issued by

Conventionally, the hydrogen sulphide is converted to elemental

Certifying Partners and are co-signed by Alberta Human

sulphur while the carbon dioxide is vented to atmosphere.

Resources and Employment after completion of an extensive
external audit. In 2004, we successfully completed the latest

Using a relatively new process, called acid gas injection, the

audit and our COR has been renewed for another three years.

carbon dioxide and hydrogen sulphide that are removed during
processing are injected into a depleted underground natural gas

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT
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GOVERNANCE

In fulfilling their stewardship responsibilities,
the Trustees and Directors are committed to the principles of

independence, integrity and board effectiveness.

TRUSTEES AND DIRECTORS
(Seated) MICHAEL DAVIES



JIM BERTRAM



PETER LOUGHEED

(Standing) WILLIAM STEDMAN

GOVERNANCE





NANCY LAIRD
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KEYERA

GOVERNANCE

TRUSTEES OF THE FUND

COMMITTEES

The Trustees, along with the Board of Directors of the Managing

To assist the Board in its overall stewardship role, certain

Partner, supervise the activities and manage the affairs of the

responsibilities have been delegated to three permanent

Fund. The current Trustees, Peter Lougheed (Chairman), Nancy

committees. Each committee functions according to written

Laird and William Stedman, are all independent.

terms of reference approved by the Board. The Audit Committee
has regular in camera sessions. Each committee has the authority

THE MANAGING PARTNER

to engage and compensate outside advisers as necessary.

The Managing Partner provides administrative and support

Audit Committee

services to the Fund and the Partnership pursuant to an

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring and

Administration Agreement. The Managing Partner does not

overseeing the quality of financial reporting and systems of

receive any fees for these services but is reimbursed for expenses

internal control and risk management. The committee is

incurred. The Board of Directors of the Managing Partner

responsible for supervision of the external audit process and is

(the Board) is responsible for oversight and supervising the

the ultimate authority to which the Fund’s internal and external

management of the business.

auditors are accountable. The committee consists of three
members, Wesley Twiss (Chair), William Stedman and Michael

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Davies, all of whom are independent.

The Unanimous Shareholder Agreement provides that the Board
will consist of a minimum of five and a maximum of nine

Compensation and Governance Committee

members. Each of the Trustees is automatically a Director and

The Compensation and Governance Committee is responsible

the Trustees may appoint additional Directors subject to the

for the quality and effectiveness of the Fund’s corporate governance

nine member maximum. The Board currently consists of eight

practices and policies including strategic planning, succession

members, including the three Trustees of the Fund. All of the

planning and developing policies on disclosure, confidentiality

Directors, other than Mr. Bertram, are independent.

and trading in securities. The committee also reviews and

The Board has adopted written terms of reference for overall

recommends compensation for the officers, employees and

stewardship of the business, which includes responsibility for

Directors. The committee consists of three members, Nancy

strategic planning, risk management, succession planning,

Laird (Chair), Peter Lougheed and Neil Nichols, all of whom are

communications policy, internal controls and corporate

independent.

governance. The Board’s mandate sets out the expectations and

Health, Safety and Environment Committee

responsibilities of Directors and measures for receiving feedback

The Health, Safety and Environment Committee is responsible

from unitholders. The Board has also adopted a written code of

for ensuring that employees are provided with a safe environment

business conduct and ethics to foster a culture of integrity

in which to perform their duties, and for monitoring and

throughout the organization.

overseeing the policies and procedures for ensuring compliance
The Board has assumed an active role in establishing long-term

with environmental regulatory requirements. The committee

goals and strategic direction and participates with management

consists of three members, William Stedman (Chair), Jim

in annual strategic planning sessions. In 2004, the Board and

Bertram and Neil Nichols, of whom only Mr. Bertram is a related,

management held a two-day strategic planning retreat.

non-independent Director.
Keyera’s approach to governance is described in more detail in
the Fund’s Proxy Statement and Information Circular.

GOVERNANCE
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Standard & Poor’s SR-3
2004 TRADING SUMMARY
Units Outstanding (December 31):
57.4 million

2004 CASH DISTRIBUTIONS DECLARED (Cdn. $/unit)
Record Date

Payment Date

Amount

January 30, 2004

February 16, 2004

$0.0908

February 27, 2004

March 15, 2004

$0.0908

March 31, 2004

April 15, 2004

$0.0908

April 30, 2004

May 17, 2004

$0.0908

May 31, 2004

June 15, 2004

$0.0908

June 30, 2004

July 15, 2004

$0.0980

July 30, 2004

August 16, 2004

$0.0980

August 31, 2004

September 15, 2004

$0.0980

September 30, 2004

October 15, 2004

$0.0980

October 29, 2004

November 15, 2004

$0.0980

November 30, 2004

December 15, 2004

$0.0980

December 31, 2004

January 17, 2005

$0.0980

Total

$1.1400
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Total Units Traded:
35.8 million
Total Value:
$449.6 million
Average Daily Trading Volume:
141,540 shares
Share Prices:
High: $14.60
Low: $10.60
Close (December 31): $14.39

(1)

Trustee of the Fund

(2)

Member of the Audit Committee

(3)

Member of the Compensation and Governance Committee

(4)

Member of the Health, Safety and Environment Committee

(5)

Chairman of the Trustees and Chairman of the Board
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NEW NAME . . . RENEWED COMMITMENT
WWW.KEYERA.COM

The name KEYERA captures the essence of our business.
It recognizes our rich heritage, built on the legacy assets
of Gulf Canada and Chevron Canada, and embraces our
future. With processing facilities located in key producing
areas of the western Canadian sedimentary basin, we
provide key products and services to our customers.
And we are entering a new era as a 100% publicly owned
business, with strong North American natural gas
fundamentals to support continuing growth. In short,
our business can be summed up in a single phrase:

KEY FACILITIES FOR A NEW ERA
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND AND KEYERA ENERGY PARTNERSHIP
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund and KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership)

PROFILE
Keyera operates one of the largest natural gas

midstream businesses in Canada.
Our business consists of natural gas gathering
and processing as well as the processing, transportation,
storage and marketing of natural gas liquids (NGLS).
Our gas processing plants and associated facilities are strategically located in the west central and foothills natural
gas production areas of the western Canadian sedimentary basin. Our NGL infrastructure includes pipelines,
terminals and processing and storage facilities in Edmonton and Fort Saskatchewan, Alberta, a major North
American NGL hub. We market propane, butane and condensate to customers in Canada and the United States.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND AND KEYERA ENERGY PARTNERSHIP
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund and KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership)

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE
The following diagram illustrates the ownership relationship among the parties holding an
interest in Keyera Energy Partnership (formerly KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership) as of
December 31, 2004. Through a series of transactions during 2004, Keyera Facilities Income
Fund (the “Fund”) increased its indirect interest from 39.09% to 100%.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND AND KEYERA ENERGY PARTNERSHIP
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund and KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership)

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT
Management is responsible for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles and include amounts that are based on estimates and informed
judgements. Financial information contained throughout this Financial Report is consistent with these
consolidated financial statements.
Management has overall responsibility for internal controls and has developed and maintains a system of
internal controls that provides reasonable assurance that the financial statements realistically report the
Company’s operating and financial results and that the Company’s assets are safeguarded.
Deloitte & Touche, independent external auditors, appointed by the Board of Directors, have independently
examined the enclosed consolidated financial statements. The Audit Committee, consisting of independent
directors, has reviewed the consolidated financial statements with management and the external auditors and
has reported to the Board of Directors. The Board has approved the consolidated financial statements.

JAMES V. BERTRAM
President and Chief Executive Officer

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT

DAVID G. SMITH
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
Management’s discussion and analysis is a review of the results of operations and the liquidity and capital
resources of Keyera Facilities Income Fund (the “Fund”, formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund). It should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Fund for the year ended
December 31, 2004 and the notes thereto.
The Fund was created on April 3, 2003 and began operations on May 30, 2003 with an initial public offering of
trust units, acquiring a 39.1% indirect interest in the Partnership. Pursuant to transactions completed in
connection with the initial public offering, the Partnership acquired Keyera Energy Facilities Limited (“KEFL”,
formerly KeySpan Energy Facilities Limited) and Keyera Energy Ltd. (“KEL”, formerly KeySpan Energy Canada
Company) on May 30, 2003. On April 1, 2004, the Fund completed a second equity offering, utilizing the net
proceeds to acquire an additional interest of 35.9% in the Partnership, bringing the Fund’s ownership
interest to 75%. On July 2, 2004, the Fund indirectly acquired EnerPro Midstream Company (“EnerPro”) and
contributed the assets of EnerPro to Keyera increasing its interest in the Partnership to 82.6%. On December 2,
2004, the Fund completed a fourth equity offering, utilizing the net proceeds to acquire the remaining
17.4% interest in Keyera, bringing the Fund’s ownership interest in Keyera to 100%.
Effective April 1, 2004, the Fund commenced accounting for Keyera on a consolidated basis. Previously, the
Fund accounted for Keyera on an equity basis. Readers are therefore cautioned that certain information
included in the Fund’s financial statements for prior periods may not be directly comparable to that provided
for the current period.
Distributable Cash Flow as defined in note 13 of the Fund is not a standard measure under Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles and therefore may not be comparable with the calculation of similar measures
for other companies.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
For the year ended December 31, 2004, the Fund reported net earnings of $22.7 million or $0.63 per basic
weighted average unit and $0.42 per diluted weighted average unit. These earnings consisted of $4.6 million
related to the Fund’s 39.1% equity interest in the earnings of the Partnership to March 31, 2004 and the Fund’s
interest in the consolidated earnings of the Partnership from April 1 to December 31, 2004.
Also included in the determination of the Fund’s earnings were $0.6 million of general and administrative
expenses, and $3.6 million of interest expense on the Fund’s convertible debentures. The non-controlling
interest of $5.6 million was primarily related to the interest held by KeySpan Energy Development Co.
(“KEDCO”) in the Partnership for the period the Fund was consolidating the earnings of the Partnership,
April 1, 2004 to December 2, 2004.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
The Fund grew significantly in 2004, increasing its interest in the Partnership from 39.1% to 100%. The
incremental interests in the Partnership were acquired from KEDCO, with the value of the Partnership interest
based upon the market price of the Fund’s units. Interest in the Partnership was also indirectly acquired
through the acquisition of EnerPro and the subsequent contribution of EnerPro’s assets in exchange for
partnership interest. The purchases were financed from the proceeds of equity and convertible debt offerings.
A total of 37,213,083 units were issued in three equity offerings for total net proceeds of $438.5 million.
Principal amount of $100 million of 6.75% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures were issued for net
proceeds of $95.7 million.
The convertible debentures were introduced into the financial structure to expand the availability of capital
and reduce the overall cost of capital for the Fund. During the year, $38.2 million of convertible debentures
were converted into 3,186,910 units, bringing the total units outstanding at December 31, 2004 to 57,414,677.
Convertible debentures outstanding at year-end were $61.8 million. Interest of $3.6 million was paid on the
debentures in 2004.
Subsequent to December 31, 2004, a further $7.3 million of convertible debentures were converted into
608,078 trust units, bringing the total units outstanding at March 8, 2005 to 58,022,755. Convertible debentures
outstanding at March 8, 2005 were $54.5 million.
On a consolidated basis, as at December 31, 2004, the Fund had $215 million of senior secured notes outstanding.
These notes mature between 2008 and 2013 and bear interest at rates ranging from 5.23% to 6.155%.
The Fund does not actively operate a business and its cash flow is dependent upon distributions from the
Partnership. The strong financial performance of the Partnership enabled the Fund to raise distributions to
$0.098 per unit per month beginning on June 30, 2004, an increase of 8%. A further 5% increase, effective
January 31, 2005, was announced in November 8, 2004 bringing the monthly distribution per unit to $0.103.
Because of its dependence upon distributions from the Partnership for its cash flow, future distributions of the
Fund are subject to the same risks and uncertainties that affect the underlying business of the Partnership. The
liquidity of the Partnership is discussed later in management’s discussion and analysis of the liquidity and
capital resources of Keyera Energy Partnership.
During 2004, the Fund paid distributions to unitholders of $38.0 million. The Partnership’s cash flow
from operations before changes in non-cash working capital of $79.8 million was sufficient to fund all the
distributions made to the Fund and other partners. No borrowings were required by the Fund or the
Partnership to support the distributions made to unitholders. For Canadian income tax purposes,
distributions made to Canadian unitholders in 2004 were entirely a return of capital.
Standard and Poor’s has assigned the Fund an SR-3 stability rating, indicating the expectation of a high level of
stability in distributions.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE TRUSTEES OF
KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND:

We have audited the consolidated statements of financial position of Keyera Facilities Income Fund as at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the consolidated statements of earnings and unitholders’ equity and cash
flows for the year ended December 31, 2004, and for the period from inception on April 3, 2003 to December
31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the management of Keyera Energy Management
Ltd. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Keyera Facilities Income Fund as at December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2004 and for the period from inception on April 3, 2003 to
December 31, 2003 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Calgary, Canada
March 4, 2005
Chartered Accountants

AUDITORS’ REPORT
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
2004
$

As at December 31 (All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2003
$
(restated – note 3)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other current assets (note 16)

11,843
154,324
26,142
3,600

–
–
–
1,544

195,909

1,544

862,324
4,735
–
83,789

–
–
155,007
–

1,146,757

156,551

LIABILITIES AND UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Distribution payable (note 14)
Current portion of long-term debt (note 8)
Other current liabilities (note 16)

141,290
5,627
12,000
2,192

–
1,544
–
–

Long-term debt (note 8)
Convertible debentures (note 9)
Asset retirement obligation (note 10)
Future income tax liability (note 11)

161,109
215,000
61,757
24,188
70,055

1,544
–
–
–
–

532,109

1,544

2,000

–

635,165
30,325
(52,842)

158,225
7,587
(10,805)

612,648

155,007

1,146,757

156,551

Property, plant and equipment (notes 4 and 5)
Asset held for sale (note 6)
Long-term investments (note 4)
Intangible assets (note 7)

Non-controlling interest (note 4)
Unitholders’ equity
Unitholders’ capital (note 12)
Accumulated earnings
Accumulated distributions to unitholders (notes 13 and 14)

Commitments and contingencies (note 18)
SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Approved on behalf of the Fund by its administrator, KEYERA Energy Management Ltd. (formerly KeySpan Canada Management Ltd.):

WESLEY R. TWISS
Director

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

JAMES V. BERTRAM
Director
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS AND UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except as otherwise noted)

For the year ended
December 31,
2004
$

From inception on April 3
to December 31,
2003
$
(restated – note 3)

Operating revenues
Marketing sales
Facilities – gathering, processing and pipelines

632,595
112,308

–
–

744,903

–

601,328
56,659

–
–

657,987

–

86,916
13,533
11,303
21,512
8,981
1,236
899
(1,749)
(5,258)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(7,587)

50,457

(7,587)

Earnings before tax and non-controlling interest
Income tax expense (note 11)

36,459
8,164

7,587
–

Earnings before non-controlling interest
Non-controlling interest (note 4)

28,295
5,557

7,587
–

Net earnings
Accumulated earnings, beginning of period

22,738
7,587

7,587
–

Accumulated earnings, end of period (note 3)

30,325

7,587

36,199
40,941

13,357
13,357

0.63
0.55

0.57
0.57

Operating expenses
Marketing cost of goods sold
Facilities – gathering, processing and pipelines

General and administrative
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense (note 6)
Accretion expense (note 10)
Unrealized loss on financial instruments (note 3)
Dilution gain
Equity earnings from investments (note 4)

Weighted average number of units (thousands) (note 12)
– basic
– diluted
Net earnings per unit (note 12)
– basic
– diluted
SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended
December 31,
2004
$

(All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

From inception on April 3
to December 31,
2003
$
(restated – note 3)

Net inflow (outflow) of cash:
Operating activities
Net earnings
Items not affecting cash:
Non-controlling interest
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Accretion expense
Unrealized loss on financial instruments
Dilution gain
Equity earnings from investments
Future income tax expense (note 11)
Asset retirement obligation expenditures (note 10)

22,738

7,587

5,557
21,512
8,981
1,236
899
(1,749)
(5,258)
6,358
(171)

–
–
–
–
–
–
(7,587)
–
–

Changes in non-cash operating working capital

60,103
(12,279)

–
–

47,824

–

(24,659)
(279,826)
(307,732)
(31,454)
19,395
919

–
–
(158,225)
–
–
–

(623,357)

(158,225)

463,354
(24,657)
100,000
97,500
(4,900)
4,631
(37,954)
(10,598)

158,225
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (note 5)
Acquisitions (note 5)
Acquisitions of investments (note 4)
Working capital acquired on acquisitions
Cash and debt acquired on acquisitions (notes 4 and 5)
Dividends on investments

Financing activities
Issuance of trust units (note 12)
Issuance costs on trust units (note 12)
Issuance of convertible debentures (note 9)
Issuance of long-term debt (note 8)
Deferred financing costs (notes 8 and 9)
Distributions received from Partnership
Distributions to unitholders (note 14)
Distributions to others

587,376

158,225

Increase in cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

11,843
–

–
–

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

11,843

–

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEE NOTE 19 FOR CASH INTEREST AND TAXES PAID

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended december 31, 2004
and for the period from inception on april 3 to december 31, 2003
(All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where otherwise noted)

1.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Keyera Facilities Income Fund (the “Fund”, formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund) is an unincorporated
open-ended trust established under the laws of the Province of Alberta pursuant to the Fund Declaration of
Trust dated April 3, 2003. The Fund indirectly owns a 100% interest in Keyera Energy Partnership (“Keyera” or
the “Partnership”, formerly KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership).
The Partnership is involved in the business of gathering and processing, as well as natural gas liquids (“NGL”)
processing, transportation, storage and marketing. Its wholly-owned subsidiaries include Keyera Energy
Facilities Limited (“KEFL”, formerly KeySpan Energy Facilities Limited) and Keyera Energy Ltd. (“KEL”, formerly
KeySpan Energy Canada Company).
The Fund is administered by and the Partnership is managed by Keyera Energy Management Ltd. (“KEML” or
the “Managing Partner”, formerly KeySpan Canada Management Ltd.).
The Fund commenced operations on May 30, 2003, with the initial acquisition of a 39.1% interest in the
Partnership and the Managing Partner. The acquisition of the Fund’s indirect and direct interest in the
Partnership and the Managing Partner respectively, had been accounted for on an equity basis prior to April 1,
2004 (see note 4). On April 1, 2004, the Fund acquired an additional 35.9% interest in the Partnership and the
Managing Partner, giving the Fund a controlling interest of 75% in the Partnership and the Managing Partner.
The controlling interests in the Partnership and the Managing Partner increased to 82.6% on July 2, 2004
through a contribution of assets. On December 2, 2004, the Fund acquired the remaining 17.4% interests in the
Partnership and KEML, giving the Fund a 100% indirect and direct controlling interests in both the Partnership
and the Managing Partner.
The Fund makes monthly cash distributions to unitholders of record on the last business day of each month.
The amount of the distributions per trust unit are equal to the pro rata share of the distribution received
indirectly from the Partnership and, in the event of the termination of the Fund, participating pro rata in the
net assets remaining after satisfaction of all liabilities.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Fund and all controlled entities. Investments in companies in which the Fund does not have direct or joint
control over the strategic, investing, and financing decisions, but does have significant influence, are
accounted for using the equity method.
Joint ventures
Substantially all natural gas and NGL processing activities are conducted jointly with others, and accordingly
these financial statements reflect only the Fund’s indirect proportionate interest in such activities.
Measurement uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These include the recoverability of assets and the amounts recorded
for depreciation, amortization, and asset retirement obligations, which depend on estimates of oil and gas
reserves or the economic lives and future cash flows from related assets. The recognized amounts of such items
are based on management’s best information and judgment.
Revenue recognition
Marketing revenue
Revenue from the sale of natural gas and natural gas liquids is recognized based on volumes delivered to
customers at contractual delivery points and rates. Gains and losses relating to financial instruments that are
used to manage commodity price fluctuations are recognized on the settlement date.
Gathering, processing and pipeline revenue
Gathering, processing and pipeline revenue is recognized through fixed fee arrangements or flow-through
arrangements that are designed to recover operating costs and provide the Partnership a return on its capital.
Amounts collected in excess of the recoverable amounts are recorded as a current liability. Recoverable
amounts in excess of the amounts collected are recorded as a current receivable.
Foreign currency translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates in effect at
the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at rates of exchange in effect at the transaction
date. Exchange gains and losses are recorded in earnings in the period they are incurred.
Stock-based compensation
The Fund has a Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”), which is disclosed in note 15. The LTIP is a stock
appreciation right as defined by the CICA. The difference between the market price of the trust units and the
grant price for the outstanding units multiplied by the number of rights is recognized as compensation
expense, over the vesting period. Fluctuations in the price of the trust units will change the accrued
compensation expense and are recognized when they occur.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

Financial instruments
Price swaps and option agreements are utilized by the Fund through its ownership in the Partnership to mitigate
its exposure to fluctuations in the price of natural gas, natural gas liquids and electricity. Forward currency
exchange contracts and swaps are utilized to mitigate exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. If
hedging accounting criteria are met (described below), gains and losses on these instruments are deferred and
recognized in earnings in the same period as the hedged item. The fair value of financial instruments qualifying
for hedge accounting are not recorded on the consolidated statement of financial position.
To be accounted for as a hedge, a financial instrument must be designated and documented as a hedge and
must be effective at inception and on an on-going basis. The documentation defines the relationships between
the hedging items and the hedged items and documents the objectives and strategies for undertaking various
hedge transactions. The process includes linking financial instruments to specific anticipated transactions.
The Partnership also formally assesses, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, whether
the instrument used is highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows or fair values of the hedged item.
Hedge effectiveness is achieved if the cash flows from the hedging item substantially offset the cash flows of
the hedged item and the timing of the cash flows is similar or if changes in the fair value of the financial
instrument substantially offset changes in the fair value of the related asset or liability. If the above hedge
criteria are not met, the financial instrument is recorded on the statement of financial position at fair value and
the initial fair value and subsequent changes in fair value are recorded in earnings in the period of change.
When a hedging financial instrument matures, expires, is sold, terminated or cancelled and is not replaced as
part of the Partnership’s hedging strategy, the termination gain or loss is deferred and recognized when the
gain or loss on the hedged item is recognized. If a designated hedged item matures, expires, is sold,
extinguished or terminated and the hedged item is no longer probable of occurring, any previously deferred
amounts associated with the hedging item are recognized in current earnings along with the corresponding
gains or losses recognized on the hedged item. If a hedging relationship is terminated or ceases to be effective,
hedge accounting is not applied to subsequent gains or losses. Any previously deferred amounts are carried
forward and recognized in earnings in the same period as the underlying hedged item.
Income taxes
Under the terms of the Canadian Income Tax Act, the Fund, as a trust, is not subject to income taxes to the
extent that its taxable income and taxable capital gains are paid or payable to unitholders. In addition, the
Fund is contractually committed to distribute to its unitholders all or virtually all of its taxable income and
taxable capital gains that would otherwise be taxable in its hands and the Fund intends to continue to
distribute to its unitholders so that it is not subject to income taxes.
All subsidiaries of the Fund follow the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method,
these subsidiaries record the future income tax basis of an asset or liability, using the substantially enacted
income tax rates. Accumulated future income tax balances are adjusted to reflect a change in the income tax
rates and the adjustment is recognized in earnings in the period in which the change occurs.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

Net earnings per unit
Basic net earnings per unit are calculated by dividing net earnings, respectively, by the weighted average
number of units outstanding during the period. For the calculation of the weighted average number, trust units
are determined to be outstanding from the date they are issued. Diluted net earnings per unit is calculated by
adding the weighted average number of units outstanding during the period to the additional units that would
have been outstanding if potentially dilutive units had been issued, using the “treasury stock” method.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include short-term investments with maturity of three months or less when purchased.
Inventory
Inventory is comprised primarily of NGL product for sale through the marketing operations. Inventory is
valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average cost basis,
calculated monthly.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist of natural gas processing and gathering systems and NGL processing,
storage and transportation facilities which were recorded at cost. Depreciation of these facilities is provided for
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each facility, the periods of which range from eight to
thirty-five years. Impairment on property, plant and equipment is measured as the amount by which the
carrying value of an asset or asset group exceeds its fair value, as determined by the discounted future cash
flows of the asset or asset group.
Long-term investments
From the initial acquisition of the interests in the Partnership and the Managing Partner on May 30, 2003 to
April 1, 2004, the Fund accounted for the investments using the equity basis of accounting whereby the cost of the
investment is increased or decreased for net earnings or losses and reduced by cash distributions paid to the Fund.
The Fund reviews and evaluates the carrying value of its investments for impairment annually. More frequent
reviews are conducted as conditions necessitate. In the event a decrease in the value of an investment is other than
a temporary decline, the investment will be written down to recognize any impairment in the carrying value.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of the marketing business contributed by the partners when the Partnership was first
formed and the marketing business contracts acquired on business combinations. These assets have been
recorded at the fair market values at the time of the contribution and acquisition. These amounts are being
amortized over their estimated economic life. The unamortized balance of these costs is assessed periodically
for impairment based on management’s best estimates of future net revenues from marketing operations.
Intangible assets also consist of deferred financing fees and goodwill. Amortization of deferred costs is provided
for on a straight-line basis over the weighted average term of the related debt offering. The goodwill resulted
from business combinations. Annually, on December 31, management assesses goodwill and its potential
impairment, on a reporting unit basis by determining whether the balance of goodwill can be recovered through
the estimated discounted operating cash flows of each reporting unit over their remaining life.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

Distributions to unitholders
The monthly amount of the distributions to unitholders of the Fund is defined in the Fund Declaration of
Trust. The computation of the distributions to unitholders is comprised of cash amounts received or receivable
as distributions or interest income and any net proceeds from the issuance of trust units, less any amounts that
relate to the redemption of trust units and any expenditures of the Fund. Distributions to unitholders, as
defined above, is not a measure under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and there is no
standardized measure of distributions to unitholders. Distributions to unitholders, as presented, may not be
comparable to similar measures presented by other income trusts.
Comparative figures
Certain amounts in the 2003 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year
financial statement presentation.
3.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General accounting principles
In July 2003, the CICA approved section 1100, “General Accounting Principles” effective for fiscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2004. As a result, the Partnership began expensing turnaround costs
commencing January 1, 2004. The Partnership’s results are consolidated with that of the Fund effective
April 1, 2004; prior to this, the results are recorded as equity earnings from investments. For the year ended
December 31, 2003 these costs were capitalized and depreciated by the Partnership over the estimated period
until the next scheduled significant turnaround, which ranged from two to four years.
This change in accounting policy has been applied retroactively by the Partnership. For the Fund, this results
in a decrease in long-term investments of $951 and a decrease in accumulated earnings of $951 on January 1,
2004. The impact of this new accounting pronouncement on the consolidated statement of earnings for the
period from inception on April 3 to December 31, 2003 was a reduction in net earnings of $951. There would
have been no change to distributable cash flow in the year, as dividends received from long-term investments
remained unchanged.
Asset retirement obligation
As a result of the Fund’s ownership in the Partnership, the Fund has retroactively adopted the Canadian
accounting standard outlined in the CICA Handbook section 3110, “Asset Retirement Obligations”. Under the
new section, the fair value of estimated asset retirement obligations are recognized in the period in which they
are incurred if a reasonable estimate of a fair value can be determined. Asset retirement obligations include
those legal obligations where the Fund will be required to retire tangible long-lived assets such as gathering
and processing facilities as well as items for which the Fund has made a promissory estoppel.
The asset retirement cost, deemed to be the fair value of the asset retirement obligation, is capitalized as part
of the cost of the related long-lived asset and allocated to expense on a basis consistent with depreciation and
amortization. Amortization of asset retirement costs is included in depreciation and amortization in the
consolidated statement of earnings. Increases in the asset retirement obligation resulting from the passage of
time are recorded as accretion expense in the consolidated statement of earnings, over the estimated time
period until settlement of the obligation. Actual expenditures incurred are charged against the accumulated
asset retirement obligation.
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Previously estimated costs of site restoration and abandonment were recorded into earnings based on the
estimated life of the asset and accumulated a liability on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Upon adoption of the new standard, all prior periods have been restated for the change in accounting policy.
The change resulted in a decrease in the Fund’s net earnings of $34 for the period from inception on April 3 to
December 31, 2003. The effect of this change on the December 31, 2003 consolidated statement of financial
position was a decrease in assets of $34, and decrease in accumulated earnings of $34.
Hedging relationships
On January 1, 2004, the Fund adopted CICA Accounting Guideline 13, “Hedging Relationships” (“AcG-13”) and
commenced application of the accounting treatment specified in the CICA Emerging Issues Committee
Abstract EIC-128, “Accounting for Trading, Speculative or Non-Hedging Derivative Financial Instruments”
(“EIC-128”).
AcG-13 clarifies the circumstances in which hedge accounting is appropriate and includes the requirements
for the identification, documentation, designation and effectiveness of hedges. The guideline also identifies
situations where hedge accounting is to be discontinued.
EIC-128 requires that all financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting under AcG-13 or are
not designated as a hedge be recorded on the statement of financial position at their fair value, either as an
asset or liability. Changes in their fair value are recognized in earnings in the period they occur.
The Fund has applied the criteria of AcG-13 to all financial instruments and discontinued hedge accounting
for those that do not meet the effectiveness criteria of the guideline.
4.

ACQUISITIONS OF LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

Initial Offering
On May 30, 2003 and June 10, 2003, the Fund issued 17,000,000 trust units as an initial public offering
(the “Initial Offering”) at a price of $10.00 per trust unit for net proceeds of $158,225 after issuance fees of
$11,775. The net proceeds received from the Initial Offering were used to purchase a 39.1% indirect interest in
the Partnership for consideration of $158,217 from KeySpan Energy Development Co. (“KEDCO”). At the same
time, the Fund acquired 39,090 shares of the Managing Partner from KEDCO, representing a 39.1% interest for
consideration of $8. The Managing Partner has a 0.005% interest in the Partnership.
Second Offering
On April 1, 2004, the Fund issued 15,617,000 trust units in a second public offering (the “Second Offering”)
at a price of $12.60 per trust unit for net proceeds of $186,335 after issuance costs of $10,439. The net proceeds
received from the Second Offering were used to purchase a further 35.9% indirect interest in the Partnership
and the Managing Partner for consideration of $186,335 accounted for using the purchase method.
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The investments in the Partnership and KEML were comprised of:
Partnership
$

KEML
$

Total
$

Acquisition cost
Equity earnings
Distributions to the Fund

158,217
7,587
(10,805)

8
–
–

158,225
7,587
(10,805)

Investment in the Partnership, December 31, 2003

154,999

8

155,007

4,659
(4,631)

1
–

4,660
(4,631)

Investment in the Partnership, March 31, 2004
Acquisition cost

155,027
186,327

9
8

155,036
186,335

Investment in the Partnership, April 1, 2004

341,354

17

341,371

Equity earnings
Distributions to the Fund

Prior to April 1, 2004 the Fund’s investments in the Partnership and the Managing Partner were accounted for
using the equity method as the Fund did not have direct control over the strategic, investing, and financing
decisions but had significant influence. The purchase on April 1, 2004 of the 35.9% interests in the Partnership
and the Managing Partner increased the ownership interests held by the Fund from 39.1% to 75%. As a result,
effective April 1, 2004, the results of operations of the Partnership and the Managing Partner were consolidated
with those of the Fund. The non-controlling interests in the Partnership and the Managing Partner were
reflected in non-controlling interest on the consolidated financial statements. The difference between the
value of the transaction and the carrying value of the net assets of the Partnership and the Managing Partner
resulted in a difference of $27,637 which was applied to property, plant and equipment. Amortization of this
difference was $747 for the year ended December 31, 2004.
As at June 30, 2004, the total purchase price of $344,560 for the Fund’s 75% interest in the Partnership and the
Managing Partner was allocated as follows:
$

Cash
Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Other assets
Long-term investment
Intangible assets
Deferred costs
Future income tax asset
Current liabilities
Long-term debt
Asset retirement obligation

14,399
125,125
405,843
13,716
13,941
6,442
1,121
3,429
(103,453)
(125,000)
(11,003)
344,560

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15

2004 FINANCIAL REPORT

Keyera 2004 Financial MARCH 15

3/15/05

7:57 PM

Page 16

KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

Third Offering
On June 3, 2004, the Fund issued 9,325,000 trust units in a third public offering (the “Third Offering”) at a price
of $10.75 per trust unit, with an over-allotment of 1,398,750 trust units issued on June 10, 2004, for net proceeds
of $109,118 after underwriters’ fee of $5,764 and issuance costs of $398. In conjunction with the Third Offering,
the Fund issued convertible unsecured subordinated debentures in the principal amount of $100,000, for net
proceeds of $95,669 after underwriters’ fee of $4,000 and issuance costs of $331.
Fourth Offering
On December 2, 2004, the Fund issued 10,872,333 trust units in a fourth public offering (the “Fourth Offering”)
at a price of $13.90 per trust unit for net proceeds of $143,069 after underwriters’ fee of $7,556 and issuance
costs of $500. The proceeds of the Fourth Offering were used to acquire the remaining interests in the
Partnership and the Managing Partner from KEDCO, thus resulting in the Fund owning a 100% indirect and
direct controlling interests in the Partnership and the Managing Partner, respectively. KEML continues to hold
a 0.005% interest in the Partnership. The acquisition of the remaining 17.44% interests in the Partnership and
Managing Partner fully eliminated the non-controlling interests on the balance sheet of $118,405, with an
increase to unitholders’ capital for the net proceeds of $143,069 and an addition to property, plant and
equipment of $24,664.
5.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost
$

Accumulated
Depreciation
$

Net Book
Value
$

Balance, December 31, 2003
Acquisition of investments (note 4)
Additions, net
Acquisitions, other
Depreciation

–
692,926
25,253
262,236
–

–
(97,616)
–
–
(20,475)

–
595,310
25,253
262,236
(20,475)

Balance, December 31, 2004

980,415

(118,091)

862,324

Acquisitions
On June 29, 2004, the Partnership acquired 100% of El Paso Velvet Processing Limited Partnership from whollyowned subsidiaries of El Paso Corporation, for an aggregate purchase price of $7,000, plus an adjustment for
net working capital and transaction costs. The El Paso Velvet Processing Limited Partnership owned 100% of
the Caribou gas plant, associated gathering pipelines and related acid gas disposal infrastructure.
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
date of acquisition. The allocation includes accruals and is management’s current estimate. Some values may
change as further information is received. The results of operations have been included in the consolidated
statement of earnings effective July 1, 2004.
$

Net working capital
Property, plant and equipment
Asset retirement obligation

548
7,650
(1,012)
7,186

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16

2004 FINANCIAL REPORT

Keyera 2004 Financial MARCH 15

3/15/05

7:57 PM

Page 17

KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

On July 2, 2004, the Fund indirectly acquired 100% of the shares of EnerPro Midstream Company (“EnerPro”)
for $272,815 plus acquisition costs of $2,645 and working capital adjustments, which were incurred directly by
the Partnership. The Fund then contributed the assets of EnerPro to the Partnership, thereby increasing the
Fund’s indirect interest in the Partnership and the Managing Partner from 75% to 82.6%. The acquisition has
been accounted for as a business combination and was allocated as follows:
$

Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Future income tax liability
Asset retirement obligation

8,861
270,086
64,934
8,174
(64,934)
(8,765)
278,356

Upon the acquisition of EnerPro and the contribution of assets to the Partnership, the Fund owned an indirect
controlling interest in Rimbey Pipe Line Co. Ltd. (“Rimbey Pipe Line”) through its indirect ownership of
the Partnership and KEFL (see note 1). The results of operations of Rimbey Pipe Line are consolidated
beginning on July 2, 2004. The non-controlling interest in Rimbey Pipe Line is reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.
6.

ASSET HELD FOR SALE

In 2004, the Partnership concluded its review of project opportunities for its 50% interest in an electrical
generator and chose not to proceed with putting it into service. Accordingly, the equipment was written down
to its estimated net realizable value of $4,735 and classified as asset held for sale at December 31, 2004.
7.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2004
$

As at December 31

Goodwill
Other intangible assets (a)
Deferred financing costs (note 8 (e))

64,934
13,298
5,557

Total

83,789

(a) Other intangible assets consist of the marketing business contributed by the Partners when the
Partnership was first formed and the marketing business of EnerPro acquired on July 2, 2004 (see note 5).
The unamortized balance of the intangible assets is assessed periodically for impairment based on
management’s best estimates of future net revenues from marketing operations, and is being amortized
over the remaining economic life of four to nine years.
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8.

LONG-TERM DEBT
2004
$

As at December 31

Bank credit facilities (a)
Senior secured notes (b & c)
Revolving demand loan (d)

7,500
215,000
4,500

Less: current portion of long-term debt

227,000
(12,000)

Long-term debt

215,000

(a) The Partnership has a $100,000 revolving credit facility with certain Canadian financial institutions led by
the Royal Bank of Canada, under two separate tranches. Each of the two $50,000 tranches matures on or
about May 27, 2006, unless extended, with one facility having a one-year revolving term and the other a
two-year revolving term. In addition, the Royal Bank of Canada has provided a $10,000 revolving demand
facility. The revolving credit facilities bear interest based on the lenders’ rates for Canadian prime
commercial loans or Bankers’ Acceptances rates. The weighted average interest rates for the year ended
December 31, 2004 was 4.30%. Security is shared on a pari passu basis with the lenders under the bank
credit facilities and the senior secured notes issued in 2003 and 2004. As at December 31, 2004, the
balance outstanding on the bank credit facilities was $7,500.
(b) The $125,000 of senior secured notes issued in 2003 consist of three parts: Series A of $52,500 due in 2010,
bearing interest at 5.79%, Series B of $52,500 due in 2013, bearing interest at 6.155%, and $20,000 due in
2008, bearing interest at 5.42%. Interest is payable monthly. Security is shared on a pari passu basis with
the lenders under the bank credit facilities and the senior secured notes issued in 2004. Financing costs of
$1,215 were incurred to complete the 2003 senior secured notes issue. These costs have been deferred and
are amortized over the remaining terms of the related debt. Amortization expense of $122 has been
recorded for the year ended December 31, 2004.
(c) On September 30, 2004, $90,000 of senior secured notes were issued by KEFL. The notes bear interest
at 5.23% and mature on October 1, 2009. Proceeds of the issue were used to repay short-term debt
incurred for the acquisition of EnerPro. Interest is payable semi-annually. Security is shared on a pari
passu basis with the lenders under the bank credit facilities and the senior secured notes issued in 2003.
Financing costs of $568 were incurred to complete the issue. These costs have been deferred and are
amortized over the term of the debt. Amortization expense of $28 has been recorded for the year ended
December 31, 2004.
(d) A subsidiary of the Partnership has an unsecured revolving demand loan facility with a major Canadian
chartered bank in the amount of $7,000, of which $4,500 was drawn as at December 31, 2004. Borrowings
under the loan facility bear interest based on the lender’s rates for Canadian prime commercial loans
or Bankers’ Acceptances rates. The weighted average interest rates for year ended December 31, 2004
was 3.76%.
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(e) Deferred financing costs as at December 31:
2004
$

Deferred financing costs on convertible debentures (note 9)
Deferred financing costs, net (b)
Deferred financing costs, net (c)

4,019
998
540
5,557

9.

CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

On June 3, 2004, the Fund issued convertible unsecured subordinated debentures in the principal amount of
$100,000, subject to an underwriters’ commission of $4,000 and issuance costs of $332. These costs have been
deferred and are being amortized over the term of the debt. Amortization expense of $313 has been recorded
for the year ended December 31, 2004. The proceeds were used for the acquisition of EnerPro (see note 5). The
convertible debentures bear interest at 6.75% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and
December 31 each year. Interest expense of $3,578 has been accrued for the year ended December 31, 2004.
These debentures will mature on June 30, 2011 and are convertible into trust units of the Fund at the option of
the holders at any time prior to maturity at a conversion price of $12.00 per unit. At December 31, 2004, $38,243
debentures had been converted to trust units.
10. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION
The following table presents the reconciliation between the beginning and ending aggregate carrying amount
of the obligation associated with the retirement of the gathering and processing facilities.
2004
$

Asset retirement obligation, April 1, 2004
Liabilities acquired
Liabilities settled
Revisions in estimated cash flows
Accretion expense

11,003
11,581
(171)
539
1,236

Asset retirement obligation, December 31, 2004

24,188

The total undiscounted amount of cash flows required to settle the asset retirement obligations is $81,575,
which has been discounted using a credit-adjusted risk-free rate of 7%. The majority of these obligations
are expected to be settled between 2018 and 2038. No assets have been legally restricted for settlement of
the liability.
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11. INCOME TAXES
The Fund is a unit trust for income tax purposes. As such, the Fund is only taxable on any taxable income not
allocated to the unitholders. Each unitholder will be required to include in computing income for tax purposes
for a particular taxation year the pro rata share of the Fund’s income that was paid or payable in that year to
the unitholder and that was deducted by the Fund in computing its income.
The following is a reconciliation of income taxes, calculated at the combined federal and provincial income tax
rate, to the income tax provision included in the consolidated statements of earnings.
2004
$

Earnings before tax and non-controlling interest
Less: Earnings of the Partnership distributed and not taxed in the Fund

36,459
18,095

Taxable earnings

18,364

Income tax at statutory rate of 38.62%
Equity earnings and dividends excluded from taxable income
Resource allowance
Rate adjustment on opening balances
Rate differences in subsidiaries
Adjustments to tax pool balances
Other
Alternative minimum tax
Large corporation tax

7,092
(542)
(95)
372
(420)
1,536
(137)
173
185
8,164

Classified as:
Current
Future

1,806
6,358

Income tax expense

8,164

The future income tax liability relates to the differences in the carrying values and tax bases as follows:
2004
$

As at December 31

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Deferred financing costs
Asset retirement obligation
Non-capital losses carried forward
Other

(74,872)
(1,299)
(114)
3,635
1,960
635

Future income tax liability

(70,055)

For income tax purposes, there are non-capital losses carried forward of approximately $5,503 at December 31,
2004 which are available to offset income of specific entities of the consolidated group in future periods. These
losses will expire at various times to the end of 2007.
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12. UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL
The Fund Declaration of Trust provides that an unlimited number of trust units may be authorized and issued.
Each trust unit is transferable, and represents an equal undivided beneficial interest in any distribution from
the Fund and in the net assets of the Fund in the event of termination or winding-up of the Fund. All trust units
are of the same class with equal rights and privileges.
The Declaration of Trust also provides for the issuance of an unlimited number of special trust units that will
be used solely for providing voting rights to persons holding securities that are directly or indirectly
exchangeable for units and that, by their terms, have voting rights in the Fund.
The trust units are redeemable at the holder’s option at an amount equal to the lesser of: (i) 90% of the
weighted average price per unit at which the units during the period of the last 10 days during which the trust
units were traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange; and (ii) an amount equal to (a) the closing market price of
the units; (b) an amount equal to the average of the highest and lowest prices of units if there was trading on
the date on which the units were tendered for redemption; or (c) the average of the last bid and ask prices if
there was no trading on the date on which the units were tendered for redemption.
Redemptions are subject to a maximum of $50 cash redemptions in any particular month. Redemptions in
excess of this amount will be paid by way of a distribution in specie of assets of the Fund that may include
Commercial Trust Series 1 notes.
Trust units issued and unitholders’ capital

Number of Units

$

Authorized – unlimited number of trust units
Units issued per Initial Offering
Less: issuance costs

17,000,000
–

170,000
(11,775)

Balance, December 31, 2003

17,000,000

158,225

Units issued for cash, April 2004
Less: issuance costs
Units issued for cash, June 2004
Less: issuance costs
Units issued pursuant to long term incentive plan
Units issued on conversion (note 9)
Units issued for cash, December 2004
Less: issuance costs

15,617,000
–
10,723,750
–
14,684
3,186,910
10,872,333
–

196,774
(10,439)
115,280
(6,162)
175
38,243
151,125
(8,056)

Balance, December 31, 2004

57,414,677

635,165

Issuance costs were incurred by the Fund in issuing trust units. These costs are deductible for income tax
purposes on a straight-line basis over a five-year period.
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Net earnings per unit
Basic per unit calculations for year ended December 31, 2004 were based on the weighted average number of
units outstanding for the year. Convertible debentures were in the money for year ended December 31, 2004
and attributed to the increase in diluted weighted average number of units for 2004. The 2003 period is from
the Initial Offering on May 30, 2003 to December 31, 2003.
(thousands)

2004

2003

Weighted average number of units – basic
Net additional units if units all vest
Additional units if debentures converted

36,199
301
4,441

13,357
–
–

Weighted average number of units – diluted

40,941

13,357

13. DISTRIBUTABLE CASH FLOW
For the purposes of declaring distributions, the Fund is entirely dependent on cash distributions received from
the Partnership. The Fund makes monthly distributions to holders of record on the last day of each month.
Payments are made on or about the 15th day of the following month.
The amount of Distributable Cash Flow, as defined in the Partnership Agreement, will generally be for each
month, the Partnership’s cash flow from operations for such month (including dividends received from
subsidiaries), after (i) satisfaction of its debt service obligations (principal and interest) and income tax and
large corporation tax expenses; (ii) satisfaction of funding requirements in respect of any reclamation fund;
(iii) providing for maintenance capital expenditures; (iv) satisfaction of its other expense obligations including
general and administrative expenses and those relating to incentive compensation; and (v) retaining reasonable
reserves for administrative and other expense obligations and reasonable reserves for working capital and
capital expenditures as may be considered appropriate by the Board of Directors of the Managing Partner.
Distributable Cash Flow, as defined above, is not a measure under Canadian GAAP and there is no
standardized measure of Distributable Cash Flow. Distributable Cash Flow, as presented, may not be
comparable to similar measures presented by other entities.
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The following table calculates the Fund’s share of the Distributable Cash Flow, consistent with the terms of the
Partnership Agreement:
2004
$

2003
$
(restated – note 3)

Net earnings
Add (deduct):
Non-controlling interest
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Accretion expense
Equity earnings from investments
Dividends received from investments
Unrealized loss on financial instrument
Dilution gain
Future income tax expense
Asset retirement obligation expenditures
Maintenance capital
Non-controlling interest distributable cash flow

22,738

7,587

5,557
21,512
8,981
1,236
(5,258)
5,762
899
(1,749)
6,358
(171)
(2,075)
(10,851)

–
–
–
–
(7,587)
10,805
–
–
–
–
–
–

Cash available for distributions to unitholders

52,939

10,805

Distributions to unitholders (note 14)

42,037

10,805

14. ACCUMULATED DISTRIBUTIONS TO UNITHOLDERS
$

Inception, June 1, 2003
Unitholders’ distributions declared and paid
Unitholders’ distributions declared

–
9,261
1,544

Balance, December 31, 2003

10,805

Unitholders’ distributions declared and paid
Unitholders’ distributions declared

36,410
5,627

Balance, December 31, 2004

52,842
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15. COMPENSATION PLANS
In 2003, a Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP” or the “Plan”) was adopted that compensates officers,
directors, key employees and consultants by issuing units of the Fund or paying cash in lieu of units. The Plan
permits the directors of KEML to authorize the grant of unit awards from time to time. A maximum of 1,300,000
units have been specified for issue from treasury under the Plan. Participants in the LTIP are granted rights
(“unit awards”) to receive units of the Fund on specified dates in the future.
The Plan consists of two types of unit awards, which are described below. Management accounts for unit
awards and the issuance of units under the Plan in accordance with the intrinsic value method of accounting
for stock-based compensation. The aggregate compensation cost recorded for the Plan was $2,782 for the year
ended December 31, 2004.
(a) Performance Unit Awards
The Performance Unit Awards will vest 100% on the third anniversary of each grant date, July 1, 2003 and July 1,
2004. The number of units to be issued will be determined by the financial performance of the Fund over the
three-year period. The number of units to be issued will be calculated by multiplying the number of unit
awards by an adjustment ratio and a payout multiplier. The adjustment ratio increases the number of units to
be issued to reflect the per unit cash distributions paid by the Fund to its unitholders during the term that the
unit award is outstanding. The payout multiplier is based upon the actual three-year average annual cash
distributions per unit of the Fund. The table below describes the relationship between the three-year average
annual cash distribution per unit and the payout multiplier.

First range
Second range
Third range

July 1, 2003 Grant
three-year average
annual cash distribution
per unit

July 1, 2004 Grant
three-year average
annual cash distribution
per unit

Payout

Less than $1.09
1.09 to 1.18
1.19 to 1.38
1.39 and greater

Less than $1.15
1.15 to 1.22
1.23 to 1.38
1.39 and greater

Nil
50% – 99%
100% – 199%
200%

As of December 31, 2004, 294,262 Performance Unit Awards were outstanding: 125,400 from 2003 and 168,862
granted on July 1, 2004. The compensation cost recorded for these units was $1,903 for the year ended
December 31, 2004 (not applicable for the year ended December 31, 2003), using the closing market price of a
unit of the Fund on January 4, 2005.
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(b) Time Vested Unit Awards (“Restricted Unit Awards”)
Restricted Unit Awards will vest automatically, over a three-year period from the effective date of the award on
July 1, 2003 and July 1, 2004, regardless of the performance of the Fund. The number of units to be issued will
be increased by an adjustment ratio which reflects the per unit distributions paid by the Fund to its unitholders
during the term that the unit award is outstanding.
As of December 31, 2004, 133,355 Restricted Unit Awards were outstanding: 47,467 from the 2003 grant and
85,888 granted on July 1, 2004. The compensation cost recorded for these units was $879 for year ended
December 31, 2004 (not applicable for the year ended December 31, 2003), using the closing market price of a
unit of the Fund on January 4, 2005. During the year, 14,684 units were issued from treasury and $175 was
credited to unitholders’ equity in respect of the units issued. In addition, the equivalent of 9,049 unit awards
were settled in cash.
16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Prior to April 1, 2004, KEML was a 39.1% owned subsidiary of the Fund. KEML provides management and
administrative services to the Fund and the Partnership on a cost recovery basis. Effective April 1, 2004, KEML
was controlled by the Fund and the management and administrative fees are eliminated upon consolidation.
The Fund had the following balances receivable from and due to related parties in the normal course of
business reflected in other current assets and other current liabilities:
As at December 31

2004
$

2003
$

Due from related parties

407

1,544

2,192

–

Due to related parties

The following table summarizes the Fund’s related party transactions through its indirect ownership in the
Partnership as reflected in the consolidated financial statements beginning on April 1, 2004:
2004
$

2003
$

841
1,452
598
1,132

–
–
–
–

As at December 31

Operating allocation and NGL revenue
Tariff expense for use of pipeline and NGL purchases
Equity earnings from investments
Dividends received from investments

The transactions summarized in the above table were made in the normal course of operations and were
measured at the exchange value or on a cost recovery basis, which represented the amount of consideration
established and agreed to by the related parties. The acquisition of EnerPro described in note 5 added an
additional 35.5% interest in Rimbey Pipe Line, which when combined with the 45.3% investment held by the
Partnership, represented an indirect controlling interest in Rimbey Pipe Line. Beginning on July 2, 2004, the
transactions with Rimbey Pipe Line are eliminated upon consolidation to reflect the Partnership’s indirect
controlling interest.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Partnership enters into contracts to purchase and sell natural gas and natural gas liquids. These contracts
are exposed to commodity price risk between the time contracted volumes are purchased and sold. The
Partnership actively manages this risk by using energy-related futures, forwards, swaps and options and by
balancing physical and financial contracts in terms of volumes, timing of performance and delivery
obligations. Management monitors the Partnership’s exposure to the above risks and regularly reviews its
financial instrument activities and all outstanding positions.
Energy price risk management
The Partnership routinely enters into price swaps and option agreements to mitigate its exposure to
fluctuations in the price of natural gas, natural gas liquids and electricity. Price swap agreements require
payments to (or receipts from) counter parties based on the differential between fixed and variable prices for
commodities. The Partnership routinely enters into forward currency exchange contracts and swaps to
mitigate its exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. The contracts require the exchange of
currencies between counter-parties at previously agreed upon exchange rates. Management monitors the
Partnership’s exposure to the above risks and regularly reviews its use of financial instruments and all
outstanding positions. The fair values of the derivatives listed below represent an estimate of the amount that
the Partnership would receive or pay if these instruments were closed out at the end of the period.
The estimated fair value of all financial instruments is based on quoted market prices and, if not available, on
estimates from third-party brokers or dealers. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, other current assets and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximates their fair values
because the instruments are near maturity or have no fixed repayment terms. The fair value of the bank credit
facilities approximates fair value due to their floating rates of interest.
Carrying
Amount

Notional
Volume

–

63,000 Bbls

$

256

(28)

$ US 12,050

$

(28)

–
–

375,500 Bbls
487,638 Bbls

$ (1,116)
$ 2,421

$

$

2004
Natural gas liquids:
Price swaps (maturing by August 2005)
Currency:
Forward contracts (maturing by March 2005)

$

2003
Natural gas liquids:
Price swaps (maturing by August 2004)
Price swaps (maturing by August 2004)
Currency:
Forward contracts (maturing by March 2004)
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Credit risk
The majority of the Partnership’s accounts receivable are due from entities in the oil and gas industry and are
subject to normal industry credit risks. Concentration of credit risk is mitigated by having a broad domestic
and international customer base. The Partnership evaluates and monitors the financial strength of its
customers in accordance with its credit policy. At December 31, 2004, the accounts receivable from the
Partnership’s two largest customers amounted to approximately 5% of accounts receivable. Revenue from the
Partnership’s two largest customers amounted to 13% of total revenue in 2004. With respect to counter parties
for financial instruments used for hedging purposes, the Partnership limits its credit risk through dealing with
recognized futures exchanges or investment grade financial institutions and by maintaining credit policies
which significantly minimize overall counter party credit risk.
Interest rate risk
The Fund uses fixed and floating debt to finance its operations. The floating rate debt exposes the Fund to
changes in interest payments as interest rates fluctuate. To manage this exposure, the Fund maintains a
combination of fixed and floating rate borrowings. At December 31, 2004, fixed rate borrowings comprised
96% of total debt outstanding, including convertible debentures. The fair value of the Partnership’s senior
secured fixed rate debt is $222,819. The fair value of the Fund’s unsecured convertible debentures is $74,108.
Foreign currency rate risk
The gathering and processing business generated 50% of 2004 operating margin and is not subject to foreign
currency rate risk. All sales and virtually all purchases are denominated in Canadian dollars. In the NGL
marketing business, approximately US$129,871 of 2004 sales were priced in U.S. dollars.
18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Fund, through its operating entities, is involved in various contractual agreements with ConocoPhillips.
The agreements range from one to fourteen years and comprise the processing of ConocoPhillips’ natural gas
and the purchase of NGL production in the areas specified in the agreements. The purchase prices are based
on current period market prices. There are lease commitments relating to railway tank cars, vehicles, computer
hardware, office space and natural gas transportation agreements. The estimated annual minimum operating
lease rental payments from these commitments are as follows:
$

2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
Thereafter

7,618
7,457
6,666
4,245
3,026
6,225
35,237

There are legal actions for which the ultimate results cannot be ascertained at this time. Management does not
expect the outcome of any of these proceedings to have a material effect on the financial position or results
of operations.
There are no material guarantees outstanding at December 31, 2004.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
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19. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Interest paid
Taxes paid

2004
$

2003
$

13,883
1,837

–
–

20. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Fund, through its consolidation with the Partnership, has two reportable segments: Facilities and
Marketing. Facilities include natural gas gathering and processing as well as natural gas liquids processing,
transportation, and storage. The marketing business consists of marketing of by-products recovered from the
processing of raw gas, including NGLs and sulphur, as well as services provided to its customers.
Facilities
$

Marketing
$

Corporate
$

2004
Revenue 1
Intersegment revenue

114,756
(1,850)

632,595
–

–
–

747,351
(1,850)

External revenue
Operating expenses

112,906
(56,659)

632,595
(601,328)

–
–

745,501
(657,987)

General and administrative, interest and other
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Accretion expense
Unrealized loss on financial instruments
Dilution gain

56,247
–
(19,273)
(8,981)
(1,236)
–
–

31,267
–
(1,317)
–
–
(899)
–

–
(20,176)
(922)
–
–
–
1,749

87,514
(20,176)
(21,512)
(8,981)
(1,236)
(899)
1,749

Earnings (loss) before tax and non-controlling interest

26,757

29,051

(19,349)

36,459

980,731

134,740

31,286

1,146,757

23,673

–

986

24,659

Identifiable assets
Capital expenditures
1

Total
$

Facilities revenue includes equity earnings from investment in Rimbey Pipe Line of $598 for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Export sales
Revenue from sales of natural gas NGLs made outside of Canada was $115,130.
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KEYERA ENERGY PARTNERSHIP
(Formerly KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership)

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
KEYERA ENERGY PARTNERSHIP
Management’s discussion and analysis is a review of the results of operations and the liquidity and capital
resources of Keyera Energy Partnership (the “Partnership” or “Keyera”, formerly KeySpan Energy Canada
Partnership). It should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the
Partnership for the year ended December 31, 2004 and the notes thereto.
The statement of operations contained in the audited consolidated financial statements of the Partnership
includes the results of operations of Rimbey Pipe Line Co. Ltd. (“Rimbey Pipe Line”) since July 2, 2004, the date
of acquisition of control, and the results of operations of the Partnership, KEFL, and KEL for the entire year
ended December 31, 2004. The information for the comparative periods of 2003 includes the results of
operations of the Partnership for the entire year ended December 31, 2003, and the results of operations of
KEFL and KEL from the time of acquisition, May 30, 2003 to December 31, 2003. The 2003 Partnership’s interest
in Rimbey Pipe Line was accounted for using the equity method in 2003. Accordingly, some of the variances
described in this report include the effect of these acquisitions and readers are cautioned that certain
information included in the financial statements for prior periods may not be directly comparable.
Distributable Cash Flow as defined in the Partnership Agreement and described in note 12 of the consolidated
financial statements of the Partnership is not a standard measure under Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles and therefore may not be comparable with the calculation of similar measures for other companies.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Net earnings for the year 2004 were $40.5 million, up $2.6 million from last year. Operating margin of
$107.4 million in 2004 increased 53% compared to last year due primarily to the addition of the EnerPro assets
and the strong results from the marketing business segment. The growth in operating margin was offset by the
following: non-cash charges against earnings of $9.0 million for the write-down of an electrical generator that
was previously being held for use, an incremental $6.5 million of depreciation expenses, non-cash charges
against earnings of $3.9 million increase in future income tax expense, $6.5 million of increased interest
expense and $6.4 million of increased general and administrative costs.
Operating margin
Facilities activities represent approximately 64% of operating margin for 2004 compared to 65% in 2003.
Twelve months ended December 31

Operating margin 1 ($ millions)

2004

2003

Facilities
Marketing 2

68.4
39.0

45.8
24.4

107.4

70.2

1

Operating margin, which is defined as operating revenues minus operating expenses, is not a standard measure under
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and therefore may not be comparable with the calculation of similar measures
for other companies.

2

Keyera’s marketing business, which is operated within the Partnership, acquires fractionation services at market rates from KEFL,
transportation from Rimbey Pipe Line and other services from the facilities business segment of the Partnership. Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles require the elimination of these internal transactions from consolidated revenues
and expenses.
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Facilities
The facilities business segment generated strong financial returns and achieved significant growth in 2004
through both acquisitions and the completion of internal projects. Although the EnerPro acquisition was the
most prominent event in the facilities business segment, several internal growth projects and three smaller
acquisitions were also completed during the year. These acquisitions and projects not only contributed to 2004
results but position the business for the future.
The Bigoray plant expansion increased the plant’s sulphur handling capacity, allowing the plant to process
incremental sour solution gas volumes arising from the development of the Nisku sour oil reserves in the
Pembina area. The construction of the Brazeau Northeast Gas Gathering system enabled the Brazeau River gas
plant access to the associated gas volumes from the Nisku oil play and extended the capture area of the plant.
In 2003, an acid gas injection system was constructed at the Brazeau River plant, creating sufficient processing
capacity to handle the highly sour gas associated with this oil play. The size of this Nisku development
continues to expand with Keyera’s facilities well positioned to benefit from the future development.
A facility to produce liquid CO2 was constructed and commissioned at the Rimbey gas plant in the West Central
Region in May 2004. CO2 is utilized during well completions and workovers, so with strong industry
fundamentals supporting high drilling activity, increased demand for liquid CO2 is expected to continue.
EnerPro’s facilities fit well with the Partnership’s existing business and increased the net processing capacity of
the Partnership by approximately 50%. Strategically, the facilities are capable of processing sour gas and are
west of the 5th Meridian, where the multi-zone, prospective geology offers potential for the long-term
development of the area. Common ownership in five facilities and the proximity of two EnerPro plants to
existing Keyera facilities are presenting opportunities to reduce costs. The increase in ownership interest
enables the Partnership to exercise greater operational control to more readily implement new business
development opportunities, such as plant expansions and gathering system extensions, and to realize a greater
share of the benefits derived from this business development activity.
Integration of the EnerPro assets with the existing business was completed in 2004, and the 2004 operating and
financial results were in line with expectations.
The acquisition of the Caribou Plant in northeastern British Columbia was also a good fit with Keyera’s
business strategy. It is located in a geologically prospective area and has the capacity to handle incremental
volumes. Extension of the gathering system and expansion of the plant are the two most significant internal
growth opportunities for this plant.
The Partnership acquired a 36% interest in the Gregg Lake-Obed pipeline in December 2004. This 129
kilometre sour gas pipeline provides exposure to a large, geologically prospective area adjacent to our existing
core area of operations.
The most significant risk to Keyera’s facilities segment is related to declines in plant throughput. In the absence
of new drilling activity, facility throughput will decline over time as reserves are depleted. If producers in the
areas serviced by the facilities are not successful in exploring for and developing additional reserves, the
Partnership’s facilities may not be able to maintain existing throughput volumes.
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The $68.4 million of operating margin generated from facilities in 2004 was $22.6 million higher than last year,
due primarily to the growth in Keyera’s asset base that was achieved through acquisitions and internal project
development. Also contributing to the increase in operating margin were higher plant throughput volumes in
the West Central Region, greater demand for NGL processing capacity at the Fort Saskatchewan facility and
strong re-processing revenues at the Rimbey plant. These favorable variances were partially offset by a decline
in volumes at the Strachan Plant.
Marketing
Keyera’s marketing business engages in the purchase and sale of natural gas liquids (NGLs) and provides
marketing services to its customers on a fee-for-service basis. Keyera acquires products through processing
arrangements and plant gate purchases. The composition of the revenues generated from the Partnership’s
marketing business is shown in the table below.
Composition of Marketing Revenue ($000)
Fees for service
Physical sales
Financial instruments

32
800,674
872

Keyera enters into contracts to purchase and sell NGLs. These contracts are exposed to commodity price risk
between the time contracted volumes are purchased and the time they are sold. The majority of Keyera’s
butane and condensate are sold in the same month as they are purchased, minimizing this exposure. Keyera
sells some of its propane in the month it is purchased, with the remainder kept in inventory for the higher
demand winter season. Keyera actively manages this risk by using financial contracts, such as energy related
futures, forward sales, price swaps, physical exchanges and options and by balancing physical and financial
contracts in terms of volumes, timing of performance and delivery obligations. Occasionally, open positions
have been established to take advantage of market conditions.
The table below outlines the changes in the fair value of the financial contracts entered into by the Partnership:
Changes in Fair Value of Energy Derivative Contracts1 ($000)
Fair value at December 31, 2003
Change in the fair value of contracts held at December 2003
Fair value of new contracts entered into in 2004
Less: realized gains

1,305
(433)
256
(872)

Fair value at December 31, 2004
1

256

The fair value of the financial contracts represents an estimate of the amount that Keyera would pay or receive if those contracts
were closed on December 31, 2004.

Financial contract maturities vary from a single day up to two years. A large number of financial contracts
mature in less than one year. The relatively short maturities of the Partnership’s financial contracts lower its
portfolio risk.
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The marketing operating margin of $39.0 million for 2004 was $14.6 million higher than 2003, primarily due to
higher sales volumes and strong sales prices for NGL products. The 2003 marketing operating margin included
$5.6 million from natural gas marketing. Effective 2004, natural gas marketing is no longer part of Keyera’s
marketing business. The increase in NGL sales volumes was primarily attributable to the acquisition of
EnerPro’s NGL marketing business and growth in the Partnership’s business. NGL sales volumes for 2004 were
approximately 49,500 bbls/d compared to approximately 36,500 bbls/d in 2003.
Keyera’s NGL marketing business is underpinned by two long term supply contracts that provide a base supply
for its business. The strong margins demonstrated by the marketing business are supported by the integrated
network of gas processing facilities and NGL processing, storage, pipeline, truck and rail facilities. Marketing
operating margins can vary significantly from period to period depending upon North American demand,
inventory positions and pricing. As a result, marketing operating margins in future years may vary significantly
from the 2004 results.
Non-operating expenses and other earnings
Non-operating expenses of $61.4 million increased $28.7 million over the previous year.
Depreciation and amortization expense of $26.7 million increased $6.5 million compared to the previous year
due primarily to the growth in property, plant and equipment resulting from the EnerPro acquisition. The
acquisition of these assets in mid-year added $5.7 million to depreciation and amortization.
General and administrative expenses of $15.8 million were up $6.4 million. The increase was primarily
attributable to $3.2 million of incremental incentive compensation costs, $1.0 million of additional rent and
office costs and $1.1 million due to the inclusion of administrative expenses relating to KEFL for the entire year,
as compared to seven months in 2003. The remainder of the increase was due to the higher levels of activity
necessary to support the growth in the business.
Interest expense for twelve months ended December 31, 2004 was $10 million, an increase of $6.5 million
compared to the previous year. Approximately $7.3 million of the interest expense was related to the
$125 million of long-term senior secured notes issued by Keyera and KEFL in August 2003 and $1.1 million
was related to the $90 million of senior secured notes issued by KEFL on September 30, 2004. Interest of
$1.6 million related to the preferred partnership interest was indirectly paid to the Fund by the Partnership.
The remainder of the interest expense was due to short-term borrowings used to finance working capital and
capital expenditures, offset by interest earned on cash balances. During 2003, Keyera had debt outstanding for
seven months of the year.
Impairment expense of $9.0 million recorded in 2004 related to the write-down of electrical generation
equipment. In 2001, the Partnership acquired a 50% interest in an electrical generator at a cost of $13.7 million.
Until September 2004, Keyera had intended to put the generator into service and recorded the equipment at
cost. In September 2004, Keyera concluded a review of project opportunities and chose not to proceed with
putting the equipment into service. Accordingly, the cost was written down to its estimated net realizable value
based on disposition alternatives.
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Critical accounting estimates
In the preparation of the Partnership’s consolidated financial statements, management has made estimates
that affect the recorded amounts of certain of the Partnership’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The
most significant estimates are those described below:
Estimation of facility revenues:
For each month, actual volumes processed and fees earned from the gathering and processing assets are not
known at the month end. Accordingly, the financial statements contain an estimate of one month’s revenue based
upon a review of historic trends. This estimate is adjusted for events that are known to have a significant effect on
the month’s operations, such as the shut down of a plant for maintenance or the tie in of incremental production.
At December 31, 2004, for the facilities segment, operating revenues and accounts receivable contain an
estimate of December 2004 revenues of $12.8 million. There are no known trends, events or uncertainties to
indicate that actual results will vary significantly from the estimates used nor would any expected variance
have a material effect on the financial condition of the Partnership.
Estimation of facility operating expenses:
The period in which invoices are rendered for the supply of goods and services necessary for the operation of
the gathering and processing assets is generally later than the period in which the goods or services were
provided. Accordingly, the financial statements contain an estimate of one month’s operating costs based upon
a review of historic trends. This estimate is adjusted for events that are known to have a significant effect on the
month’s operations, such as the shut down of a plant for maintenance or the tie in of incremental production.
At December 31, 2004, for the facilities segment, operating expenses and accounts payable contain an estimate
of December 2004 expenses of $4.3 million. There are no known trends, events or uncertainties to indicate that
actual results will vary significantly from the estimates used nor would any expected variance have a material
effect on the financial condition of the Partnership.
Estimation of facility equalization adjustments:
Much of the revenue generated from the gathering, processing and pipeline assets is generated on a cost of
service basis. Under this method, the operating component of the fee is a pro rata share of the operating costs
for the facility, calculated based upon total throughput. Users of the facility are charged a fee per unit based
upon estimated costs and throughput, with an adjustment to actual completed at the end of each year. Each
quarter, throughput volumes and operating costs are reviewed to determine whether the estimated unit fee
charged during the quarter properly reflects the actual volumes and costs. As well, the allocation of revenues
and operating costs to other plant owners is also reviewed. Appropriate adjustments to the revenue recognized
in the quarter and allocations to other owners are recorded.
At December 31, 2004, for the facilities segment, operating revenues and accounts receivable contain an
adjustment to revenues of $3.5 million. Operating expenses and accounts payable contain an estimate of
$0.2 million. There are no known trends, events or uncertainties to indicate that actual results will vary
significantly from the estimates used nor would any expected variance have a material effect on the financial
condition of the Partnership.
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Estimation of NGL marketing revenues:
The majority of NGL marketing sales revenues are recorded based upon actual volumes and prices; however,
in many cases actual product lifting volumes have not yet been confirmed or sales prices that are dependent
on other variables are not yet known. Accordingly, the financial statements contain an estimate for these sales.
Estimates are prepared based upon contract quantities and known events. The estimates are reviewed and
compared to expected results to verify their accuracy. They are reversed in the following month and replaced
with actual results.
At December 31, 2004, NGL marketing sales and accounts receivable contain an estimate of December 2004
revenues of $38.4 million. There are no known trends, events or uncertainties to indicate that actual results will
vary significantly from the estimates used nor would any expected variance have a material effect on the
financial condition of the Partnership.
Estimation of NGL marketing product purchases:
NGL mix (feedstock) and specification products such as propane, butane or condensate are purchased from
facilities located throughout Western Canada and in some locations of the United States. The majority of NGL
mix purchases are estimated each month as actual volume information is generally not available until the next
month. The estimates are prepared based upon a three month rolling average of production volumes for each
facility and an estimate of price based upon historic information. Specification product volumes and prices are
based upon contract volumes and prices. Accordingly, these financial statements contain an estimate for one
month of these purchases.
At December 31, 2004, NGL inventory and accounts payable contain an estimate of December 2004 costs of
$69.6 million. There are no known trends, events or uncertainties to indicate that actual results will vary
significantly from the estimates used nor would any expected variance have a material effect on the financial
condition of the Partnership.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from non-performance of contractual obligations by a customer or
counterparty. The majority of the Partnership’s accounts receivable are due from entities in the oil and gas
industry and are subject to normal industry credit risks. Concentration of credit risk is mitigated by having a
broad domestic and international customer base. Keyera evaluates and monitors the financial strength of its
customers in accordance with its credit policy.
Management believes these measures minimize the Partnership’s overall credit risk; however, there can be no
assurance that these processes will protect against all losses from non-performance. At December 31, 2004, the
accounts receivable from the Partnership’s two largest customers accounted for approximately 5% of accounts
receivable (7% in 2003). With respect to counterparties for financial instruments used for hedging purposes,
Keyera limits its credit risk through dealing with recognized futures exchanges or investment grade financial
institutions and by maintaining credit policies which significantly minimize overall counterparty credit risk.
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Commitments
Keyera has assumed various contractual obligations in the normal course of its operations. At December 31,
2004, the obligations that represent known future cash payments that are required under existing contractual
arrangements are as follows:
Contractual obligations

Payments Due By Period (in $000)
1 Year
2 – 3 Years
4 – 5 Years

Total

After 5 Years

Long-term debt
Capital lease obligations
Operating leases 1
Purchase obligations 2

215,000
–
35,097
–

–
–
7,600
–

–
–
14,105
–

110,000
–
7,235
–

105,000
–
6,157
–

Total contractual obligations

250,097

7,600

14,105

117,235

111,157

1

Keyera has lease commitments relating to railway tank cars, vehicles, computer hardware, office space and natural gas
transportation agreements.

2

Keyera is involved in various contractual agreements with ConocoPhillips and other producers to purchase NGLs. These
agreements range from one to fourteen years and in general obligate Keyera to purchase all product produced at specified
locations on a best efforts basis. The purchase prices are based on then current period market prices. The future volumes and
prices for these contracts cannot be reasonably determined.

Risk management
In addition to operating processing plants and pipelines, Keyera engages in the wholesale marketing of NGLs.
This business involves the purchase of NGLs for subsequent sale to wholesale customers. Some of the sales will
occur more or less at the same time as the purchases, with the remainder of the purchases being sold in future
months. This latter situation results in Keyera having a long position of physical product inventory at certain
times of the year. Keyera posts bid prices for physical term purchase arrangements at the Edmonton/Fort
Saskatchewan hub.
The focus of the risk management program is to protect the Partnership’s physically long position of NGLs
from changes in commodity prices and to lock in margins. In order to do this, Keyera utilizes financial
contracts such as energy related futures, forward sales, price swaps, physical exchanges and options,
and generally balances physical and financial contracts in terms of volume, timing of performance and
delivery obligations. Occasionally, open positions, primarily attributable to unsold physical inventory, are
established to take advantage of market conditions. Positions are regularly monitored and managed by the
following processes.
Reporting systems capture and report NGL physical and financial transactions and mark them to market.
Sensitivity analyses are conducted on the NGL transactions to estimate the impact of changes in forward
prices. The creditworthiness of each customer is evaluated and reviewed periodically. Accounts receivable are
monitored for collection. On a monthly basis, or more frequently if required, the risk management committee
reviews the positions and discusses recent issues related to the market.
Transactions are undertaken in accordance with the terms of an “authority grid” which has been approved by
the President and CEO. The grid documents trading authorities volumetrically and by dollar amount.
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Foreign currency rate risk
The facilities business generated 59% of 2004 operating margin and is not subject to foreign currency rate risk.
All sales and virtually all purchases are denominated in Canadian dollars. In the NGL marketing business,
approximately $171 million of 2004 sales were priced in U.S. dollars.
Liquidity and working capital
Cash provided by operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital was $79.8 million, compared
to $56.6 million last year. The increase was due primarily to the stronger operating margin, partially offset by
higher interest expense and general and administrative costs. Cash and working capital at December 31, 2004
was $34.7 million, up slightly from the $34.5 million last year. Included in working capital at December 31, 2004
was $12.0 million of borrowings from short-term bank credit facilities.
Twelve months ended December 31
($ millions)

2004

2003

Capital expenditures

29.8

16.0

In 2004, additions to property, plant and equipment amounted to $29.8 million, consisting of $2.3 million of
maintenance capital and $27.5 million of growth capital. The maintenance capital expenditures were related
to numerous small projects. The most significant growth capital expenditures were the construction of the
Strachan waste heat recovery system, the acquisition of an additional 13.6% interest in the Wabasca Pipeline,
completion of the Rimbey CO2 plant, the acquisition of a 36% interest in the OBED/Gregg Lake pipelines, the
construction of the Brazeau Northeast Gas Gathering System and the upgrade of the Bigoray Plant. Netted in
the $29.8 million total is $3.9 million of cash receipts related to Gas Processing Efficiency Assistance Regulation
royalty credits that were earned from capital expenditures made in previous years to reduce emissions.
In addition to these capital expenditures, $13.0 million was required for the acquisition of the entity holding
the Caribou plant, for the purchase of an incremental 8.5% interest in Rimbey Pipe Line and to pay the final
adjustment arising from the EnerPro acquisition.
In 2005, Keyera expects to spend approximately $6.0 million for maintenance capital. The approved growth
capital budget for 2005 is $30 million but the actual level of growth capital investment is dependent upon
available opportunities.
Working capital requirements are strongly influenced by the volume of NGLs held in storage and their related
commodity prices. NGL inventories are required to meet seasonal demand patterns and will vary depending
on the time of year. Historically, the largest allocation of working capital to fund inventory has been
approximately $39 million. In addition to the working capital required for inventory, Keyera requires
approximately $30 million to finance the other components of working capital.
The majority of cash flow is derived from the gathering and processing business segment where the long-term
fundamentals are viewed as positive by management. Also, the operating income generated from gathering,
processing and pipeline facilities is not significantly exposed to changes in operating costs due to the nature
of the fee structure. This fee arrangement provides a mechanism for the recovery of operating costs plus a
return on capital.
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The most significant exposure faced by the gathering and processing business is related to declines in
production volumes. With the Partnership’s facilities located in significant natural gas supply areas of the
western Canadian sedimentary basin and the high barriers to entry of new participants, cash flows are
anticipated to remain stable and be sufficient to support operations, fund sustaining capital expenditures and
generate distributable cash. Other risk factors that could affect the financial performance of the Partnership
are listed in the Distributable Cash Flow section of this report.
The Partnership’s future debt levels are primarily dependent on operating cash flows, working capital
requirements and capital investment programs. Management expects the Partnership’s 2005 maintenance
capital expenditures and distributions to be funded by cash flow from operations.
In order for Keyera to manage seasonal fluctuations in cash flow and working capital, fund growth capital
expenditures and stabilize distributions, if required, Keyera has established credit facilities consisting of a
$50 million revolving term facility and a $50 million term facility that mature on or about May 30, 2006. As at
December 31, 2004, $7.5 million had been drawn under these credit facilities. Management expects that upon
maturity of these facilities, adequate replacement facilities will be established. Also, a subsidiary of the
Partnership has an unsecured revolving credit facility in the amount of $7.0 million. As at December 31, 2004,
$4.5 million remain drawn under this credit facility.
On September 30, 2004 KEFL issued $90 million of long-term senior secured notes, through a private
placement to investors in the United States. The proceeds were used to repay short-term debt. The notes bear
interest at 5.23% and mature on October 1, 2009. The Partnership has an additional $125 million of long-term
senior secured notes outstanding. Of that amount, $20 million matures in August 2008 and bears interest at
5.42%, $52.5 million matures in August 2010 and bears interest at 5.79%, and $52.5 million matures in August
2013 and bears interest at 6.155%.
DISTRIBUTABLE CASH FLOW
Keyera pays distributions to its partners on a monthly basis from its distributable cash, as determined in
accordance with the Partnership Agreement. The Partnership’s distributable cash for each month will generally
be all of its cash flow from operations for such month, including dividends received from subsidiaries, after
satisfaction of its debt service obligations (principal and interest), reclamation expenditures, maintenance
capital expenditures, other expense obligations and reasonable reserves for working capital and capital
expenditures as may be considered appropriate by the Board of Directors of the Managing Partner.
In 2004 the Partnership declared $59.5 million of distributions to partners of which $44.1 million was due to
the Fund. Cash available for distribution in 2004 was $78.1 million. The cash flow surplus was due primarily to
the strong performance of the NGL marketing business segment and lower than expected maintenance capital
expenditures. Because marketing operating margins can vary over time, the surplus was not distributed. It was
used as an internal source of financing for growth capital expenditures that will contribute to the generation
of future distributable cash flow.
The business of the Partnership is subject to operational and commercial risks that could adversely affect
future earnings and Distributable Cash Flow. These risks include declines in facilities throughput, operational
problems and hazards, cost overruns, increased competition, regulatory intervention, environmental
considerations, uncertainty of abandonment costs and dependence upon key personnel.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The following table presents selected financial information for the Partnership, restated due to changes in
accounting policies as described in the new accounting pronouncements section later in this report.
For the three months period ended
($000)

Operating revenues:
Facilities – gathering, processing
and pipelines
Marketing sales
Net earnings
Cash distributions

Mar. 31,
2003

Jun. 30,
2003

Sep. 30,
2003

Dec. 31,
2003

Mar. 31,
2004

Jun 30,
2004

Sep. 30,
2004

Dec. 31,
2004

23,212
228,374
12,944
–

24,391
138,275
9,003
168,418

24,676
123,734
7,333
12,179

24,956
143,886
8,569
11,702

23,532
168,983
11,921
11,848

27,752
148,525
9,850
12,162

40,928
235,353
6,757
17,493

43,627
248,717
11,969
17,974

December 31, 2004 compared to September 30, 2004
For the fourth quarter of 2004, operating revenues from facilities were $43.6 million, up $2.7 million from the
previous quarter. The increase was primarily attributable to the flow-through of higher operating and incentive
compensation costs and prior period adjustments.
For the fourth quarter of 2004, marketing revenues of $248.7 million increased $13.4 million from the previous
quarter due to higher NGL sales volumes and prices during the peak winter season. Also, greater volumes of
buy/sell arrangements were done to acquire product for fractionation thereby generating processing fees and
increasing facility utilization.
Net earnings of $12 million were up $5.2 million from the previous quarter. Earnings in the previous quarter
included a non-cash charge of $9.0 million for the write-down of an electrical generator while the fourth
quarter saw higher general and administrative costs, depreciation charges and tax expense.
September 30, 2004 compared to June 30, 2004
For the third quarter of 2004, operating revenues from facilities were $40.9 million, up $13.2 million from the
previous quarter. The increase was primarily attributable to new EnerPro facilities acquired July 2, 2004.
For the third quarter of 2004, marketing revenues of $235.4 million increased $86.8 million from the previous
quarter due to higher NGL sales volumes and prices. Sales volumes increased due to the disposition of
inventories acquired from EnerPro and lower than normal build quantities due to high demand.
Net earnings for the third quarter of 2004 of $6.8 million decreased by $3.1 million due primarily to the
$9 million impairment expense recognized on the electrical generation equipment held for resale and higher
depreciation expense.
Cash distributions of $17.5 million were up $5.3 million due to the increase in the number of units outstanding
at the Fund level. Although net earnings were down due to non cash charges, operating margins were strong
and distributable cash flow were sufficient to fund the increase.
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June 30, 2004 compared to March 31, 2004
For the second quarter of 2004, operating revenues from facilities were $27.8 million, up $4.2 million from the
previous quarter. The increase was primarily attributable to the flow-through of turnaround costs at the
Nordegg River and Gilby plants and prior period adjustments.
For the second quarter of 2004, marketing revenues of $148.5 million decreased by $20.5 million from the
previous quarter due to lower NGL sales volumes partially offset by higher prices.
Net earnings for the second quarter of 2004 of $9.9 million decreased by $2.1 million due primarily to the
unrealized loss on financial instruments and higher general and administrative costs partially offset by lower
interest expense.
March 31, 2004 compared to December 31, 2003
For the first quarter of 2004, operating revenues from facilities were $23.5 million, down $1.4 million from the
previous quarter. The decrease was primarily attributable to lower equalization adjustments than in the
previous quarter.
For the first quarter of 2004, marketing revenues of $169.0 million increased by $25.1 million from the previous
quarter due to higher NGL volumes and prices.
Net earnings for the first quarter of 2004 of $11.9 million increased by $3.4 million due primarily to the strong
performance of the marketing business segment and the unrealized gain on financial instruments.
December 31, 2003 compared to September 30, 2003
For the fourth quarter of 2003, marketing revenues of $143.9 million were up $20.2 million due to higher NGL
sales volumes and prices.
Net earnings for the fourth quarter of 2003 was $8.6 million, up $1.2 million from the previous quarter, due
primarily to the stronger performance from the NGL marketing business.
Distributions for the fourth quarter of 2003 were $11.7 million, down $0.5 million from the previous quarter, as
distributions to KEDCO were reduced as a result of the expiry of the gas marketing contract termination
payments on November 30, 2003.
September 30, 2003 compared to June 30, 2003
For the third quarter of 2003, marketing revenues of $123.7 million were down $14.5 million from the previous
quarter due primarily to the expiry and winding up of natural gas sales contracts.
Net earnings for the third quarter was $7.3 million, down $1.7 million from the previous quarter, due primarily
to higher interest costs. Prior to May 30, 2003, Keyera had no external debt.
Distributions for the third quarter of 2003 were $12.2 million, down $156.2 million from the previous quarter which
included the distributions related to the restructuring of the Partnership prior to its acquisition by the Fund.
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June 30, 2003 compared to March 31, 2003
For the second quarter of 2003, operating revenues from facilities were $24.4 million, up $1.2 million from the
previous quarter. The acquisition of KEFL by Keyera and take-or-pay revenues earned at the Paddle River plant
offset the lower volumes at the Brazeau River plant due to the turnaround at that plant.
For the second quarter of 2003, marketing revenues of $138.3 million were down $90.1 million from the previous
quarter due to lower NGL volumes and prices and the winding-up of the natural gas marketing business.
Net earnings for the second quarter of 2003 was $9.0 million, down $3.9 million from the previous quarter, due
primarily to the strong performance of the NGL marketing business in the first quarter where strong per unit
margins were earned due to lower than average North American inventory levels.
Distributions for the second quarter of 2003 were $168.4 million due primarily to the distributions paid to
KEDCO prior to the Fund’s acquisition of an indirect interest in Keyera.
NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Financial instruments
Effective January 1, 2004, Keyera adopted CICA Accounting Guideline 13, “Hedging Relationships” (“AcG-13”)
and commenced application of the accounting treatment specified in the CICA Emerging Issues Committee
Abstract EIC-128, “Accounting for Trading, Speculative or Non-Hedging Derivative Financial Instruments”
(“EIC-128”).
AcG-13 clarifies the circumstances in which hedge accounting is appropriate and includes the requirements
for the identification, documentation, designation and effectiveness of hedges. The guideline also identifies
situations where hedge accounting is to be discontinued.
EIC-128 requires that all derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting under AcG-13 or are
not designated as a hedge be recorded on the statement of financial position at their fair market value, either
as an asset or liability. Changes in their fair market value are recognized in earnings in the period they occur.
Keyera has applied the criteria of AcG-13 to all financial instruments and discontinued hedge accounting for
those that do not meet the effectiveness criteria of the guideline. At January 1, 2004, Keyera recorded an
unrealized loss of $0.3 million in deferred charges on the consolidated statement of financial position that is
being recognized in earnings over the life of the previously designated hedged items. The effect of these
contracts on earnings for the year ended December 31, 2004 was nil.
General accounting principles
In July 2003, the CICA approved section 1100, “General Accounting Principles” effective for fiscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2004. As a result, Keyera began expensing significant turnaround costs
commencing January 1, 2004. For the year ended December 31, 2003 these costs were capitalized and
depreciated over the estimated period until the next scheduled significant turnaround, which ranged from two
to four years.
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This change in accounting policy has been applied retroactively and resulted in a decrease in net property,
plant and equipment of approximately $4.7 million and a decrease in partners’ equity of approximately $4.7
million on January 1, 2004. The impact of this new accounting pronouncement on the consolidated statement
of earnings for the year ended December 31, 2003, had it been adopted on January 1, 2003, would have been a
reduction in net earnings of $2.4 million. There would have been no change to Distributable Cash Flow in the
year, as the reduction in net earnings of approximately $2.4 million and the reduction of depreciation and
amortization expense of $1.5 million would have been offset by the decrease in property, plant and equipment
of $3.9 million.
This change in accounting policy is expected to introduce volatility to earnings, as turnaround costs will vary
depending on the number and timing of plant turnarounds in a particular period. Distributable Cash Flow will
be unaffected, as maintenance capital which prior to 2004, included turnaround costs, was deducted when
calculating Distributable Cash Flow.
Asset retirement obligation
The Partnership has retroactively adopted the Canadian accounting standard outlined in the CICA Handbook
section 3110, “Asset Retirement Obligations.” Under the new section, the fair value of estimated asset
retirement obligations is recognized in the period in which they are incurred if a reasonable estimate of a
fair value can be determined. Asset retirement obligations include those legal obligations where the
Partnership will be required to retire tangible long-lived assets such as gathering and processing facilities as
well as other items.
The asset retirement cost, deemed to be the fair value of the asset retirement obligation, is capitalized as part
of the cost of the related long-lived asset and allocated to expense on a basis consistent with depreciation and
amortization. Amortization of asset retirement costs is included in depreciation and amortization in the
consolidated statement of earnings. Increases in the asset retirement obligations resulting from the passage of
time are recorded as accretion expense in the consolidated statement of earnings, over the estimated time
period until settlement of the obligation. Actual expenditures incurred are charged against the accumulated
asset retirement obligation.
The Partnership previously estimated costs of site restoration and abandonment and recorded them into
earnings based on the estimated life of the asset and accumulated a liability on the consolidated statement of
financial position. Upon adoption, all prior periods have been restated for the change in accounting policy.
The change resulted in a decrease in net earnings of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.
The effect of this change on the December 31, 2003 consolidated statement of financial position was an
increase in assets of $1.6 million, an increase in liabilities of $4.5 million and a decrease in retained earnings
of $2.9 million.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE PARTNERS OF
KEYERA ENERGY PARTNERSHIP:

We have audited the consolidated statements of financial position of Keyera Energy Partnership as at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the consolidated statements of earnings and partners’ equity and cash
flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the management of
Keyera Energy Management Ltd. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Keyera Energy Partnership as at December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Calgary, Canada
March 4, 2005
Chartered Accountants
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
2004
$

As at December 31 (All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2003
$
(restated – note 3)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other current assets (note 14)

10,518
154,247
26,142
2,807

6,367
120,472
27,458
3,996

Property, plant and equipment (note 5)
Asset held for sale (note 6)
Long-term investments (note 7)
Intangible assets (note 8)
Note receivable from affiliate (note 14)
Future income tax asset (note 11)
Other asset

193,714
865,595
4,735
–
40,551
70,016
–
–

158,293
556,043
–
13,095
7,770
–
3,900
13,716

1,174,611

752,817

LIABILITIES AND UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Distribution payable
Other current liabilities (note 14)
Current portion of long-term debt (note 9)

137,387
5,929
3,700
12,000

96,115
3,689
457
23,500

Long-term debt (note 9)
Asset retirement obligation (note 10)
Future income tax liability (note 11)

159,016
215,000
24,188
27,345

123,761
125,000
10,829
–

425,549

259,590

70,005
2,000

–
–

661,988
15,069

478,158
15,069

677,057

493,227

1,174,611

752,817

Preferred partnership interest (notes 5 and 14)
Non-controlling interest (note 7)
Partners’ equity
Partners’ equity
Related party transaction adjustment

Commitments and contingencies (note 16)
SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Approved on behalf of the Partnership by its managing partner, KEYERA Energy Management Ltd. (formerly KeySpan Canada Management Ltd.):

WESLEY R. TWISS
Director

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

JAMES V. BERTRAM
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS AND PARTNERS’ EQUITY

For the years ended December 31 (All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2004
$

2003
$
(restated – note 3)

Operating revenues
Marketing sales
Facilities – gathering, processing and pipelines
Operating expenses
Marketing cost of goods sold
Facilities – gathering, processing and pipelines

General and administrative
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense (note 6)
Accretion expense (note 10)
Equity earnings from investments (notes 7 and 14)

801,578
135,839

634,269
97,235

937,417

731,504

762,522
67,477

609,869
51,471

829,999

661,340

107,418
15,768
9,997
26,682
8,981
1,425
(1,444)

70,164
9,405
3,524
20,178
–
690
(1,086)

61,409

32,711

Earnings before tax and non-controlling interest
Income tax expense (recovery) (note 11)

46,009
4,989

37,453
(396)

Earnings before non-controlling interest
Non-controlling interest (note 7)

41,020
523

37,849
–

Net earnings
Partners’ equity, beginning of year
Capital contribution (notes 4 and 5)
Partners’ distributions (notes 4 and 12)
Change in accounting policies (note 3)

40,497
478,158
202,810
(59,477)
–

37,849
630,278
7,306
(192,298)
(4,977)

Partners’ equity, end of year

661,988

478,158

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31 (All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2004
$

2003
$
(restated – note 3)

Net inflow (outflow) of cash:
Operating activities
Net earnings
Items not affecting cash:
Non-controlling interest
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Accretion expense
Equity earnings from investments
Future income tax expense (recovery) (note 11)
Asset retirement obligation expenditures
Gain on sale of asset and investment

40,497

37,849

523
26,682
8,981
1,425
(1,444)
3,338
(186)
–

–
20,178
–
690
(1,086)
(520)
(304)
(235)

Changes in non-cash working capital (note 17)

79,816
18,576

56,572
31,478

98,392

88,050

(29,799)
(13,042)
(3,380)
4,996
–
–
919

(16,005)
(2,021)
–
–
748
1,460
2,038

(40,306)

(13,780)

90,000
(16,000)
(70,016)
(568)
(114)
(57,237)

125,000
23,500
(31,442)
(1,215)
103
(188,609)

(53,935)

(72,663)

4,151
6,367

1,607
4,760

10,518

6,367

Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (note 5)
Acquisitions (note 5)
Working capital acquired on acquisitions
Cash and debt acquired on acquisitions
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on sale of investments
Dividends on investments

Financing activities
Issuance of long-term debt (note 9)
(Repayment) issuance of current portion of debt
Note receivable and promissory note (note 14)
Deferred financing costs (note 9)
Changes in non-cash working capital
Distributions paid
Increase in cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEE NOTE 17 FOR CASH INTEREST AND TAXES PAID
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the years ended december 31, 2004 and 2003
(All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where otherwise noted)

1.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Keyera Energy Partnership (the “Partnership” or “Keyera”, formerly KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership) is a
general partnership established under the laws of the province of Alberta. The Partnership and its subsidiaries
are managed by Keyera Energy Management Ltd. (“KEML” or the “Managing Partner”, formerly KeySpan
Canada Management Ltd.) Keyera’s business consists of natural gas gathering and processing, as well as
natural gas liquids (“NGL”) processing, transportation, storage and marketing.
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Partnership, and its subsidiaries, Keyera
Energy Facilities Limited (“KEFL”, formerly KeySpan Energy Facilities Limited), Keyera Energy Ltd. (“KEL”,
formerly KeySpan Energy Canada Company) and Rimbey Pipe Line Co. Ltd. (“Rimbey Pipe Line”) and are
presented in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Investments in companies
in which the Partnership does not have direct or joint control over the strategic, investing, and financing
decisions, but does have significant influence, are accounted for using the equity method.
Joint ventures
Substantially all natural gas and NGL processing activities are conducted jointly with others, and accordingly
these financial statements reflect only the Partnership’s proportionate interest in such activities.
Measurement uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These include the recoverability of assets and the amounts recorded
for depreciation, amortization, and asset retirement obligations, which depend on estimates of oil and gas
reserves or the economic lives and future cash flows from related assets. The recognized amounts of such items
are based on management’s best information and judgment.
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Revenue recognition
Marketing revenue
Revenue from the sale of natural gas and natural gas liquids is recognized based on volumes delivered to
customers at contractual delivery points and rates. Gains and losses relating to financial instruments that are
used to manage commodity price fluctuations are recognized on the settlement date.
Gathering, processing and pipeline revenue
Gathering, processing and pipeline revenue is recognized through fixed fee arrangements or flow through
arrangements that are designed to recover operating costs and provide the Partnership a return on its capital.
Amounts collected in excess of the recoverable amounts are recorded as a current liability. Recoverable
amounts in excess of the amounts collected are recorded as a current receivable.
Foreign currency translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates in effect at
the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at rates of exchange in effect at the transaction
date. Exchange gains and losses are recorded in income in the period they are incurred.
Stock-based compensation
A Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) was adopted to compensate officers, directors, key employees and
consultants, which is disclosed in note 13. The LTIP is a stock appreciation right as defined by the CICA
Handbook section 3870. The difference between the market price of the trust units and the grant price for the
outstanding units multiplied by the number of rights is recognized as compensation expense, over the vesting
period. Fluctuations in the price of the trust units will change the accrued compensation expense and are
recognized when they occur.
Financial instruments
Price swaps and option agreements are utilized by the Partnership to mitigate its exposure to fluctuations in
the price of natural gas, natural gas liquids and electricity. Forward currency exchange contracts and swaps are
utilized to mitigate exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. If hedging accounting criteria are met
(described below), gains and losses on these instruments are deferred and recognized in earnings in the same
period as the hedged item. The fair value of financial instruments qualifying for hedge accounting are not
recorded on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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To be accounted for as a hedge, a financial instrument must be designated and documented as a hedge and
must be effective at inception and on an on-going basis. The documentation defines the relationships between
the hedging items and the hedged items and documents the objectives and strategies for undertaking various
hedge transactions. The process includes linking financial instruments to specific anticipated transactions.
The Partnership also formally assesses, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, whether
the instrument used is highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows or fair values of the hedged item.
Hedge effectiveness is achieved if the cash flows from the hedging item substantially offset the cash flows of
the hedged item and the timing of the cash flows is similar or if changes in the fair value of the financial
instrument substantially offset changes in the fair value of the related asset or liability. If the above hedge
accounting criteria are not met, the financial instrument is recorded on the statement of financial position at
fair value and the initial fair value and subsequent changes in fair value are recorded in earnings in the period
of change.
If a financial instrument that has been accorded hedge accounting matures, expires, is sold, terminated or
cancelled and is not replaced as part of the Partnership’s hedging strategy, the termination gain or loss is
deferred and recognized when the gain or loss on the hedged item is recognized. If a designated hedged
item matures, expires, is sold, extinguished or terminated and the hedged item is no longer probable of
occurring, any previously deferred amounts associated with the hedging item are recognized in current
earnings along with the corresponding gains or losses recognized on the hedged item. If a hedging relationship
is terminated or ceases to be effective, hedge accounting is not applied to subsequent gains or losses. Any
previously deferred amounts are carried forward and recognized in earnings in the same period as the
underlying hedged item.
Income taxes
The Partnership follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, the
Partnership records the future income tax basis of an asset or liability, using the substantially enacted income
tax rates. Accumulated future income tax balances are adjusted to reflect a change in the income tax rates and
the adjustment is recognized in earnings in the period in which the change occurs.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include short-term investments with maturity of three months or less when purchased.
Inventory
Inventory is comprised primarily of NGL product for sale through the marketing operations. Inventory is
valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average cost basis,
calculated monthly.
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Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist of natural gas processing and gathering systems and NGL processing,
storage and transportation facilities, which were recorded at cost. Depreciation of these facilities is provided
for on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each facility, the periods of which range from eight
to thirty-five years. Impairment on property, plant and equipment is measured as the amount by which the
carrying value of an asset or asset group exceeds its fair value, as determined by the discounted future cash
flows of the asset or asset group.
Long-term investments
Investments in companies over which the Partnership has significant influence are accounted for using the
equity method. Other long-term investments are accounted for using the cost method. Impairment is
recognized when there has been a permanent decline in value of the investment.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of the marketing business contributed by the partners when the Partnership was first
formed and the marketing business contracts acquired on business combinations. These assets have been
recorded at their fair market value as at the time of contribution and acquisition. These amounts are being
amortized over their estimated economic life. The unamortized balance of these costs is assessed periodically
for impairment based on management’s best estimates of future net revenues from marketing operations.
Intangible assets also consist of deferred financing costs and goodwill. Amortization of deferred financing
costs is provided for on a straight-line basis over the weighted average term of the related debt offering.
The goodwill resulted from the acquisition of EnerPro Midstream Company. Annually, management assesses
goodwill, and its potential impairment, on a reporting unit basis by determining whether the balance
of goodwill can be recovered through the estimated discounted operating cash flows of each reporting unit
over their remaining life.
Distributions to partners
The amount of distributions to partners to be distributed monthly is defined in the Partnership Agreement.
The computation of the distributions to partners is comprised of cash flow from operations (including
dividends received from subsidiaries), after (i) satisfaction of its debt service obligations (principal and
interest) and income tax and large corporations tax expenses; (ii) satisfaction of funding requirements in
respect of any reclamation fund; (iii) providing for maintenance capital expenditures; (iv) satisfaction of its
other expense obligations including general and administrative expenses and those relating to incentive
compensation; and (v) retaining reasonable reserves for administrative and other expense obligations and
reasonable reserves for working capital and capital expenditures as may be considered appropriate by the
Board of Directors of the Managing Partner. Distributable Cash Flow, as defined above, is not a measure under
Canadian GAAP and there is no standardized measure of distributable cash flow. Distributable Cash Flow, as
presented, may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities.
Comparative figures
Certain amounts in the 2003 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year
financial statement presentation.
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3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General accounting principles
In July 2003, the CICA approved section 1100, “General Accounting Principles” effective for fiscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2004. As a result, the Partnership began expensing significant turnaround
costs commencing January 1, 2004. For the year ended December 31, 2003 these costs were capitalized and
depreciated over the estimated period until the next scheduled significant turnaround, which ranged from two
to four years.
This change in accounting policy has been applied retroactively and resulted in a decrease in net property,
plant and equipment of approximately $4,651 and a decrease in partners’ equity of approximately $4,651 on
January 1, 2004. The impact of this new accounting pronouncement on the consolidated statement of earnings
for the year ended December 31, 2003, had it been adopted on January 1, 2003, would be a reduction in net
earnings of $2,396. There would have been no change to distributable cash flow in the year, as the reduction in
net earnings of $2,396 are offset by the decrease in property, plant and equipment of $3,922.
Asset retirement obligation
Effective January 1, 2004, the Partnership has retroactively adopted the Canadian accounting standard
outlined in the CICA Handbook section 3110, “Asset Retirement Obligations”. Under the new section, the fair
value of estimated asset retirement obligations are recognized in the period in which they are incurred if a
reasonable estimate of a fair value can be determined. Asset retirement obligations include those legal
obligations where Keyera will be required to retire tangible long-lived assets such as gathering and processing
facilities as well as items for which the Partnership has made a promissory estoppel.
The asset retirement cost, deemed to be the fair value of the asset retirement obligation, is capitalized as part
of the cost of the related long-lived asset and allocated to expense on a basis consistent with depreciation and
amortization. Amortization of asset retirement costs is included in depreciation and amortization in the
consolidated statement of earnings. Increases in the asset retirement obligation resulting from the passage of
time are recorded as accretion expense in the consolidated statement of earnings, over the estimated time
period until settlement of the obligation. Actual expenditures incurred are charged against the accumulated
asset retirement obligation.
The Partnership previously estimated costs of site restoration and abandonment and recorded them into
earnings based on the estimated life of the asset and accumulated a liability on the consolidated statement of
financial position. Upon adoption of the new standard, all prior periods have been restated for the change in
accounting policy.
The change resulted in a decrease in net earnings of $193 for the year ended December 31, 2003. The effect of
this change on the December 31, 2003 consolidated statement of financial position was an increase in assets
of $1,611, an increase in liabilities of $4,526 and a decrease in retained earnings of $2,915.
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Hedging relationships
Effective January 1, 2004, Keyera adopted CICA Accounting Guideline 13, “Hedging Relationships” (“AcG-13”)
and commenced application of the accounting treatment specified in the CICA Emerging Issues Committee
Abstract EIC-128, “Accounting for Trading, Speculative or Non-Hedging Derivative Financial Instruments”
(“EIC-128”).
AcG-13 clarifies the circumstances in which hedge accounting is appropriate and includes the requirements
for the identification, documentation, designation and effectiveness of hedges. The guideline also identifies
situations where hedge accounting is to be discontinued.
EIC-128 requires that all financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting under AcG-13 or are
not designated as a hedge be recorded on the statement of financial position at their fair value, either as an
asset or liability. Changes in their fair value are recognized in earnings in the period they occur.
Keyera has applied the criteria of AcG-13 to all financial instruments and discontinued hedge accounting for
those that do not meet the effectiveness criteria of the guideline. At January 1, 2004, Keyera recorded an
unrealized loss of $310 in deferred charges on the consolidated statement of financial position that is being
recognized in earnings in the same period as the underlying hedged items. The effect of these contracts on
earnings for the year ended December 31, 2004 was an unrealized loss of nil (2003 – nil).
4.

REORGANIZATION

On May 30, 2003 (the “Closing”), the ownership of Keyera Energy Partnership was restructured in accordance
with the terms of an Initial Public Offering (the “Initial Public Offering”) of Keyera Facilities Income Fund (the
“Fund”, formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund).
The Fund is an unincorporated open-ended trust established under the laws of the Province of Alberta that
was created to acquire an indirect interest in the Partnership from KeySpan Energy Development Co.
(“KEDCO”). On Closing, the Fund acquired approximately a 34.5% interest in the Partnership for cash
consideration of $139,368. On June 10, 2003, an additional 4.6% interest was acquired for cash consideration
of $18,849. As at December 31, 2003, KEDCO and the Fund had interests of approximately 60.9% and 39.1%,
respectively. As at December 31, 2004, the Fund indirectly owns 100% of the Partnership.
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On May 29, 2003, before the Closing, the following transactions were completed:
(a) The Partnership acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares of KEFL, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
KEDCO, in exchange for a $7,287 capital contribution in the Partnership. The transaction has been
recorded in the consolidated financial statements at the carrying amount of KEFL’s assets and liabilities as
shown on the following table. The difference between the capital contribution and the carrying values, of
$8,068, has been credited to related party transaction adjustment. The results of KEFL’s operations have
been included in the consolidated financial statements since that date. KEFL provides gas processing and
fractionation services and held a 40.606% beneficial interest in Rimbey Pipe Line.
The carrying values of KEFL’s assets and liabilities as at May 29, 2003 were:
$

Current assets
Investment in Rimbey Pipe Line
Property, plant and equipment
Future income tax asset
Current liabilities
Notes payable
Future site restoration provision

8,355
12,027
30,967
580
(4,979)
(31,442)
(153)
15,355

(b) The Partnership also acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares of KEL, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of KEDCO, in exchange for a $20 capital contribution in the Partnership. The transaction has
been recorded in these financial statements at the carrying value of KEL’s assets and liabilities. The
difference between the capital contribution and the carrying value has been charged to related party
transaction adjustment.
(c) The Partnership distributed $164,407 to KEDCO and its subsidiaries.
(d) On May 29, 2003, the Partnership transferred certain capital assets to KEFL at cost, in exchange for shares
in KEFL. The transaction has been recorded at the carrying amount of the asset which is $32,949. The
future income tax impact of the difference between the shares in KEFL and the carrying amount, of
$2,804, has been credited to related party transaction adjustment.
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5.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost
$

Accumulated
Depreciation
$

Net Book
Value
$

Balance, December 31, 2002
Additions, net
Acquisition
Depreciation

591,770
19,154
34,852
–

(61,932)
19
(3,885)
(20,895)

529,838
19,173
30,967
(20,895)

Balance, December 31, 2003
Change in accounting policies (note 3)

645,776
(6,396)

(86,693)
3,356

559,083
(3,040)

Balance, December 31, 2003 (restated)
Additions, net
Acquisitions
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment
through investment (note 7)
Depreciation

639,380
30,393
262,236

(83,337)
–
–

556,043
30,393
262,236

52,425
–

(10,496)
(25,006)

41,929
(25,006)

Balance, December 31, 2004

984,434

(118,839)

865,595

During 2004, $78 of general and administrative costs (2003 – $70) relating to certain capital projects were capitalized.
Acquisitions
On June 29, 2004, the Partnership acquired 100% of El Paso Velvet Processing Limited Partnership from whollyowned subsidiaries of El Paso Corporation, for an aggregate purchase price of $7,000, plus an adjustment for
net working capital and transaction costs. The El Paso Velvet Processing Limited Partnership owned 100% of
the Caribou gas plant, associated gathering pipelines and related acid gas disposal infrastructure.
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
date of acquisition. The results of operations have been included in the consolidated statement of earnings
effective July 1, 2004.
$

Net working capital
Property, plant and equipment
Asset retirement obligation

548
7,650
(1,012)
7,186
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On July 2, 2004, the Fund contributed the assets of EnerPro Midstream Company (“EnerPro”) to the
Partnership and KEFL for a total of $272,815, in exchange for $70,005 of preferential partnership interest and
$202,810 of capital contribution in the Partnership, thereby increasing the Fund’s indirect interest in the
Partnership from 75% to 82.6%. Working capital adjustments and transaction costs in addition to the
contribution amount of $272,815 were incurred directly by the Partnership and capitalized to property,
plant and equipment. The acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination and was allocated
as follows:
$

Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Future income tax liability
Asset retirement obligation

8,861
270,086
25,715
8,174
(25,715)
(8,765)
278,356

6.

ASSET HELD FOR SALE

The Partnership held a 50% interest in an electrical generator at a cost of $13,716 and categorized it as other
asset on the statement of financial position at December 31, 2003. In 2004, the Partnership concluded its
review of project opportunities for this equipment and chose not to proceed with putting it into service.
Accordingly, the equipment was written down to its estimated net realizable value of $4,735 and classified as
asset held for sale at December 31, 2004.
7.

LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

Prior to the acquisition of EnerPro, the Partnership owned a 45.3% interest in Rimbey Pipe Line through its
100% ownership of KEFL. The investment was accounted for using the equity method. The acquisition of
EnerPro added an additional 35.5% interest in Rimbey Pipe Line. Effective July 2, 2004, the results of operations
of Rimbey Pipe Line are consolidated with the remaining non-controlling interest reflected in the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidation required the elimination of the long-term investment and resulted in
an increase in property, plant and equipment of $21,595 on July 2, 2004.
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8.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2004
$

2003
$

Goodwill
Other intangible assets (a)
Deferred financing costs (note 9(e))

25,715
13,298
1,538

–
6,609
1,161

Intangible assets

40,551

7,770

As at December 31

(a) Other intangible assets consist of the marketing business contributed by the Partners when the
Partnership was first formed and the marketing business of EnerPro acquired on July 2, 2004 (see note 5).
The unamortized balance of the intangible assets is assessed periodically for impairment based on
management’s best estimates of future net revenues from marketing operations and is being amortized
over the remaining economic life of four to nine years.
9.

LONG-TERM DEBT
2004
$

2003
$

Bank credit facilities (a)
Senior secured notes (b & c)
Revolving demand loan (d)

7,500
215,000
4,500

23,500
125,000
–

Less: current portion of long-term debt

227,000
(12,000)

148,500
(23,500)

Long-term debt

215,000

125,000

As at December 31

(a) The Partnership has a $100,000 revolving credit facility with certain Canadian financial institutions led by
the Royal Bank of Canada, under two separate tranches. Each of the two $50,000 tranches matures on or
about May 27, 2006, unless extended, with one facility having a one year revolving term and the other a
two year revolving term. In addition, the Royal Bank of Canada has provided a $10,000 revolving demand
facility. The revolving credit facilities bear interest based on the lenders’ rates for Canadian prime
commercial loans or Bankers’ Acceptances rates. The weighted average interest rate for the year ended
December 31, 2004 was 4.41% (2003 – 4.82%). Security is shared on a pari passu basis with the lenders
under the bank credit facilities and the senior secured notes issued in 2003 and 2004. As at December 31,
2004, the balance outstanding on the bank credit facilities was $7,500 ($23,500 as at December 31, 2003).
(b) The $125,000 of senior secured notes issued in 2003 consist of three parts: Series A of $52,500 due in 2010,
bearing interest at 5.79%, Series B of $52,500 due in 2013, bearing interest at 6.155%, and $20,000 due in
2008, bearing interest at 5.42%. Interest is payable monthly. Security is shared on a pari passu basis with
the lenders under the bank credit facilities and the senior secured notes issued in 2004. Financing costs of
$1,215 were incurred to complete the 2003 senior secured notes issue. These costs have been deferred and
are amortized over the remaining terms of the related debt. Amortization expense of $163 has been
recorded for the year ended December 31, 2004 (2003 – $54).
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(c) On September 30, 2004, $90,000 of senior secured notes were issued by KEFL. The notes bear interest
at 5.23% and mature on October 1, 2009. Proceeds of the issue were used to repay short-term debt
incurred for the acquisition of EnerPro. Interest is payable semi-annually. Security is shared on a pari
passu basis with the lender under the bank credit facilities and the senior secured notes issued in 2003.
Financing costs of $568 were incurred to complete the issue. These costs have been deferred and are
amortized over the term of the notes. Amortization expense of $28 has been recorded for the year ended
December 31, 2004.
(d) A subsidiary of the Partnership has an unsecured revolving demand loan facility with a major Canadian
chartered bank in the amount of $7,000, of which $4,500 remains as at December 31, 2004. Borrowings
under the loan facility bear interest based on the lender’s rate for Canadian prime commercial loans
or Bankers’ Acceptances rates. The weighted average interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2004
was 3.76%.
(e) Deferred financing costs as at December 31:
2004
$

2003
$

998
540

1,161
–

1,538

1,161

Deferred financing costs, net (b)
Deferred financing costs, net (c)

10. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION
The following table presents the reconciliation between the beginning and ending aggregate carrying amount
of the obligation associated with the retirement of the gathering and processing facilities.
2004
$

For the year ended:

2003
$

Asset retirement obligation, January 1, 2004, as restated (note 3)
Liabilities incurred
Liabilities acquired
Liabilities settled
Revisions in estimated cash flows
Accretion expense

10,829
–
11,581
(186)
539
1,425

9,802
641
–
(304)
–
690

Asset retirement obligation, December 31, 2004

24,188

10,829

The total undiscounted amount of cash flows required to settle the asset retirement obligations is $81,575
($48,914 as at December 31, 2003), which has been discounted using a credit-adjusted risk-free rate of 7%. The
majority of these obligations are expected to be settled between 2018 and 2038. No assets have been legally
restricted for settlement of the liability.
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11. INCOME TAXES
The following is a reconciliation of income taxes, calculated at the combined federal and provincial income tax
rate, to the income tax provision included in the consolidated statement of earnings.
2004
$

2003
$

Earnings before income tax and non-controlling interest
Less: Non-taxable income attributable to the Partnership

46,009
32,726

37,453
36,802

Taxable earnings

13,283

651

Income tax at statutory rate of 38.62% (2003 – 37.79%)
Equity earnings and dividends excluded from taxable income
Resource allowance
Rate differences in subsidiaries
Adjustments to tax pool balances
Rate adjustment on opening balances
Other
Large corporation tax

5,130
(1,448)
(340)
(420)
1,536
372
(41)
200

246
(410)
(366)
–
–
–
10
124

4,989

(396)

Classified as:
Current
Future

1,651
3,338

124
(520)

Income tax expense (recovery)

4,989

(396)

Components of the current income tax expense include $200 of large corporation tax in KEFL and current
income tax expense of $1,446 from Rimbey Pipe Line from July 2 to December 31, 2004.
For income tax purposes the subsidiaries of the Partnership have non-capital losses carried forward of
approximately $5,503 at December 31, 2004 (2003 – $12,920) which are available to offset income of specific
entities of the consolidated group in future periods. The non-capital losses carried forward will expire at
various times to the end of 2007.
The future income tax (liability) asset relates to the difference in the carrying values and tax bases as follows:
2004
$

As at December 31

2003
$

Property, plant and equipment
Investments
Intangible assets
Asset retirement obligation
Non-capital losses carried forward
Other

(30,017)
–
(117)
1,251
1,960
(422)

(922)
(186)
(60)
60
5,416
(408)

Future income tax (liability) asset

(27,345)

3,900
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12. DISTRIBUTABLE CASH FLOW
The amount of Distributable Cash Flow, as defined in the Partnership Agreement, will generally be, on a
monthly basis, the Partnership’s cash flow from operations for such month (including dividends received from
subsidiaries), after (i) satisfaction of its debt service obligations (principal and interest) and income tax and
large corporations tax expenses; (ii) satisfaction of funding requirements in respect of any reclamation fund;
(iii) providing for maintenance capital expenditures; (iv) satisfaction of its other expense obligations including
general and administrative expenses and those relating to incentive compensation; and (v) retaining
reasonable reserves for administrative and other expense obligations and reasonable reserves for working
capital and capital expenditures as may be considered appropriate by the Board of Directors of the Managing
Partner. In 2003, KEDCO’s share of Distributable Cash Flow also included 100% of the net receipts (or payments)
for contracts entered into regarding termination of certain natural gas services and an electricity hedge.
Distributable Cash Flow, as defined above, is not a measure under Canadian GAAP and there is no
standardized measure of Distributable Cash Flow. Distributable Cash Flow, as presented, may not be
comparable to similar measures presented by other entities.
The Partnership makes monthly distributions to its partners of record on the last day of each month. Payments
are made on or about the 15th day of the following month.
The following table calculates the distributable cash flow under the terms of the Partnership Agreement:
For the twelve
months ended
December 31, 2004
$

For the period from
May 30 to
December 31, 2003
$
(restated – note 3)

Net earnings
Add (deduct):
Non-controlling interest
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Accretion expense
Equity earnings from investments
Dividends received from investments
Future income tax expense (recovery)
Gain on sale of asset and investment
Asset retirement obligation expenditures
Maintenance capital
Non-controlling interest distributable cash flow

40,497

19,226

523
26,682
8,981
1,425
(1,444)
1,132
3,338
–
(186)
(2,326)
(551)

–
12,223
–
414
(1,086)
2,038
(520)
(235)
(184)
(5,515)
–

Cash available for distribution for the period

78,071

26,361

Distributions to partners:

59,477

27,891

To subsidiaries of the Fund
To the Managing Partner
To KEDCO and its wholly-owned entity
To KEDCO, electricity hedge and gas services contract

44,067
3
15,407
–

10,805
1
16,838
247

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

58

2004 FINANCIAL REPORT

Keyera 2004 Financial MARCH 15

3/15/05

7:57 PM

Page 59

KEYERA ENERGY PARTNERSHIP
(Formerly KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership)

13. COMPENSATION PLANS
In 2003, a Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP” or the “Plan”) was adopted that compensates officers,
directors, key employees and consultants by issuing units of the Fund or paying cash in lieu of units. The Plan
permits the directors of KEML to authorize the grant of unit awards from time to time. A maximum of 1,300,000
units have been specified for issue from treasury under the Plan. Participants in the LTIP are granted rights
(“unit awards”) to receive units of the Fund on specified dates in the future.
The Plan consists of two types of unit awards, which are described below. Management accounts for unit
awards and the issuance of units under the Plan in accordance with the intrinsic value method of accounting
for stock-based compensation. The aggregate compensation cost recorded for the Plan was $3,028 for the year
ended December 31, 2004 (2003 – $588).
(a) Performance Unit Awards
The Performance Unit Awards vest 100% on the third anniversary of each grant date, July 1, 2003 and July 1,
2004. The number of units to be issued is determined by the financial performance of the Fund over the threeyear period. The number of units to be issued will be calculated by multiplying the number of unit awards by
an adjustment ratio and a payout multiplier. The adjustment ratio increases the number of units to be issued
to reflect the per unit cash distributions paid by the Fund to its unitholders during the term that the unit award
is outstanding. The payout multiplier is based upon the actual three-year average annual cash distributions
per unit of the Fund. The table below describes the relationship between the three-year average annual cash
distribution per unit and the payout multiplier.

First range
Second range
Third range

July 1, 2003 Grant
three-year average
annual cash distribution
per unit

July 1, 2004 Grant
three-year average
annual cash distribution
per unit

Payout

Less than $1.09
1.09 to 1.18
1.19 to 1.38
1.39 and greater

Less than $1.15
1.15 to 1.22
1.23 to 1.38
1.39 and greater

Nil
50% – 99%
100% – 199%
200%

As of December 31, 2004, 294,262 Performance Unit Awards were outstanding: 125,400 were granted on July 1,
2003 and 168,862 were granted on July 1, 2004. The compensation cost recorded for these units was $2,029
for the year ended December 31, 2004 (2003 – $301), using the closing market price of a unit of the Fund on
January 4, 2005.
(b) Time Vested Unit Awards (“Restricted Unit Awards”)
Restricted Unit Awards will vest automatically, over a three-year period from the effective date of the award on
July 1, 2003 and July 1, 2004, regardless of the performance of the Fund. The number of units to be issued will
be increased by an adjustment ratio which reflects the per unit distributions paid by the Fund to its unitholders
during the term that the unit award is outstanding.
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As of December 31, 2004, 133,355 Restricted Unit Awards were outstanding, 47,467 from the 2003 grant and
85,888 granted on July 1, 2004. The compensation cost recorded for these units was $999 for the year ended
December 31, 2004 (2003 – $287), using the closing market price of a unit of the Fund on January 4, 2005.
During the year, 14,684 units were issued from treasury and $175 was credited to unitholders’ equity on the
Fund’s balance sheet in respect of the units issued. In addition, the equivalent of 9,049 unit awards were
settled in cash.
14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The following table summarizes the Partnership’s related party transactions:

Operating allocation and NGL revenue
Tariff expense for use of pipeline and NGL purchases
Operating expense and general and administrative cost
Equity earnings from investments
Dividends received from investments

2004
$

2003
$

1,818
3,271
–
1,444
1,132

4,191
6,414
7,566
1,086
2,038

The transactions summarized in the above table were made in the normal course of operations and were
measured at the exchange value or on a cost recovery basis, which represented the amount of consideration
established and agreed to by the related parties. The acquisition of EnerPro described in note 5 added an
additional 35.5% interest in Rimbey Pipe Line, which when combined with the 45.3% investment held by the
Partnership represented an indirect controlling interest. Beginning on July 2, 2004, the transactions with
Rimbey Pipe Line are eliminated upon consolidation to reflect the Partnership’s indirect controlling interest.
The Partnership had the following balances receivable from and due to affiliates and related parties in the
normal course of business reflected in other current assets and other current liabilities:
2004
$

As at December 31:

2003
$

Due from affiliates

1,668

953

Due to affiliates

3,700

457

Note receivable due from affiliates of $70,016 is the result of a loan made by a subsidiary of the Partnership to
EnerPro. The loan is evidenced by a promissory note bearing interest at the subsidiary’s borrowing rate plus
0.1%. The weighted average borrowing rate payable for the year ended December 31, 2004 was 4.44%. There
are no fixed terms of repayment.
On July 2, 2004, the Fund indirectly acquired 100% of the shares of EnerPro and then transferred the assets of
EnerPro to the Partnership. The transaction was accounted for as a capital contribution, at carrying value of
$272,815 to the Partnership by the Fund. For its contribution, the Fund received $70,005 of preferred
partnership interest and an additional 7.6% interest in the Partnership. The preferred partnership interest has
a distribution rate equal to the interest rate paid by EnerPro on its debt, plus 0.10% per annum. Any return of
capital shall reduce the amount of preferred partnership interest by the amount repaid. The purchase price for
the acquisition of EnerPro is disclosed in note 5.
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Partnership enters into contracts to purchase and sell natural gas and natural gas liquids. These contracts
are exposed to commodity price risk between the time contracted volumes are purchased and sold. The
Partnership actively manages this risk by using energy-related futures, forwards, swaps and options and by
balancing physical and financial contracts in terms of volumes, timing of performance and delivery
obligations. Management monitors the Partnership’s exposure to the above risks and regularly reviews its
financial instrument activities and all outstanding positions.
Energy price risk management
The Partnership routinely enters into price swaps and option agreements to mitigate its exposure to
fluctuations in the price of natural gas, natural gas liquids and electricity. Price swap agreements require
payments to (or receipts from) counter parties based on the differential between fixed and variable prices for
commodities. The Partnership routinely enters into forward currency exchange contracts and swaps to
mitigate its exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. The contracts require the exchange of
currencies between counter-parties at previously agreed upon exchange rates. Management monitors the
Partnership’s exposure to the above risks and regularly reviews its use of financial instruments and all
outstanding positions. The fair values of the derivatives listed below represent an estimate of the amount that
the Partnership would receive or pay if these instruments were closed out at the end of the period.
The estimated fair value of all financial instruments is based on quoted market prices and, if not available, on
estimates from third-party brokers or dealers. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, other current assets, notes receivable from affiliates and accounts payable and accrued liabilities
approximates their fair values because the instruments are near maturity or have no fixed repayment terms.
The fair value of the bank credit facilities approximates fair value due to their floating rates of interest.
Carrying
Amount

Notional
Volume

–

63,000 Bbls

$

256

(28)

$ US 12,050

$

(28)

–
–

375,500 Bbls
487,638 Bbls

$ (1,116)
$ 2,421

$

$

2004
Natural gas liquids:
Price swaps (maturing by August 2005)
Currency:
Forward contracts (maturing by March 2005)

$

2003
Natural gas liquids:
Price swaps (maturing by August 2004)
Price swaps (maturing by August 2004)
Currency:
Forward contracts (maturing by March 2004)
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Credit risk
The majority of the Partnership’s accounts receivable are due from entities in the oil and gas industry and are
subject to normal industry credit risks. Concentration of credit risk is mitigated by having a broad domestic
and international customer base. The Partnership evaluates and monitors the financial strength of its
customers in accordance with its credit policy. At December 31, 2004, the accounts receivable from the
Partnership’s two largest customers amounted to approximately 5% of accounts receivable (2003 – 7%).
Revenue from the Partnership’s two largest customers amounted to 13% of total revenue in 2004 (2003 – 17%).
With respect to counter parties for financial instruments used for hedging purposes, the Partnership limits its
credit risk through dealing with recognized futures exchanges or investment grade financial institutions and
by maintaining credit policies which significantly minimize overall counter party credit risk.
Interest rate risk
The Partnership uses fixed and floating debt to finance its operations. The floating rate debt exposes the
Partnership to changes in interest payments as interest rates fluctuate. To manage this exposure, the
Partnership maintains a combination of fixed and floating rate borrowings. At December 31, 2004, fixed rate
borrowings comprised 95% (2003 – 84%) of total debt outstanding. The fair value of the Partnership’s senior
secured fixed rate debt is $222,819. The fair value of the Partnership’s preferential partnership interest is not
materially different than the carrying value of $70,005.
Foreign currency rate risk
The gathering and processing business generated 64% of 2004 operating margin (2003 – 65%) and is not
subject to foreign currency rate risk. All sales and virtually all purchases are denominated in Canadian
dollars. In the NGL marketing business, approximately US$171,091 of 2004 sales were priced in U.S. dollars
(2003 – US$104,390).
16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Partnership is involved in various contractual agreements with ConocoPhillips. The agreements range
from one to fourteen years and comprise the processing of ConocoPhillips’ natural gas and the purchase of
NGL production in the areas specified in the agreements. The purchase prices are based on current period
market prices. The Partnership has lease commitments relating to railway tank cars, vehicles, computer
hardware, office space and natural gas transportation agreements. The estimated annual minimum operating
lease rental payments from these commitments are as follows:
$

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter

7,618
7,457
6,666
4,245
3,026
6,225
35,237
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There are legal actions involving the Partnership for which the ultimate results cannot be ascertained at this
time. Management does not expect the outcome of any of these proceedings to have a material effect on the
financial position or results of operations of the Partnership.
There are no material guarantees outstanding at December 31, 2004.
17. CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL
2004
$

Cash provided by (used in):
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Distribution payable
Other current liabilities

2003
$

(33,775)
1,316
1,189
41,272
2,240
3,243

15,578
(8,424)
37,116
(12,195)
3,689
(3,905)

15,485

31,859

5,217
(2,240)
114

3,411
(3,689)
(103)

Change in non-cash working capital related to operating activities

18,576

31,478

Interest paid
Taxes paid

10,305
1,683

3,487
78

Adjust:
Working capital acquired on business combinations
Change in non-cash working capital related to distributions
Change in non-cash working capital related to financing activities
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18. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Partnership has two reportable segments: Facilities and Marketing. Facilities include natural gas gathering
and processing as well as natural gas liquids processing, transportation, and storage. The marketing business
consists of marketing of by-products recovered from the processing of raw gas, including NGLs and sulphur,
as well as services provided to its customers.
Facilities
$

Marketing
$

Corporate
$

2004
Revenue 1
Intersegment revenue

139,834
(2,551)

801,578
–

–
–

941,412
(2,551)

External revenue
Operating expenses

137,283
(67,477)

801,578
(762,522)

–
–

938,861
(829,999)

General and administrative, interest and other
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Accretion expense

69,806
–
(24,480)
(8,981)
(1,425)

39,056
–
(1,484)
–
–

–
(25,765)
(718)
–
–

108,862
(25,765)
(26,682)
(8,981)
(1,425)

Earnings (loss) before tax and non-controlling interest

34,920

37,572

(26,483)

46,009

Identifiable assets

Total
$

944,783

134,740

95,088

1,174,611

Capital expenditures

28,812

–

987

29,799

2003
Revenue 1
Intersegment revenue

100,141
(1,820)

634,269
–

–
–

734,410
(1,820)

External revenue
Operating expenses

98,321
(51,471)

634,269
(609,869)

–
–

732,590
(661,340)

General and administrative and interest and other
Depreciation and amortization
Accretion expense

46,850
–
(17,909)
(690)

24,400
–
(667)
–

–
(12,929)
(1,602)
–

71,250
(12,929)
(20,178)
(690)

Earnings (loss) before tax and non-controlling interest
Identifiable assets
Capital expenditures
1

28,251

23,733

(14,531)

37,453

622,899

116,316

13,602

752,817

14,631

–

1,374

16,005

Facilities revenue includes equity earnings from investment in Rimbey Pipe Line of $1,444 and $1,086 for years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003 respectively.

Export sales
Revenue from sales of natural gas, NGLs made outside of Canada was $127,998 (2003 – $27,889).
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PROFILE

GLOSSARY

Keyera operates one of the largest natural gas
midstream businesses in Canada.
Our business consists of natural gas gathering

and processing as well as the processing, transportation,
storage and marketing of natural gas liquids (NGLS).

Our gas processing plants and associated facilities are strategically located in the west
central and foothills natural gas production areas of the western Canadian sedimentary
basin. Our NGL infrastructure includes pipelines, terminals and processing and storage
facilities in Edmonton and Fort Saskatchewan, Alberta, a major North American NGL hub.
We market propane, butane and condensate to customers in Canada and the United States.

KEY.UN

A RICH HISTORY OF LEGACY ASSETS

PRE 1998

1998-2003

MAY 2003

JULY 2004

DECEMBER 2004

FEBRUARY 2005

Gulf Canada Resources

Midstream business created.

KeySpan Facilities Income

Chevron Canada legacy

KeySpan Facilities Income

Name is changed to Keyera.

Limited builds and operates

Gulf legacy assets and

Fund is created and listed on

assets acquired through

Fund acquires remaining

The change reflects a new

natural gas processing plants

personnel are transferred

the TSX. Through the initial

purchase of EnerPro

interest in KeySpan Energy

independence, a long-term

to meet growing Canadian

to new midstream entity.

public offering, 17 million

Midstream Company.

Canada Partnership,

commitment and a fresh

production.

KeySpan Corporation acquires

units are issued to purchase

KeySpan Energy Canada

providing unitholders

energy to capture the

the business and name is

a 39% interest in KeySpan

Partnership becomes one

with 100% ownership.

potential of this exciting

changed to KeySpan Energy

Energy Canada Partnership.

of the largest midstream

Canada Partnership.

businesses in Canada.

new era.

acid gas

hydrogen sulphide (H2S) or carbon dioxide (CO2) or a combination of H2S and CO2

acid gas injection

the injection of acid gas into a suitable underground geological formation

bbls and bbls/d

barrels and barrels per day

butane

a natural gas liquid (NGL) with the molecular formula C 4H10

CO 2

carbon dioxide

condensate

a natural gas liquid (NGL) consisting primarily of pentanes and heavier liquids

H2S

hydrogen sulphide

mmcf/d

million cubic feet per day

NGL or NGLs

natural gas liquids, consisting of any one or a combination of propane,
butane and condensate

propane

a natural gas liquid (NGL) with the molecular formula C3H8

raw gas

natural gas before it has been subjected to any processing that may be required
for it to become suitable for sale

NGL mix

NGLs that have been separated from the raw gas but have not yet been subjected
to the processing required to convert them into propane, butane or condensate

sales gas

natural gas that has been treated in a natural gas processing facility and is
suitable for sale

sour gas

natural gas containing more than one percent H2S

sulphur

a yellow mineral extracted from natural gas

sweet gas

natural gas that contains no H2S or less than one percent H2S when produced
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NEW NAME . . . RENEWED COMMITMENT
WWW.KEYERA.COM

The name KEYERA captures the essence of our business.
It recognizes our rich heritage, built on the legacy assets
of Gulf Canada and Chevron Canada, and embraces our
future. With processing facilities located in key producing
areas of the western Canadian sedimentary basin, we
provide key products and services to our customers.
And we are entering a new era as a 100% publicly owned
business, with strong North American natural gas
fundamentals to support continuing growth. In short,
our business can be summed up in a single phrase:

KEY FACILITIES FOR A NEW ERA
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND AND KEYERA ENERGY PARTNERSHIP
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund and KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership)

PROFILE
Keyera operates one of the largest natural gas

midstream businesses in Canada.
Our business consists of natural gas gathering
and processing as well as the processing, transportation,
storage and marketing of natural gas liquids (NGLS).
Our gas processing plants and associated facilities are strategically located in the west central and foothills natural
gas production areas of the western Canadian sedimentary basin. Our NGL infrastructure includes pipelines,
terminals and processing and storage facilities in Edmonton and Fort Saskatchewan, Alberta, a major North
American NGL hub. We market propane, butane and condensate to customers in Canada and the United States.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND AND KEYERA ENERGY PARTNERSHIP
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund and KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership)

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE
The following diagram illustrates the ownership relationship among the parties holding an
interest in Keyera Energy Partnership (formerly KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership) as of
December 31, 2004. Through a series of transactions during 2004, Keyera Facilities Income
Fund (the “Fund”) increased its indirect interest from 39.09% to 100%.

KEY.UN
Unitholders
100%
KEYERA Facilities Income Fund
(the “Fund”)
100%

100%

100%

100%

KEYERA Energy
Management Ltd.
(the “Managing Partner”)

KEYERA Facilities
Commercial Trust
(the “Commercial Trust”)

KEYERA Energy (LP) Ltd.
(“LP General Partners”)

KEYERA Energy (CT) Ltd.

100%

0.005%

0.001%

99.99%

EnerPro Midstream Corp.
(“EnerPro”)

KEYERA Facilities
Limited Partnership
(the “LP”)

30.24%

69.75%

KEYERA Energy Partnership
(“Keyera” or the “Partnership”)
100%

0.005%

KEYERA Energy
Facilities Limited
(“KEFL”)

100%

KEYERA Energy Ltd.

89.3%
Rimbey Pipe Line Co. Ltd.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND AND KEYERA ENERGY PARTNERSHIP
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund and KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership)

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT
Management is responsible for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles and include amounts that are based on estimates and informed
judgements. Financial information contained throughout this Financial Report is consistent with these
consolidated financial statements.
Management has overall responsibility for internal controls and has developed and maintains a system of
internal controls that provides reasonable assurance that the financial statements realistically report the
Company’s operating and financial results and that the Company’s assets are safeguarded.
Deloitte & Touche, independent external auditors, appointed by the Board of Directors, have independently
examined the enclosed consolidated financial statements. The Audit Committee, consisting of independent
directors, has reviewed the consolidated financial statements with management and the external auditors and
has reported to the Board of Directors. The Board has approved the consolidated financial statements.

JAMES V. BERTRAM
President and Chief Executive Officer

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT

DAVID G. SMITH
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
Management’s discussion and analysis is a review of the results of operations and the liquidity and capital
resources of Keyera Facilities Income Fund (the “Fund”, formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund). It should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Fund for the year ended
December 31, 2004 and the notes thereto.
The Fund was created on April 3, 2003 and began operations on May 30, 2003 with an initial public offering of
trust units, acquiring a 39.1% indirect interest in the Partnership. Pursuant to transactions completed in
connection with the initial public offering, the Partnership acquired Keyera Energy Facilities Limited (“KEFL”,
formerly KeySpan Energy Facilities Limited) and Keyera Energy Ltd. (“KEL”, formerly KeySpan Energy Canada
Company) on May 30, 2003. On April 1, 2004, the Fund completed a second equity offering, utilizing the net
proceeds to acquire an additional interest of 35.9% in the Partnership, bringing the Fund’s ownership
interest to 75%. On July 2, 2004, the Fund indirectly acquired EnerPro Midstream Company (“EnerPro”) and
contributed the assets of EnerPro to Keyera increasing its interest in the Partnership to 82.6%. On December 2,
2004, the Fund completed a fourth equity offering, utilizing the net proceeds to acquire the remaining
17.4% interest in Keyera, bringing the Fund’s ownership interest in Keyera to 100%.
Effective April 1, 2004, the Fund commenced accounting for Keyera on a consolidated basis. Previously, the
Fund accounted for Keyera on an equity basis. Readers are therefore cautioned that certain information
included in the Fund’s financial statements for prior periods may not be directly comparable to that provided
for the current period.
Distributable Cash Flow as defined in note 13 of the Fund is not a standard measure under Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles and therefore may not be comparable with the calculation of similar measures
for other companies.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
For the year ended December 31, 2004, the Fund reported net earnings of $22.7 million or $0.63 per basic
weighted average unit and $0.42 per diluted weighted average unit. These earnings consisted of $4.6 million
related to the Fund’s 39.1% equity interest in the earnings of the Partnership to March 31, 2004 and the Fund’s
interest in the consolidated earnings of the Partnership from April 1 to December 31, 2004.
Also included in the determination of the Fund’s earnings were $0.6 million of general and administrative
expenses, and $3.6 million of interest expense on the Fund’s convertible debentures. The non-controlling
interest of $5.6 million was primarily related to the interest held by KeySpan Energy Development Co.
(“KEDCO”) in the Partnership for the period the Fund was consolidating the earnings of the Partnership,
April 1, 2004 to December 2, 2004.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
The Fund grew significantly in 2004, increasing its interest in the Partnership from 39.1% to 100%. The
incremental interests in the Partnership were acquired from KEDCO, with the value of the Partnership interest
based upon the market price of the Fund’s units. Interest in the Partnership was also indirectly acquired
through the acquisition of EnerPro and the subsequent contribution of EnerPro’s assets in exchange for
partnership interest. The purchases were financed from the proceeds of equity and convertible debt offerings.
A total of 37,213,083 units were issued in three equity offerings for total net proceeds of $438.5 million.
Principal amount of $100 million of 6.75% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures were issued for net
proceeds of $95.7 million.
The convertible debentures were introduced into the financial structure to expand the availability of capital
and reduce the overall cost of capital for the Fund. During the year, $38.2 million of convertible debentures
were converted into 3,186,910 units, bringing the total units outstanding at December 31, 2004 to 57,414,677.
Convertible debentures outstanding at year-end were $61.8 million. Interest of $3.6 million was paid on the
debentures in 2004.
Subsequent to December 31, 2004, a further $7.3 million of convertible debentures were converted into
608,078 trust units, bringing the total units outstanding at March 8, 2005 to 58,022,755. Convertible debentures
outstanding at March 8, 2005 were $54.5 million.
On a consolidated basis, as at December 31, 2004, the Fund had $215 million of senior secured notes outstanding.
These notes mature between 2008 and 2013 and bear interest at rates ranging from 5.23% to 6.155%.
The Fund does not actively operate a business and its cash flow is dependent upon distributions from the
Partnership. The strong financial performance of the Partnership enabled the Fund to raise distributions to
$0.098 per unit per month beginning on June 30, 2004, an increase of 8%. A further 5% increase, effective
January 31, 2005, was announced in November 8, 2004 bringing the monthly distribution per unit to $0.103.
Because of its dependence upon distributions from the Partnership for its cash flow, future distributions of the
Fund are subject to the same risks and uncertainties that affect the underlying business of the Partnership. The
liquidity of the Partnership is discussed later in management’s discussion and analysis of the liquidity and
capital resources of Keyera Energy Partnership.
During 2004, the Fund paid distributions to unitholders of $38.0 million. The Partnership’s cash flow
from operations before changes in non-cash working capital of $79.8 million was sufficient to fund all the
distributions made to the Fund and other partners. No borrowings were required by the Fund or the
Partnership to support the distributions made to unitholders. For Canadian income tax purposes,
distributions made to Canadian unitholders in 2004 were entirely a return of capital.
Standard and Poor’s has assigned the Fund an SR-3 stability rating, indicating the expectation of a high level of
stability in distributions.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE TRUSTEES OF
KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND:

We have audited the consolidated statements of financial position of Keyera Facilities Income Fund as at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the consolidated statements of earnings and unitholders’ equity and cash
flows for the year ended December 31, 2004, and for the period from inception on April 3, 2003 to December
31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the management of Keyera Energy Management
Ltd. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Keyera Facilities Income Fund as at December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2004 and for the period from inception on April 3, 2003 to
December 31, 2003 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Calgary, Canada
March 4, 2005
Chartered Accountants

AUDITORS’ REPORT
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
2004
$

As at December 31 (All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2003
$
(restated – note 3)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other current assets (note 16)

11,843
154,324
26,142
3,600

–
–
–
1,544

195,909

1,544

862,324
4,735
–
83,789

–
–
155,007
–

1,146,757

156,551

LIABILITIES AND UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Distribution payable (note 14)
Current portion of long-term debt (note 8)
Other current liabilities (note 16)

141,290
5,627
12,000
2,192

–
1,544
–
–

Long-term debt (note 8)
Convertible debentures (note 9)
Asset retirement obligation (note 10)
Future income tax liability (note 11)

161,109
215,000
61,757
24,188
70,055

1,544
–
–
–
–

532,109

1,544

2,000

–

635,165
30,325
(52,842)

158,225
7,587
(10,805)

612,648

155,007

1,146,757

156,551

Property, plant and equipment (notes 4 and 5)
Asset held for sale (note 6)
Long-term investments (note 4)
Intangible assets (note 7)

Non-controlling interest (note 4)
Unitholders’ equity
Unitholders’ capital (note 12)
Accumulated earnings
Accumulated distributions to unitholders (notes 13 and 14)

Commitments and contingencies (note 18)
SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Approved on behalf of the Fund by its administrator, KEYERA Energy Management Ltd. (formerly KeySpan Canada Management Ltd.):

WESLEY R. TWISS
Director

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

JAMES V. BERTRAM
Director
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS AND UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except as otherwise noted)

For the year ended
December 31,
2004
$

From inception on April 3
to December 31,
2003
$
(restated – note 3)

Operating revenues
Marketing sales
Facilities – gathering, processing and pipelines

632,595
112,308

–
–

744,903

–

601,328
56,659

–
–

657,987

–

86,916
13,533
11,303
21,512
8,981
1,236
899
(1,749)
(5,258)

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(7,587)

50,457

(7,587)

Earnings before tax and non-controlling interest
Income tax expense (note 11)

36,459
8,164

7,587
–

Earnings before non-controlling interest
Non-controlling interest (note 4)

28,295
5,557

7,587
–

Net earnings
Accumulated earnings, beginning of period

22,738
7,587

7,587
–

Accumulated earnings, end of period (note 3)

30,325

7,587

36,199
40,941

13,357
13,357

0.63
0.55

0.57
0.57

Operating expenses
Marketing cost of goods sold
Facilities – gathering, processing and pipelines

General and administrative
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense (note 6)
Accretion expense (note 10)
Unrealized loss on financial instruments (note 3)
Dilution gain
Equity earnings from investments (note 4)

Weighted average number of units (thousands) (note 12)
– basic
– diluted
Net earnings per unit (note 12)
– basic
– diluted
SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended
December 31,
2004
$

(All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

From inception on April 3
to December 31,
2003
$
(restated – note 3)

Net inflow (outflow) of cash:
Operating activities
Net earnings
Items not affecting cash:
Non-controlling interest
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Accretion expense
Unrealized loss on financial instruments
Dilution gain
Equity earnings from investments
Future income tax expense (note 11)
Asset retirement obligation expenditures (note 10)

22,738

7,587

5,557
21,512
8,981
1,236
899
(1,749)
(5,258)
6,358
(171)

–
–
–
–
–
–
(7,587)
–
–

Changes in non-cash operating working capital

60,103
(12,279)

–
–

47,824

–

(24,659)
(279,826)
(307,732)
(31,454)
19,395
919

–
–
(158,225)
–
–
–

(623,357)

(158,225)

463,354
(24,657)
100,000
97,500
(4,900)
4,631
(37,954)
(10,598)

158,225
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (note 5)
Acquisitions (note 5)
Acquisitions of investments (note 4)
Working capital acquired on acquisitions
Cash and debt acquired on acquisitions (notes 4 and 5)
Dividends on investments

Financing activities
Issuance of trust units (note 12)
Issuance costs on trust units (note 12)
Issuance of convertible debentures (note 9)
Issuance of long-term debt (note 8)
Deferred financing costs (notes 8 and 9)
Distributions received from Partnership
Distributions to unitholders (note 14)
Distributions to others

587,376

158,225

Increase in cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

11,843
–

–
–

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

11,843

–

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEE NOTE 19 FOR CASH INTEREST AND TAXES PAID

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended december 31, 2004
and for the period from inception on april 3 to december 31, 2003
(All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where otherwise noted)

1.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Keyera Facilities Income Fund (the “Fund”, formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund) is an unincorporated
open-ended trust established under the laws of the Province of Alberta pursuant to the Fund Declaration of
Trust dated April 3, 2003. The Fund indirectly owns a 100% interest in Keyera Energy Partnership (“Keyera” or
the “Partnership”, formerly KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership).
The Partnership is involved in the business of gathering and processing, as well as natural gas liquids (“NGL”)
processing, transportation, storage and marketing. Its wholly-owned subsidiaries include Keyera Energy
Facilities Limited (“KEFL”, formerly KeySpan Energy Facilities Limited) and Keyera Energy Ltd. (“KEL”, formerly
KeySpan Energy Canada Company).
The Fund is administered by and the Partnership is managed by Keyera Energy Management Ltd. (“KEML” or
the “Managing Partner”, formerly KeySpan Canada Management Ltd.).
The Fund commenced operations on May 30, 2003, with the initial acquisition of a 39.1% interest in the
Partnership and the Managing Partner. The acquisition of the Fund’s indirect and direct interest in the
Partnership and the Managing Partner respectively, had been accounted for on an equity basis prior to April 1,
2004 (see note 4). On April 1, 2004, the Fund acquired an additional 35.9% interest in the Partnership and the
Managing Partner, giving the Fund a controlling interest of 75% in the Partnership and the Managing Partner.
The controlling interests in the Partnership and the Managing Partner increased to 82.6% on July 2, 2004
through a contribution of assets. On December 2, 2004, the Fund acquired the remaining 17.4% interests in the
Partnership and KEML, giving the Fund a 100% indirect and direct controlling interests in both the Partnership
and the Managing Partner.
The Fund makes monthly cash distributions to unitholders of record on the last business day of each month.
The amount of the distributions per trust unit are equal to the pro rata share of the distribution received
indirectly from the Partnership and, in the event of the termination of the Fund, participating pro rata in the
net assets remaining after satisfaction of all liabilities.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Fund and all controlled entities. Investments in companies in which the Fund does not have direct or joint
control over the strategic, investing, and financing decisions, but does have significant influence, are
accounted for using the equity method.
Joint ventures
Substantially all natural gas and NGL processing activities are conducted jointly with others, and accordingly
these financial statements reflect only the Fund’s indirect proportionate interest in such activities.
Measurement uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These include the recoverability of assets and the amounts recorded
for depreciation, amortization, and asset retirement obligations, which depend on estimates of oil and gas
reserves or the economic lives and future cash flows from related assets. The recognized amounts of such items
are based on management’s best information and judgment.
Revenue recognition
Marketing revenue
Revenue from the sale of natural gas and natural gas liquids is recognized based on volumes delivered to
customers at contractual delivery points and rates. Gains and losses relating to financial instruments that are
used to manage commodity price fluctuations are recognized on the settlement date.
Gathering, processing and pipeline revenue
Gathering, processing and pipeline revenue is recognized through fixed fee arrangements or flow-through
arrangements that are designed to recover operating costs and provide the Partnership a return on its capital.
Amounts collected in excess of the recoverable amounts are recorded as a current liability. Recoverable
amounts in excess of the amounts collected are recorded as a current receivable.
Foreign currency translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates in effect at
the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at rates of exchange in effect at the transaction
date. Exchange gains and losses are recorded in earnings in the period they are incurred.
Stock-based compensation
The Fund has a Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”), which is disclosed in note 15. The LTIP is a stock
appreciation right as defined by the CICA. The difference between the market price of the trust units and the
grant price for the outstanding units multiplied by the number of rights is recognized as compensation
expense, over the vesting period. Fluctuations in the price of the trust units will change the accrued
compensation expense and are recognized when they occur.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

Financial instruments
Price swaps and option agreements are utilized by the Fund through its ownership in the Partnership to mitigate
its exposure to fluctuations in the price of natural gas, natural gas liquids and electricity. Forward currency
exchange contracts and swaps are utilized to mitigate exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. If
hedging accounting criteria are met (described below), gains and losses on these instruments are deferred and
recognized in earnings in the same period as the hedged item. The fair value of financial instruments qualifying
for hedge accounting are not recorded on the consolidated statement of financial position.
To be accounted for as a hedge, a financial instrument must be designated and documented as a hedge and
must be effective at inception and on an on-going basis. The documentation defines the relationships between
the hedging items and the hedged items and documents the objectives and strategies for undertaking various
hedge transactions. The process includes linking financial instruments to specific anticipated transactions.
The Partnership also formally assesses, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, whether
the instrument used is highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows or fair values of the hedged item.
Hedge effectiveness is achieved if the cash flows from the hedging item substantially offset the cash flows of
the hedged item and the timing of the cash flows is similar or if changes in the fair value of the financial
instrument substantially offset changes in the fair value of the related asset or liability. If the above hedge
criteria are not met, the financial instrument is recorded on the statement of financial position at fair value and
the initial fair value and subsequent changes in fair value are recorded in earnings in the period of change.
When a hedging financial instrument matures, expires, is sold, terminated or cancelled and is not replaced as
part of the Partnership’s hedging strategy, the termination gain or loss is deferred and recognized when the
gain or loss on the hedged item is recognized. If a designated hedged item matures, expires, is sold,
extinguished or terminated and the hedged item is no longer probable of occurring, any previously deferred
amounts associated with the hedging item are recognized in current earnings along with the corresponding
gains or losses recognized on the hedged item. If a hedging relationship is terminated or ceases to be effective,
hedge accounting is not applied to subsequent gains or losses. Any previously deferred amounts are carried
forward and recognized in earnings in the same period as the underlying hedged item.
Income taxes
Under the terms of the Canadian Income Tax Act, the Fund, as a trust, is not subject to income taxes to the
extent that its taxable income and taxable capital gains are paid or payable to unitholders. In addition, the
Fund is contractually committed to distribute to its unitholders all or virtually all of its taxable income and
taxable capital gains that would otherwise be taxable in its hands and the Fund intends to continue to
distribute to its unitholders so that it is not subject to income taxes.
All subsidiaries of the Fund follow the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method,
these subsidiaries record the future income tax basis of an asset or liability, using the substantially enacted
income tax rates. Accumulated future income tax balances are adjusted to reflect a change in the income tax
rates and the adjustment is recognized in earnings in the period in which the change occurs.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

Net earnings per unit
Basic net earnings per unit are calculated by dividing net earnings, respectively, by the weighted average
number of units outstanding during the period. For the calculation of the weighted average number, trust units
are determined to be outstanding from the date they are issued. Diluted net earnings per unit is calculated by
adding the weighted average number of units outstanding during the period to the additional units that would
have been outstanding if potentially dilutive units had been issued, using the “treasury stock” method.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include short-term investments with maturity of three months or less when purchased.
Inventory
Inventory is comprised primarily of NGL product for sale through the marketing operations. Inventory is
valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average cost basis,
calculated monthly.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist of natural gas processing and gathering systems and NGL processing,
storage and transportation facilities which were recorded at cost. Depreciation of these facilities is provided for
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each facility, the periods of which range from eight to
thirty-five years. Impairment on property, plant and equipment is measured as the amount by which the
carrying value of an asset or asset group exceeds its fair value, as determined by the discounted future cash
flows of the asset or asset group.
Long-term investments
From the initial acquisition of the interests in the Partnership and the Managing Partner on May 30, 2003 to
April 1, 2004, the Fund accounted for the investments using the equity basis of accounting whereby the cost of the
investment is increased or decreased for net earnings or losses and reduced by cash distributions paid to the Fund.
The Fund reviews and evaluates the carrying value of its investments for impairment annually. More frequent
reviews are conducted as conditions necessitate. In the event a decrease in the value of an investment is other than
a temporary decline, the investment will be written down to recognize any impairment in the carrying value.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of the marketing business contributed by the partners when the Partnership was first
formed and the marketing business contracts acquired on business combinations. These assets have been
recorded at the fair market values at the time of the contribution and acquisition. These amounts are being
amortized over their estimated economic life. The unamortized balance of these costs is assessed periodically
for impairment based on management’s best estimates of future net revenues from marketing operations.
Intangible assets also consist of deferred financing fees and goodwill. Amortization of deferred costs is provided
for on a straight-line basis over the weighted average term of the related debt offering. The goodwill resulted
from business combinations. Annually, on December 31, management assesses goodwill and its potential
impairment, on a reporting unit basis by determining whether the balance of goodwill can be recovered through
the estimated discounted operating cash flows of each reporting unit over their remaining life.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

Distributions to unitholders
The monthly amount of the distributions to unitholders of the Fund is defined in the Fund Declaration of
Trust. The computation of the distributions to unitholders is comprised of cash amounts received or receivable
as distributions or interest income and any net proceeds from the issuance of trust units, less any amounts that
relate to the redemption of trust units and any expenditures of the Fund. Distributions to unitholders, as
defined above, is not a measure under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and there is no
standardized measure of distributions to unitholders. Distributions to unitholders, as presented, may not be
comparable to similar measures presented by other income trusts.
Comparative figures
Certain amounts in the 2003 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year
financial statement presentation.
3.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General accounting principles
In July 2003, the CICA approved section 1100, “General Accounting Principles” effective for fiscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2004. As a result, the Partnership began expensing turnaround costs
commencing January 1, 2004. The Partnership’s results are consolidated with that of the Fund effective
April 1, 2004; prior to this, the results are recorded as equity earnings from investments. For the year ended
December 31, 2003 these costs were capitalized and depreciated by the Partnership over the estimated period
until the next scheduled significant turnaround, which ranged from two to four years.
This change in accounting policy has been applied retroactively by the Partnership. For the Fund, this results
in a decrease in long-term investments of $951 and a decrease in accumulated earnings of $951 on January 1,
2004. The impact of this new accounting pronouncement on the consolidated statement of earnings for the
period from inception on April 3 to December 31, 2003 was a reduction in net earnings of $951. There would
have been no change to distributable cash flow in the year, as dividends received from long-term investments
remained unchanged.
Asset retirement obligation
As a result of the Fund’s ownership in the Partnership, the Fund has retroactively adopted the Canadian
accounting standard outlined in the CICA Handbook section 3110, “Asset Retirement Obligations”. Under the
new section, the fair value of estimated asset retirement obligations are recognized in the period in which they
are incurred if a reasonable estimate of a fair value can be determined. Asset retirement obligations include
those legal obligations where the Fund will be required to retire tangible long-lived assets such as gathering
and processing facilities as well as items for which the Fund has made a promissory estoppel.
The asset retirement cost, deemed to be the fair value of the asset retirement obligation, is capitalized as part
of the cost of the related long-lived asset and allocated to expense on a basis consistent with depreciation and
amortization. Amortization of asset retirement costs is included in depreciation and amortization in the
consolidated statement of earnings. Increases in the asset retirement obligation resulting from the passage of
time are recorded as accretion expense in the consolidated statement of earnings, over the estimated time
period until settlement of the obligation. Actual expenditures incurred are charged against the accumulated
asset retirement obligation.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

Previously estimated costs of site restoration and abandonment were recorded into earnings based on the
estimated life of the asset and accumulated a liability on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Upon adoption of the new standard, all prior periods have been restated for the change in accounting policy.
The change resulted in a decrease in the Fund’s net earnings of $34 for the period from inception on April 3 to
December 31, 2003. The effect of this change on the December 31, 2003 consolidated statement of financial
position was a decrease in assets of $34, and decrease in accumulated earnings of $34.
Hedging relationships
On January 1, 2004, the Fund adopted CICA Accounting Guideline 13, “Hedging Relationships” (“AcG-13”) and
commenced application of the accounting treatment specified in the CICA Emerging Issues Committee
Abstract EIC-128, “Accounting for Trading, Speculative or Non-Hedging Derivative Financial Instruments”
(“EIC-128”).
AcG-13 clarifies the circumstances in which hedge accounting is appropriate and includes the requirements
for the identification, documentation, designation and effectiveness of hedges. The guideline also identifies
situations where hedge accounting is to be discontinued.
EIC-128 requires that all financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting under AcG-13 or are
not designated as a hedge be recorded on the statement of financial position at their fair value, either as an
asset or liability. Changes in their fair value are recognized in earnings in the period they occur.
The Fund has applied the criteria of AcG-13 to all financial instruments and discontinued hedge accounting
for those that do not meet the effectiveness criteria of the guideline.
4.

ACQUISITIONS OF LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

Initial Offering
On May 30, 2003 and June 10, 2003, the Fund issued 17,000,000 trust units as an initial public offering
(the “Initial Offering”) at a price of $10.00 per trust unit for net proceeds of $158,225 after issuance fees of
$11,775. The net proceeds received from the Initial Offering were used to purchase a 39.1% indirect interest in
the Partnership for consideration of $158,217 from KeySpan Energy Development Co. (“KEDCO”). At the same
time, the Fund acquired 39,090 shares of the Managing Partner from KEDCO, representing a 39.1% interest for
consideration of $8. The Managing Partner has a 0.005% interest in the Partnership.
Second Offering
On April 1, 2004, the Fund issued 15,617,000 trust units in a second public offering (the “Second Offering”)
at a price of $12.60 per trust unit for net proceeds of $186,335 after issuance costs of $10,439. The net proceeds
received from the Second Offering were used to purchase a further 35.9% indirect interest in the Partnership
and the Managing Partner for consideration of $186,335 accounted for using the purchase method.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

The investments in the Partnership and KEML were comprised of:
Partnership
$

KEML
$

Total
$

Acquisition cost
Equity earnings
Distributions to the Fund

158,217
7,587
(10,805)

8
–
–

158,225
7,587
(10,805)

Investment in the Partnership, December 31, 2003

154,999

8

155,007

4,659
(4,631)

1
–

4,660
(4,631)

Investment in the Partnership, March 31, 2004
Acquisition cost

155,027
186,327

9
8

155,036
186,335

Investment in the Partnership, April 1, 2004

341,354

17

341,371

Equity earnings
Distributions to the Fund

Prior to April 1, 2004 the Fund’s investments in the Partnership and the Managing Partner were accounted for
using the equity method as the Fund did not have direct control over the strategic, investing, and financing
decisions but had significant influence. The purchase on April 1, 2004 of the 35.9% interests in the Partnership
and the Managing Partner increased the ownership interests held by the Fund from 39.1% to 75%. As a result,
effective April 1, 2004, the results of operations of the Partnership and the Managing Partner were consolidated
with those of the Fund. The non-controlling interests in the Partnership and the Managing Partner were
reflected in non-controlling interest on the consolidated financial statements. The difference between the
value of the transaction and the carrying value of the net assets of the Partnership and the Managing Partner
resulted in a difference of $27,637 which was applied to property, plant and equipment. Amortization of this
difference was $747 for the year ended December 31, 2004.
As at June 30, 2004, the total purchase price of $344,560 for the Fund’s 75% interest in the Partnership and the
Managing Partner was allocated as follows:
$

Cash
Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Other assets
Long-term investment
Intangible assets
Deferred costs
Future income tax asset
Current liabilities
Long-term debt
Asset retirement obligation

14,399
125,125
405,843
13,716
13,941
6,442
1,121
3,429
(103,453)
(125,000)
(11,003)
344,560
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

Third Offering
On June 3, 2004, the Fund issued 9,325,000 trust units in a third public offering (the “Third Offering”) at a price
of $10.75 per trust unit, with an over-allotment of 1,398,750 trust units issued on June 10, 2004, for net proceeds
of $109,118 after underwriters’ fee of $5,764 and issuance costs of $398. In conjunction with the Third Offering,
the Fund issued convertible unsecured subordinated debentures in the principal amount of $100,000, for net
proceeds of $95,669 after underwriters’ fee of $4,000 and issuance costs of $331.
Fourth Offering
On December 2, 2004, the Fund issued 10,872,333 trust units in a fourth public offering (the “Fourth Offering”)
at a price of $13.90 per trust unit for net proceeds of $143,069 after underwriters’ fee of $7,556 and issuance
costs of $500. The proceeds of the Fourth Offering were used to acquire the remaining interests in the
Partnership and the Managing Partner from KEDCO, thus resulting in the Fund owning a 100% indirect and
direct controlling interests in the Partnership and the Managing Partner, respectively. KEML continues to hold
a 0.005% interest in the Partnership. The acquisition of the remaining 17.44% interests in the Partnership and
Managing Partner fully eliminated the non-controlling interests on the balance sheet of $118,405, with an
increase to unitholders’ capital for the net proceeds of $143,069 and an addition to property, plant and
equipment of $24,664.
5.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost
$

Accumulated
Depreciation
$

Net Book
Value
$

Balance, December 31, 2003
Acquisition of investments (note 4)
Additions, net
Acquisitions, other
Depreciation

–
692,926
25,253
262,236
–

–
(97,616)
–
–
(20,475)

–
595,310
25,253
262,236
(20,475)

Balance, December 31, 2004

980,415

(118,091)

862,324

Acquisitions
On June 29, 2004, the Partnership acquired 100% of El Paso Velvet Processing Limited Partnership from whollyowned subsidiaries of El Paso Corporation, for an aggregate purchase price of $7,000, plus an adjustment for
net working capital and transaction costs. The El Paso Velvet Processing Limited Partnership owned 100% of
the Caribou gas plant, associated gathering pipelines and related acid gas disposal infrastructure.
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
date of acquisition. The allocation includes accruals and is management’s current estimate. Some values may
change as further information is received. The results of operations have been included in the consolidated
statement of earnings effective July 1, 2004.
$

Net working capital
Property, plant and equipment
Asset retirement obligation

548
7,650
(1,012)
7,186
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

On July 2, 2004, the Fund indirectly acquired 100% of the shares of EnerPro Midstream Company (“EnerPro”)
for $272,815 plus acquisition costs of $2,645 and working capital adjustments, which were incurred directly by
the Partnership. The Fund then contributed the assets of EnerPro to the Partnership, thereby increasing the
Fund’s indirect interest in the Partnership and the Managing Partner from 75% to 82.6%. The acquisition has
been accounted for as a business combination and was allocated as follows:
$

Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Future income tax liability
Asset retirement obligation

8,861
270,086
64,934
8,174
(64,934)
(8,765)
278,356

Upon the acquisition of EnerPro and the contribution of assets to the Partnership, the Fund owned an indirect
controlling interest in Rimbey Pipe Line Co. Ltd. (“Rimbey Pipe Line”) through its indirect ownership of
the Partnership and KEFL (see note 1). The results of operations of Rimbey Pipe Line are consolidated
beginning on July 2, 2004. The non-controlling interest in Rimbey Pipe Line is reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.
6.

ASSET HELD FOR SALE

In 2004, the Partnership concluded its review of project opportunities for its 50% interest in an electrical
generator and chose not to proceed with putting it into service. Accordingly, the equipment was written down
to its estimated net realizable value of $4,735 and classified as asset held for sale at December 31, 2004.
7.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2004
$

As at December 31

Goodwill
Other intangible assets (a)
Deferred financing costs (note 8 (e))

64,934
13,298
5,557

Total

83,789

(a) Other intangible assets consist of the marketing business contributed by the Partners when the
Partnership was first formed and the marketing business of EnerPro acquired on July 2, 2004 (see note 5).
The unamortized balance of the intangible assets is assessed periodically for impairment based on
management’s best estimates of future net revenues from marketing operations, and is being amortized
over the remaining economic life of four to nine years.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
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8.

LONG-TERM DEBT
2004
$

As at December 31

Bank credit facilities (a)
Senior secured notes (b & c)
Revolving demand loan (d)

7,500
215,000
4,500

Less: current portion of long-term debt

227,000
(12,000)

Long-term debt

215,000

(a) The Partnership has a $100,000 revolving credit facility with certain Canadian financial institutions led by
the Royal Bank of Canada, under two separate tranches. Each of the two $50,000 tranches matures on or
about May 27, 2006, unless extended, with one facility having a one-year revolving term and the other a
two-year revolving term. In addition, the Royal Bank of Canada has provided a $10,000 revolving demand
facility. The revolving credit facilities bear interest based on the lenders’ rates for Canadian prime
commercial loans or Bankers’ Acceptances rates. The weighted average interest rates for the year ended
December 31, 2004 was 4.30%. Security is shared on a pari passu basis with the lenders under the bank
credit facilities and the senior secured notes issued in 2003 and 2004. As at December 31, 2004, the
balance outstanding on the bank credit facilities was $7,500.
(b) The $125,000 of senior secured notes issued in 2003 consist of three parts: Series A of $52,500 due in 2010,
bearing interest at 5.79%, Series B of $52,500 due in 2013, bearing interest at 6.155%, and $20,000 due in
2008, bearing interest at 5.42%. Interest is payable monthly. Security is shared on a pari passu basis with
the lenders under the bank credit facilities and the senior secured notes issued in 2004. Financing costs of
$1,215 were incurred to complete the 2003 senior secured notes issue. These costs have been deferred and
are amortized over the remaining terms of the related debt. Amortization expense of $122 has been
recorded for the year ended December 31, 2004.
(c) On September 30, 2004, $90,000 of senior secured notes were issued by KEFL. The notes bear interest
at 5.23% and mature on October 1, 2009. Proceeds of the issue were used to repay short-term debt
incurred for the acquisition of EnerPro. Interest is payable semi-annually. Security is shared on a pari
passu basis with the lenders under the bank credit facilities and the senior secured notes issued in 2003.
Financing costs of $568 were incurred to complete the issue. These costs have been deferred and are
amortized over the term of the debt. Amortization expense of $28 has been recorded for the year ended
December 31, 2004.
(d) A subsidiary of the Partnership has an unsecured revolving demand loan facility with a major Canadian
chartered bank in the amount of $7,000, of which $4,500 was drawn as at December 31, 2004. Borrowings
under the loan facility bear interest based on the lender’s rates for Canadian prime commercial loans
or Bankers’ Acceptances rates. The weighted average interest rates for year ended December 31, 2004
was 3.76%.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

(e) Deferred financing costs as at December 31:
2004
$

Deferred financing costs on convertible debentures (note 9)
Deferred financing costs, net (b)
Deferred financing costs, net (c)

4,019
998
540
5,557

9.

CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

On June 3, 2004, the Fund issued convertible unsecured subordinated debentures in the principal amount of
$100,000, subject to an underwriters’ commission of $4,000 and issuance costs of $332. These costs have been
deferred and are being amortized over the term of the debt. Amortization expense of $313 has been recorded
for the year ended December 31, 2004. The proceeds were used for the acquisition of EnerPro (see note 5). The
convertible debentures bear interest at 6.75% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on June 30 and
December 31 each year. Interest expense of $3,578 has been accrued for the year ended December 31, 2004.
These debentures will mature on June 30, 2011 and are convertible into trust units of the Fund at the option of
the holders at any time prior to maturity at a conversion price of $12.00 per unit. At December 31, 2004, $38,243
debentures had been converted to trust units.
10. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION
The following table presents the reconciliation between the beginning and ending aggregate carrying amount
of the obligation associated with the retirement of the gathering and processing facilities.
2004
$

Asset retirement obligation, April 1, 2004
Liabilities acquired
Liabilities settled
Revisions in estimated cash flows
Accretion expense

11,003
11,581
(171)
539
1,236

Asset retirement obligation, December 31, 2004

24,188

The total undiscounted amount of cash flows required to settle the asset retirement obligations is $81,575,
which has been discounted using a credit-adjusted risk-free rate of 7%. The majority of these obligations
are expected to be settled between 2018 and 2038. No assets have been legally restricted for settlement of
the liability.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
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11. INCOME TAXES
The Fund is a unit trust for income tax purposes. As such, the Fund is only taxable on any taxable income not
allocated to the unitholders. Each unitholder will be required to include in computing income for tax purposes
for a particular taxation year the pro rata share of the Fund’s income that was paid or payable in that year to
the unitholder and that was deducted by the Fund in computing its income.
The following is a reconciliation of income taxes, calculated at the combined federal and provincial income tax
rate, to the income tax provision included in the consolidated statements of earnings.
2004
$

Earnings before tax and non-controlling interest
Less: Earnings of the Partnership distributed and not taxed in the Fund

36,459
18,095

Taxable earnings

18,364

Income tax at statutory rate of 38.62%
Equity earnings and dividends excluded from taxable income
Resource allowance
Rate adjustment on opening balances
Rate differences in subsidiaries
Adjustments to tax pool balances
Other
Alternative minimum tax
Large corporation tax

7,092
(542)
(95)
372
(420)
1,536
(137)
173
185
8,164

Classified as:
Current
Future

1,806
6,358

Income tax expense

8,164

The future income tax liability relates to the differences in the carrying values and tax bases as follows:
2004
$

As at December 31

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Deferred financing costs
Asset retirement obligation
Non-capital losses carried forward
Other

(74,872)
(1,299)
(114)
3,635
1,960
635

Future income tax liability

(70,055)

For income tax purposes, there are non-capital losses carried forward of approximately $5,503 at December 31,
2004 which are available to offset income of specific entities of the consolidated group in future periods. These
losses will expire at various times to the end of 2007.
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KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
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12. UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL
The Fund Declaration of Trust provides that an unlimited number of trust units may be authorized and issued.
Each trust unit is transferable, and represents an equal undivided beneficial interest in any distribution from
the Fund and in the net assets of the Fund in the event of termination or winding-up of the Fund. All trust units
are of the same class with equal rights and privileges.
The Declaration of Trust also provides for the issuance of an unlimited number of special trust units that will
be used solely for providing voting rights to persons holding securities that are directly or indirectly
exchangeable for units and that, by their terms, have voting rights in the Fund.
The trust units are redeemable at the holder’s option at an amount equal to the lesser of: (i) 90% of the
weighted average price per unit at which the units during the period of the last 10 days during which the trust
units were traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange; and (ii) an amount equal to (a) the closing market price of
the units; (b) an amount equal to the average of the highest and lowest prices of units if there was trading on
the date on which the units were tendered for redemption; or (c) the average of the last bid and ask prices if
there was no trading on the date on which the units were tendered for redemption.
Redemptions are subject to a maximum of $50 cash redemptions in any particular month. Redemptions in
excess of this amount will be paid by way of a distribution in specie of assets of the Fund that may include
Commercial Trust Series 1 notes.
Trust units issued and unitholders’ capital

Number of Units

$

Authorized – unlimited number of trust units
Units issued per Initial Offering
Less: issuance costs

17,000,000
–

170,000
(11,775)

Balance, December 31, 2003

17,000,000

158,225

Units issued for cash, April 2004
Less: issuance costs
Units issued for cash, June 2004
Less: issuance costs
Units issued pursuant to long term incentive plan
Units issued on conversion (note 9)
Units issued for cash, December 2004
Less: issuance costs

15,617,000
–
10,723,750
–
14,684
3,186,910
10,872,333
–

196,774
(10,439)
115,280
(6,162)
175
38,243
151,125
(8,056)

Balance, December 31, 2004

57,414,677

635,165

Issuance costs were incurred by the Fund in issuing trust units. These costs are deductible for income tax
purposes on a straight-line basis over a five-year period.
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Net earnings per unit
Basic per unit calculations for year ended December 31, 2004 were based on the weighted average number of
units outstanding for the year. Convertible debentures were in the money for year ended December 31, 2004
and attributed to the increase in diluted weighted average number of units for 2004. The 2003 period is from
the Initial Offering on May 30, 2003 to December 31, 2003.
(thousands)

2004

2003

Weighted average number of units – basic
Net additional units if units all vest
Additional units if debentures converted

36,199
301
4,441

13,357
–
–

Weighted average number of units – diluted

40,941

13,357

13. DISTRIBUTABLE CASH FLOW
For the purposes of declaring distributions, the Fund is entirely dependent on cash distributions received from
the Partnership. The Fund makes monthly distributions to holders of record on the last day of each month.
Payments are made on or about the 15th day of the following month.
The amount of Distributable Cash Flow, as defined in the Partnership Agreement, will generally be for each
month, the Partnership’s cash flow from operations for such month (including dividends received from
subsidiaries), after (i) satisfaction of its debt service obligations (principal and interest) and income tax and
large corporation tax expenses; (ii) satisfaction of funding requirements in respect of any reclamation fund;
(iii) providing for maintenance capital expenditures; (iv) satisfaction of its other expense obligations including
general and administrative expenses and those relating to incentive compensation; and (v) retaining reasonable
reserves for administrative and other expense obligations and reasonable reserves for working capital and
capital expenditures as may be considered appropriate by the Board of Directors of the Managing Partner.
Distributable Cash Flow, as defined above, is not a measure under Canadian GAAP and there is no
standardized measure of Distributable Cash Flow. Distributable Cash Flow, as presented, may not be
comparable to similar measures presented by other entities.
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The following table calculates the Fund’s share of the Distributable Cash Flow, consistent with the terms of the
Partnership Agreement:
2004
$

2003
$
(restated – note 3)

Net earnings
Add (deduct):
Non-controlling interest
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Accretion expense
Equity earnings from investments
Dividends received from investments
Unrealized loss on financial instrument
Dilution gain
Future income tax expense
Asset retirement obligation expenditures
Maintenance capital
Non-controlling interest distributable cash flow

22,738

7,587

5,557
21,512
8,981
1,236
(5,258)
5,762
899
(1,749)
6,358
(171)
(2,075)
(10,851)

–
–
–
–
(7,587)
10,805
–
–
–
–
–
–

Cash available for distributions to unitholders

52,939

10,805

Distributions to unitholders (note 14)

42,037

10,805

14. ACCUMULATED DISTRIBUTIONS TO UNITHOLDERS
$

Inception, June 1, 2003
Unitholders’ distributions declared and paid
Unitholders’ distributions declared

–
9,261
1,544

Balance, December 31, 2003

10,805

Unitholders’ distributions declared and paid
Unitholders’ distributions declared

36,410
5,627

Balance, December 31, 2004

52,842
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15. COMPENSATION PLANS
In 2003, a Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP” or the “Plan”) was adopted that compensates officers,
directors, key employees and consultants by issuing units of the Fund or paying cash in lieu of units. The Plan
permits the directors of KEML to authorize the grant of unit awards from time to time. A maximum of 1,300,000
units have been specified for issue from treasury under the Plan. Participants in the LTIP are granted rights
(“unit awards”) to receive units of the Fund on specified dates in the future.
The Plan consists of two types of unit awards, which are described below. Management accounts for unit
awards and the issuance of units under the Plan in accordance with the intrinsic value method of accounting
for stock-based compensation. The aggregate compensation cost recorded for the Plan was $2,782 for the year
ended December 31, 2004.
(a) Performance Unit Awards
The Performance Unit Awards will vest 100% on the third anniversary of each grant date, July 1, 2003 and July 1,
2004. The number of units to be issued will be determined by the financial performance of the Fund over the
three-year period. The number of units to be issued will be calculated by multiplying the number of unit
awards by an adjustment ratio and a payout multiplier. The adjustment ratio increases the number of units to
be issued to reflect the per unit cash distributions paid by the Fund to its unitholders during the term that the
unit award is outstanding. The payout multiplier is based upon the actual three-year average annual cash
distributions per unit of the Fund. The table below describes the relationship between the three-year average
annual cash distribution per unit and the payout multiplier.

First range
Second range
Third range

July 1, 2003 Grant
three-year average
annual cash distribution
per unit

July 1, 2004 Grant
three-year average
annual cash distribution
per unit

Payout

Less than $1.09
1.09 to 1.18
1.19 to 1.38
1.39 and greater

Less than $1.15
1.15 to 1.22
1.23 to 1.38
1.39 and greater

Nil
50% – 99%
100% – 199%
200%

As of December 31, 2004, 294,262 Performance Unit Awards were outstanding: 125,400 from 2003 and 168,862
granted on July 1, 2004. The compensation cost recorded for these units was $1,903 for the year ended
December 31, 2004 (not applicable for the year ended December 31, 2003), using the closing market price of a
unit of the Fund on January 4, 2005.
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(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

(b) Time Vested Unit Awards (“Restricted Unit Awards”)
Restricted Unit Awards will vest automatically, over a three-year period from the effective date of the award on
July 1, 2003 and July 1, 2004, regardless of the performance of the Fund. The number of units to be issued will
be increased by an adjustment ratio which reflects the per unit distributions paid by the Fund to its unitholders
during the term that the unit award is outstanding.
As of December 31, 2004, 133,355 Restricted Unit Awards were outstanding: 47,467 from the 2003 grant and
85,888 granted on July 1, 2004. The compensation cost recorded for these units was $879 for year ended
December 31, 2004 (not applicable for the year ended December 31, 2003), using the closing market price of a
unit of the Fund on January 4, 2005. During the year, 14,684 units were issued from treasury and $175 was
credited to unitholders’ equity in respect of the units issued. In addition, the equivalent of 9,049 unit awards
were settled in cash.
16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Prior to April 1, 2004, KEML was a 39.1% owned subsidiary of the Fund. KEML provides management and
administrative services to the Fund and the Partnership on a cost recovery basis. Effective April 1, 2004, KEML
was controlled by the Fund and the management and administrative fees are eliminated upon consolidation.
The Fund had the following balances receivable from and due to related parties in the normal course of
business reflected in other current assets and other current liabilities:
As at December 31

2004
$

2003
$

Due from related parties

407

1,544

2,192

–

Due to related parties

The following table summarizes the Fund’s related party transactions through its indirect ownership in the
Partnership as reflected in the consolidated financial statements beginning on April 1, 2004:
2004
$

2003
$

841
1,452
598
1,132

–
–
–
–

As at December 31

Operating allocation and NGL revenue
Tariff expense for use of pipeline and NGL purchases
Equity earnings from investments
Dividends received from investments

The transactions summarized in the above table were made in the normal course of operations and were
measured at the exchange value or on a cost recovery basis, which represented the amount of consideration
established and agreed to by the related parties. The acquisition of EnerPro described in note 5 added an
additional 35.5% interest in Rimbey Pipe Line, which when combined with the 45.3% investment held by the
Partnership, represented an indirect controlling interest in Rimbey Pipe Line. Beginning on July 2, 2004, the
transactions with Rimbey Pipe Line are eliminated upon consolidation to reflect the Partnership’s indirect
controlling interest.
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Partnership enters into contracts to purchase and sell natural gas and natural gas liquids. These contracts
are exposed to commodity price risk between the time contracted volumes are purchased and sold. The
Partnership actively manages this risk by using energy-related futures, forwards, swaps and options and by
balancing physical and financial contracts in terms of volumes, timing of performance and delivery
obligations. Management monitors the Partnership’s exposure to the above risks and regularly reviews its
financial instrument activities and all outstanding positions.
Energy price risk management
The Partnership routinely enters into price swaps and option agreements to mitigate its exposure to
fluctuations in the price of natural gas, natural gas liquids and electricity. Price swap agreements require
payments to (or receipts from) counter parties based on the differential between fixed and variable prices for
commodities. The Partnership routinely enters into forward currency exchange contracts and swaps to
mitigate its exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. The contracts require the exchange of
currencies between counter-parties at previously agreed upon exchange rates. Management monitors the
Partnership’s exposure to the above risks and regularly reviews its use of financial instruments and all
outstanding positions. The fair values of the derivatives listed below represent an estimate of the amount that
the Partnership would receive or pay if these instruments were closed out at the end of the period.
The estimated fair value of all financial instruments is based on quoted market prices and, if not available, on
estimates from third-party brokers or dealers. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, other current assets and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximates their fair values
because the instruments are near maturity or have no fixed repayment terms. The fair value of the bank credit
facilities approximates fair value due to their floating rates of interest.
Carrying
Amount

Notional
Volume

–

63,000 Bbls

$

256

(28)

$ US 12,050

$

(28)

–
–

375,500 Bbls
487,638 Bbls

$ (1,116)
$ 2,421

$

$

2004
Natural gas liquids:
Price swaps (maturing by August 2005)
Currency:
Forward contracts (maturing by March 2005)

$

2003
Natural gas liquids:
Price swaps (maturing by August 2004)
Price swaps (maturing by August 2004)
Currency:
Forward contracts (maturing by March 2004)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

$ 270

26

US 8,750

2004 FINANCIAL REPORT

Fair Value
$

270

Keyera 2004 Financial MARCH 15

3/15/05

7:57 PM

Page 27

KEYERA FACILITIES INCOME FUND
(Formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund)

Credit risk
The majority of the Partnership’s accounts receivable are due from entities in the oil and gas industry and are
subject to normal industry credit risks. Concentration of credit risk is mitigated by having a broad domestic
and international customer base. The Partnership evaluates and monitors the financial strength of its
customers in accordance with its credit policy. At December 31, 2004, the accounts receivable from the
Partnership’s two largest customers amounted to approximately 5% of accounts receivable. Revenue from the
Partnership’s two largest customers amounted to 13% of total revenue in 2004. With respect to counter parties
for financial instruments used for hedging purposes, the Partnership limits its credit risk through dealing with
recognized futures exchanges or investment grade financial institutions and by maintaining credit policies
which significantly minimize overall counter party credit risk.
Interest rate risk
The Fund uses fixed and floating debt to finance its operations. The floating rate debt exposes the Fund to
changes in interest payments as interest rates fluctuate. To manage this exposure, the Fund maintains a
combination of fixed and floating rate borrowings. At December 31, 2004, fixed rate borrowings comprised
96% of total debt outstanding, including convertible debentures. The fair value of the Partnership’s senior
secured fixed rate debt is $222,819. The fair value of the Fund’s unsecured convertible debentures is $74,108.
Foreign currency rate risk
The gathering and processing business generated 50% of 2004 operating margin and is not subject to foreign
currency rate risk. All sales and virtually all purchases are denominated in Canadian dollars. In the NGL
marketing business, approximately US$129,871 of 2004 sales were priced in U.S. dollars.
18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Fund, through its operating entities, is involved in various contractual agreements with ConocoPhillips.
The agreements range from one to fourteen years and comprise the processing of ConocoPhillips’ natural gas
and the purchase of NGL production in the areas specified in the agreements. The purchase prices are based
on current period market prices. There are lease commitments relating to railway tank cars, vehicles, computer
hardware, office space and natural gas transportation agreements. The estimated annual minimum operating
lease rental payments from these commitments are as follows:
$

2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
Thereafter

7,618
7,457
6,666
4,245
3,026
6,225
35,237

There are legal actions for which the ultimate results cannot be ascertained at this time. Management does not
expect the outcome of any of these proceedings to have a material effect on the financial position or results
of operations.
There are no material guarantees outstanding at December 31, 2004.
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19. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Interest paid
Taxes paid

2004
$

2003
$

13,883
1,837

–
–

20. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Fund, through its consolidation with the Partnership, has two reportable segments: Facilities and
Marketing. Facilities include natural gas gathering and processing as well as natural gas liquids processing,
transportation, and storage. The marketing business consists of marketing of by-products recovered from the
processing of raw gas, including NGLs and sulphur, as well as services provided to its customers.
Facilities
$

Marketing
$

Corporate
$

2004
Revenue 1
Intersegment revenue

114,756
(1,850)

632,595
–

–
–

747,351
(1,850)

External revenue
Operating expenses

112,906
(56,659)

632,595
(601,328)

–
–

745,501
(657,987)

General and administrative, interest and other
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Accretion expense
Unrealized loss on financial instruments
Dilution gain

56,247
–
(19,273)
(8,981)
(1,236)
–
–

31,267
–
(1,317)
–
–
(899)
–

–
(20,176)
(922)
–
–
–
1,749

87,514
(20,176)
(21,512)
(8,981)
(1,236)
(899)
1,749

Earnings (loss) before tax and non-controlling interest

26,757

29,051

(19,349)

36,459

980,731

134,740

31,286

1,146,757

23,673

–

986

24,659

Identifiable assets
Capital expenditures
1

Total
$

Facilities revenue includes equity earnings from investment in Rimbey Pipe Line of $598 for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Export sales
Revenue from sales of natural gas NGLs made outside of Canada was $115,130.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
KEYERA ENERGY PARTNERSHIP
Management’s discussion and analysis is a review of the results of operations and the liquidity and capital
resources of Keyera Energy Partnership (the “Partnership” or “Keyera”, formerly KeySpan Energy Canada
Partnership). It should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the
Partnership for the year ended December 31, 2004 and the notes thereto.
The statement of operations contained in the audited consolidated financial statements of the Partnership
includes the results of operations of Rimbey Pipe Line Co. Ltd. (“Rimbey Pipe Line”) since July 2, 2004, the date
of acquisition of control, and the results of operations of the Partnership, KEFL, and KEL for the entire year
ended December 31, 2004. The information for the comparative periods of 2003 includes the results of
operations of the Partnership for the entire year ended December 31, 2003, and the results of operations of
KEFL and KEL from the time of acquisition, May 30, 2003 to December 31, 2003. The 2003 Partnership’s interest
in Rimbey Pipe Line was accounted for using the equity method in 2003. Accordingly, some of the variances
described in this report include the effect of these acquisitions and readers are cautioned that certain
information included in the financial statements for prior periods may not be directly comparable.
Distributable Cash Flow as defined in the Partnership Agreement and described in note 12 of the consolidated
financial statements of the Partnership is not a standard measure under Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles and therefore may not be comparable with the calculation of similar measures for other companies.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Net earnings for the year 2004 were $40.5 million, up $2.6 million from last year. Operating margin of
$107.4 million in 2004 increased 53% compared to last year due primarily to the addition of the EnerPro assets
and the strong results from the marketing business segment. The growth in operating margin was offset by the
following: non-cash charges against earnings of $9.0 million for the write-down of an electrical generator that
was previously being held for use, an incremental $6.5 million of depreciation expenses, non-cash charges
against earnings of $3.9 million increase in future income tax expense, $6.5 million of increased interest
expense and $6.4 million of increased general and administrative costs.
Operating margin
Facilities activities represent approximately 64% of operating margin for 2004 compared to 65% in 2003.
Twelve months ended December 31

Operating margin 1 ($ millions)

2004

2003

Facilities
Marketing 2

68.4
39.0

45.8
24.4

107.4

70.2

1

Operating margin, which is defined as operating revenues minus operating expenses, is not a standard measure under
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and therefore may not be comparable with the calculation of similar measures
for other companies.

2

Keyera’s marketing business, which is operated within the Partnership, acquires fractionation services at market rates from KEFL,
transportation from Rimbey Pipe Line and other services from the facilities business segment of the Partnership. Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles require the elimination of these internal transactions from consolidated revenues
and expenses.
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Facilities
The facilities business segment generated strong financial returns and achieved significant growth in 2004
through both acquisitions and the completion of internal projects. Although the EnerPro acquisition was the
most prominent event in the facilities business segment, several internal growth projects and three smaller
acquisitions were also completed during the year. These acquisitions and projects not only contributed to 2004
results but position the business for the future.
The Bigoray plant expansion increased the plant’s sulphur handling capacity, allowing the plant to process
incremental sour solution gas volumes arising from the development of the Nisku sour oil reserves in the
Pembina area. The construction of the Brazeau Northeast Gas Gathering system enabled the Brazeau River gas
plant access to the associated gas volumes from the Nisku oil play and extended the capture area of the plant.
In 2003, an acid gas injection system was constructed at the Brazeau River plant, creating sufficient processing
capacity to handle the highly sour gas associated with this oil play. The size of this Nisku development
continues to expand with Keyera’s facilities well positioned to benefit from the future development.
A facility to produce liquid CO2 was constructed and commissioned at the Rimbey gas plant in the West Central
Region in May 2004. CO2 is utilized during well completions and workovers, so with strong industry
fundamentals supporting high drilling activity, increased demand for liquid CO2 is expected to continue.
EnerPro’s facilities fit well with the Partnership’s existing business and increased the net processing capacity of
the Partnership by approximately 50%. Strategically, the facilities are capable of processing sour gas and are
west of the 5th Meridian, where the multi-zone, prospective geology offers potential for the long-term
development of the area. Common ownership in five facilities and the proximity of two EnerPro plants to
existing Keyera facilities are presenting opportunities to reduce costs. The increase in ownership interest
enables the Partnership to exercise greater operational control to more readily implement new business
development opportunities, such as plant expansions and gathering system extensions, and to realize a greater
share of the benefits derived from this business development activity.
Integration of the EnerPro assets with the existing business was completed in 2004, and the 2004 operating and
financial results were in line with expectations.
The acquisition of the Caribou Plant in northeastern British Columbia was also a good fit with Keyera’s
business strategy. It is located in a geologically prospective area and has the capacity to handle incremental
volumes. Extension of the gathering system and expansion of the plant are the two most significant internal
growth opportunities for this plant.
The Partnership acquired a 36% interest in the Gregg Lake-Obed pipeline in December 2004. This 129
kilometre sour gas pipeline provides exposure to a large, geologically prospective area adjacent to our existing
core area of operations.
The most significant risk to Keyera’s facilities segment is related to declines in plant throughput. In the absence
of new drilling activity, facility throughput will decline over time as reserves are depleted. If producers in the
areas serviced by the facilities are not successful in exploring for and developing additional reserves, the
Partnership’s facilities may not be able to maintain existing throughput volumes.
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The $68.4 million of operating margin generated from facilities in 2004 was $22.6 million higher than last year,
due primarily to the growth in Keyera’s asset base that was achieved through acquisitions and internal project
development. Also contributing to the increase in operating margin were higher plant throughput volumes in
the West Central Region, greater demand for NGL processing capacity at the Fort Saskatchewan facility and
strong re-processing revenues at the Rimbey plant. These favorable variances were partially offset by a decline
in volumes at the Strachan Plant.
Marketing
Keyera’s marketing business engages in the purchase and sale of natural gas liquids (NGLs) and provides
marketing services to its customers on a fee-for-service basis. Keyera acquires products through processing
arrangements and plant gate purchases. The composition of the revenues generated from the Partnership’s
marketing business is shown in the table below.
Composition of Marketing Revenue ($000)
Fees for service
Physical sales
Financial instruments

32
800,674
872

Keyera enters into contracts to purchase and sell NGLs. These contracts are exposed to commodity price risk
between the time contracted volumes are purchased and the time they are sold. The majority of Keyera’s
butane and condensate are sold in the same month as they are purchased, minimizing this exposure. Keyera
sells some of its propane in the month it is purchased, with the remainder kept in inventory for the higher
demand winter season. Keyera actively manages this risk by using financial contracts, such as energy related
futures, forward sales, price swaps, physical exchanges and options and by balancing physical and financial
contracts in terms of volumes, timing of performance and delivery obligations. Occasionally, open positions
have been established to take advantage of market conditions.
The table below outlines the changes in the fair value of the financial contracts entered into by the Partnership:
Changes in Fair Value of Energy Derivative Contracts1 ($000)
Fair value at December 31, 2003
Change in the fair value of contracts held at December 2003
Fair value of new contracts entered into in 2004
Less: realized gains

1,305
(433)
256
(872)

Fair value at December 31, 2004
1

256

The fair value of the financial contracts represents an estimate of the amount that Keyera would pay or receive if those contracts
were closed on December 31, 2004.

Financial contract maturities vary from a single day up to two years. A large number of financial contracts
mature in less than one year. The relatively short maturities of the Partnership’s financial contracts lower its
portfolio risk.
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The marketing operating margin of $39.0 million for 2004 was $14.6 million higher than 2003, primarily due to
higher sales volumes and strong sales prices for NGL products. The 2003 marketing operating margin included
$5.6 million from natural gas marketing. Effective 2004, natural gas marketing is no longer part of Keyera’s
marketing business. The increase in NGL sales volumes was primarily attributable to the acquisition of
EnerPro’s NGL marketing business and growth in the Partnership’s business. NGL sales volumes for 2004 were
approximately 49,500 bbls/d compared to approximately 36,500 bbls/d in 2003.
Keyera’s NGL marketing business is underpinned by two long term supply contracts that provide a base supply
for its business. The strong margins demonstrated by the marketing business are supported by the integrated
network of gas processing facilities and NGL processing, storage, pipeline, truck and rail facilities. Marketing
operating margins can vary significantly from period to period depending upon North American demand,
inventory positions and pricing. As a result, marketing operating margins in future years may vary significantly
from the 2004 results.
Non-operating expenses and other earnings
Non-operating expenses of $61.4 million increased $28.7 million over the previous year.
Depreciation and amortization expense of $26.7 million increased $6.5 million compared to the previous year
due primarily to the growth in property, plant and equipment resulting from the EnerPro acquisition. The
acquisition of these assets in mid-year added $5.7 million to depreciation and amortization.
General and administrative expenses of $15.8 million were up $6.4 million. The increase was primarily
attributable to $3.2 million of incremental incentive compensation costs, $1.0 million of additional rent and
office costs and $1.1 million due to the inclusion of administrative expenses relating to KEFL for the entire year,
as compared to seven months in 2003. The remainder of the increase was due to the higher levels of activity
necessary to support the growth in the business.
Interest expense for twelve months ended December 31, 2004 was $10 million, an increase of $6.5 million
compared to the previous year. Approximately $7.3 million of the interest expense was related to the
$125 million of long-term senior secured notes issued by Keyera and KEFL in August 2003 and $1.1 million
was related to the $90 million of senior secured notes issued by KEFL on September 30, 2004. Interest of
$1.6 million related to the preferred partnership interest was indirectly paid to the Fund by the Partnership.
The remainder of the interest expense was due to short-term borrowings used to finance working capital and
capital expenditures, offset by interest earned on cash balances. During 2003, Keyera had debt outstanding for
seven months of the year.
Impairment expense of $9.0 million recorded in 2004 related to the write-down of electrical generation
equipment. In 2001, the Partnership acquired a 50% interest in an electrical generator at a cost of $13.7 million.
Until September 2004, Keyera had intended to put the generator into service and recorded the equipment at
cost. In September 2004, Keyera concluded a review of project opportunities and chose not to proceed with
putting the equipment into service. Accordingly, the cost was written down to its estimated net realizable value
based on disposition alternatives.
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Critical accounting estimates
In the preparation of the Partnership’s consolidated financial statements, management has made estimates
that affect the recorded amounts of certain of the Partnership’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The
most significant estimates are those described below:
Estimation of facility revenues:
For each month, actual volumes processed and fees earned from the gathering and processing assets are not
known at the month end. Accordingly, the financial statements contain an estimate of one month’s revenue based
upon a review of historic trends. This estimate is adjusted for events that are known to have a significant effect on
the month’s operations, such as the shut down of a plant for maintenance or the tie in of incremental production.
At December 31, 2004, for the facilities segment, operating revenues and accounts receivable contain an
estimate of December 2004 revenues of $12.8 million. There are no known trends, events or uncertainties to
indicate that actual results will vary significantly from the estimates used nor would any expected variance
have a material effect on the financial condition of the Partnership.
Estimation of facility operating expenses:
The period in which invoices are rendered for the supply of goods and services necessary for the operation of
the gathering and processing assets is generally later than the period in which the goods or services were
provided. Accordingly, the financial statements contain an estimate of one month’s operating costs based upon
a review of historic trends. This estimate is adjusted for events that are known to have a significant effect on the
month’s operations, such as the shut down of a plant for maintenance or the tie in of incremental production.
At December 31, 2004, for the facilities segment, operating expenses and accounts payable contain an estimate
of December 2004 expenses of $4.3 million. There are no known trends, events or uncertainties to indicate that
actual results will vary significantly from the estimates used nor would any expected variance have a material
effect on the financial condition of the Partnership.
Estimation of facility equalization adjustments:
Much of the revenue generated from the gathering, processing and pipeline assets is generated on a cost of
service basis. Under this method, the operating component of the fee is a pro rata share of the operating costs
for the facility, calculated based upon total throughput. Users of the facility are charged a fee per unit based
upon estimated costs and throughput, with an adjustment to actual completed at the end of each year. Each
quarter, throughput volumes and operating costs are reviewed to determine whether the estimated unit fee
charged during the quarter properly reflects the actual volumes and costs. As well, the allocation of revenues
and operating costs to other plant owners is also reviewed. Appropriate adjustments to the revenue recognized
in the quarter and allocations to other owners are recorded.
At December 31, 2004, for the facilities segment, operating revenues and accounts receivable contain an
adjustment to revenues of $3.5 million. Operating expenses and accounts payable contain an estimate of
$0.2 million. There are no known trends, events or uncertainties to indicate that actual results will vary
significantly from the estimates used nor would any expected variance have a material effect on the financial
condition of the Partnership.
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Estimation of NGL marketing revenues:
The majority of NGL marketing sales revenues are recorded based upon actual volumes and prices; however,
in many cases actual product lifting volumes have not yet been confirmed or sales prices that are dependent
on other variables are not yet known. Accordingly, the financial statements contain an estimate for these sales.
Estimates are prepared based upon contract quantities and known events. The estimates are reviewed and
compared to expected results to verify their accuracy. They are reversed in the following month and replaced
with actual results.
At December 31, 2004, NGL marketing sales and accounts receivable contain an estimate of December 2004
revenues of $38.4 million. There are no known trends, events or uncertainties to indicate that actual results will
vary significantly from the estimates used nor would any expected variance have a material effect on the
financial condition of the Partnership.
Estimation of NGL marketing product purchases:
NGL mix (feedstock) and specification products such as propane, butane or condensate are purchased from
facilities located throughout Western Canada and in some locations of the United States. The majority of NGL
mix purchases are estimated each month as actual volume information is generally not available until the next
month. The estimates are prepared based upon a three month rolling average of production volumes for each
facility and an estimate of price based upon historic information. Specification product volumes and prices are
based upon contract volumes and prices. Accordingly, these financial statements contain an estimate for one
month of these purchases.
At December 31, 2004, NGL inventory and accounts payable contain an estimate of December 2004 costs of
$69.6 million. There are no known trends, events or uncertainties to indicate that actual results will vary
significantly from the estimates used nor would any expected variance have a material effect on the financial
condition of the Partnership.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss resulting from non-performance of contractual obligations by a customer or
counterparty. The majority of the Partnership’s accounts receivable are due from entities in the oil and gas
industry and are subject to normal industry credit risks. Concentration of credit risk is mitigated by having a
broad domestic and international customer base. Keyera evaluates and monitors the financial strength of its
customers in accordance with its credit policy.
Management believes these measures minimize the Partnership’s overall credit risk; however, there can be no
assurance that these processes will protect against all losses from non-performance. At December 31, 2004, the
accounts receivable from the Partnership’s two largest customers accounted for approximately 5% of accounts
receivable (7% in 2003). With respect to counterparties for financial instruments used for hedging purposes,
Keyera limits its credit risk through dealing with recognized futures exchanges or investment grade financial
institutions and by maintaining credit policies which significantly minimize overall counterparty credit risk.
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Commitments
Keyera has assumed various contractual obligations in the normal course of its operations. At December 31,
2004, the obligations that represent known future cash payments that are required under existing contractual
arrangements are as follows:
Contractual obligations

Payments Due By Period (in $000)
1 Year
2 – 3 Years
4 – 5 Years

Total

After 5 Years

Long-term debt
Capital lease obligations
Operating leases 1
Purchase obligations 2

215,000
–
35,097
–

–
–
7,600
–

–
–
14,105
–

110,000
–
7,235
–

105,000
–
6,157
–

Total contractual obligations

250,097

7,600

14,105

117,235

111,157

1

Keyera has lease commitments relating to railway tank cars, vehicles, computer hardware, office space and natural gas
transportation agreements.

2

Keyera is involved in various contractual agreements with ConocoPhillips and other producers to purchase NGLs. These
agreements range from one to fourteen years and in general obligate Keyera to purchase all product produced at specified
locations on a best efforts basis. The purchase prices are based on then current period market prices. The future volumes and
prices for these contracts cannot be reasonably determined.

Risk management
In addition to operating processing plants and pipelines, Keyera engages in the wholesale marketing of NGLs.
This business involves the purchase of NGLs for subsequent sale to wholesale customers. Some of the sales will
occur more or less at the same time as the purchases, with the remainder of the purchases being sold in future
months. This latter situation results in Keyera having a long position of physical product inventory at certain
times of the year. Keyera posts bid prices for physical term purchase arrangements at the Edmonton/Fort
Saskatchewan hub.
The focus of the risk management program is to protect the Partnership’s physically long position of NGLs
from changes in commodity prices and to lock in margins. In order to do this, Keyera utilizes financial
contracts such as energy related futures, forward sales, price swaps, physical exchanges and options,
and generally balances physical and financial contracts in terms of volume, timing of performance and
delivery obligations. Occasionally, open positions, primarily attributable to unsold physical inventory, are
established to take advantage of market conditions. Positions are regularly monitored and managed by the
following processes.
Reporting systems capture and report NGL physical and financial transactions and mark them to market.
Sensitivity analyses are conducted on the NGL transactions to estimate the impact of changes in forward
prices. The creditworthiness of each customer is evaluated and reviewed periodically. Accounts receivable are
monitored for collection. On a monthly basis, or more frequently if required, the risk management committee
reviews the positions and discusses recent issues related to the market.
Transactions are undertaken in accordance with the terms of an “authority grid” which has been approved by
the President and CEO. The grid documents trading authorities volumetrically and by dollar amount.
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Foreign currency rate risk
The facilities business generated 59% of 2004 operating margin and is not subject to foreign currency rate risk.
All sales and virtually all purchases are denominated in Canadian dollars. In the NGL marketing business,
approximately $171 million of 2004 sales were priced in U.S. dollars.
Liquidity and working capital
Cash provided by operating activities before changes in non-cash working capital was $79.8 million, compared
to $56.6 million last year. The increase was due primarily to the stronger operating margin, partially offset by
higher interest expense and general and administrative costs. Cash and working capital at December 31, 2004
was $34.7 million, up slightly from the $34.5 million last year. Included in working capital at December 31, 2004
was $12.0 million of borrowings from short-term bank credit facilities.
Twelve months ended December 31
($ millions)

2004

2003

Capital expenditures

29.8

16.0

In 2004, additions to property, plant and equipment amounted to $29.8 million, consisting of $2.3 million of
maintenance capital and $27.5 million of growth capital. The maintenance capital expenditures were related
to numerous small projects. The most significant growth capital expenditures were the construction of the
Strachan waste heat recovery system, the acquisition of an additional 13.6% interest in the Wabasca Pipeline,
completion of the Rimbey CO2 plant, the acquisition of a 36% interest in the OBED/Gregg Lake pipelines, the
construction of the Brazeau Northeast Gas Gathering System and the upgrade of the Bigoray Plant. Netted in
the $29.8 million total is $3.9 million of cash receipts related to Gas Processing Efficiency Assistance Regulation
royalty credits that were earned from capital expenditures made in previous years to reduce emissions.
In addition to these capital expenditures, $13.0 million was required for the acquisition of the entity holding
the Caribou plant, for the purchase of an incremental 8.5% interest in Rimbey Pipe Line and to pay the final
adjustment arising from the EnerPro acquisition.
In 2005, Keyera expects to spend approximately $6.0 million for maintenance capital. The approved growth
capital budget for 2005 is $30 million but the actual level of growth capital investment is dependent upon
available opportunities.
Working capital requirements are strongly influenced by the volume of NGLs held in storage and their related
commodity prices. NGL inventories are required to meet seasonal demand patterns and will vary depending
on the time of year. Historically, the largest allocation of working capital to fund inventory has been
approximately $39 million. In addition to the working capital required for inventory, Keyera requires
approximately $30 million to finance the other components of working capital.
The majority of cash flow is derived from the gathering and processing business segment where the long-term
fundamentals are viewed as positive by management. Also, the operating income generated from gathering,
processing and pipeline facilities is not significantly exposed to changes in operating costs due to the nature
of the fee structure. This fee arrangement provides a mechanism for the recovery of operating costs plus a
return on capital.
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The most significant exposure faced by the gathering and processing business is related to declines in
production volumes. With the Partnership’s facilities located in significant natural gas supply areas of the
western Canadian sedimentary basin and the high barriers to entry of new participants, cash flows are
anticipated to remain stable and be sufficient to support operations, fund sustaining capital expenditures and
generate distributable cash. Other risk factors that could affect the financial performance of the Partnership
are listed in the Distributable Cash Flow section of this report.
The Partnership’s future debt levels are primarily dependent on operating cash flows, working capital
requirements and capital investment programs. Management expects the Partnership’s 2005 maintenance
capital expenditures and distributions to be funded by cash flow from operations.
In order for Keyera to manage seasonal fluctuations in cash flow and working capital, fund growth capital
expenditures and stabilize distributions, if required, Keyera has established credit facilities consisting of a
$50 million revolving term facility and a $50 million term facility that mature on or about May 30, 2006. As at
December 31, 2004, $7.5 million had been drawn under these credit facilities. Management expects that upon
maturity of these facilities, adequate replacement facilities will be established. Also, a subsidiary of the
Partnership has an unsecured revolving credit facility in the amount of $7.0 million. As at December 31, 2004,
$4.5 million remain drawn under this credit facility.
On September 30, 2004 KEFL issued $90 million of long-term senior secured notes, through a private
placement to investors in the United States. The proceeds were used to repay short-term debt. The notes bear
interest at 5.23% and mature on October 1, 2009. The Partnership has an additional $125 million of long-term
senior secured notes outstanding. Of that amount, $20 million matures in August 2008 and bears interest at
5.42%, $52.5 million matures in August 2010 and bears interest at 5.79%, and $52.5 million matures in August
2013 and bears interest at 6.155%.
DISTRIBUTABLE CASH FLOW
Keyera pays distributions to its partners on a monthly basis from its distributable cash, as determined in
accordance with the Partnership Agreement. The Partnership’s distributable cash for each month will generally
be all of its cash flow from operations for such month, including dividends received from subsidiaries, after
satisfaction of its debt service obligations (principal and interest), reclamation expenditures, maintenance
capital expenditures, other expense obligations and reasonable reserves for working capital and capital
expenditures as may be considered appropriate by the Board of Directors of the Managing Partner.
In 2004 the Partnership declared $59.5 million of distributions to partners of which $44.1 million was due to
the Fund. Cash available for distribution in 2004 was $78.1 million. The cash flow surplus was due primarily to
the strong performance of the NGL marketing business segment and lower than expected maintenance capital
expenditures. Because marketing operating margins can vary over time, the surplus was not distributed. It was
used as an internal source of financing for growth capital expenditures that will contribute to the generation
of future distributable cash flow.
The business of the Partnership is subject to operational and commercial risks that could adversely affect
future earnings and Distributable Cash Flow. These risks include declines in facilities throughput, operational
problems and hazards, cost overruns, increased competition, regulatory intervention, environmental
considerations, uncertainty of abandonment costs and dependence upon key personnel.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The following table presents selected financial information for the Partnership, restated due to changes in
accounting policies as described in the new accounting pronouncements section later in this report.
For the three months period ended
($000)

Operating revenues:
Facilities – gathering, processing
and pipelines
Marketing sales
Net earnings
Cash distributions

Mar. 31,
2003

Jun. 30,
2003

Sep. 30,
2003

Dec. 31,
2003

Mar. 31,
2004

Jun 30,
2004

Sep. 30,
2004

Dec. 31,
2004

23,212
228,374
12,944
–

24,391
138,275
9,003
168,418

24,676
123,734
7,333
12,179

24,956
143,886
8,569
11,702

23,532
168,983
11,921
11,848

27,752
148,525
9,850
12,162

40,928
235,353
6,757
17,493

43,627
248,717
11,969
17,974

December 31, 2004 compared to September 30, 2004
For the fourth quarter of 2004, operating revenues from facilities were $43.6 million, up $2.7 million from the
previous quarter. The increase was primarily attributable to the flow-through of higher operating and incentive
compensation costs and prior period adjustments.
For the fourth quarter of 2004, marketing revenues of $248.7 million increased $13.4 million from the previous
quarter due to higher NGL sales volumes and prices during the peak winter season. Also, greater volumes of
buy/sell arrangements were done to acquire product for fractionation thereby generating processing fees and
increasing facility utilization.
Net earnings of $12 million were up $5.2 million from the previous quarter. Earnings in the previous quarter
included a non-cash charge of $9.0 million for the write-down of an electrical generator while the fourth
quarter saw higher general and administrative costs, depreciation charges and tax expense.
September 30, 2004 compared to June 30, 2004
For the third quarter of 2004, operating revenues from facilities were $40.9 million, up $13.2 million from the
previous quarter. The increase was primarily attributable to new EnerPro facilities acquired July 2, 2004.
For the third quarter of 2004, marketing revenues of $235.4 million increased $86.8 million from the previous
quarter due to higher NGL sales volumes and prices. Sales volumes increased due to the disposition of
inventories acquired from EnerPro and lower than normal build quantities due to high demand.
Net earnings for the third quarter of 2004 of $6.8 million decreased by $3.1 million due primarily to the
$9 million impairment expense recognized on the electrical generation equipment held for resale and higher
depreciation expense.
Cash distributions of $17.5 million were up $5.3 million due to the increase in the number of units outstanding
at the Fund level. Although net earnings were down due to non cash charges, operating margins were strong
and distributable cash flow were sufficient to fund the increase.
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June 30, 2004 compared to March 31, 2004
For the second quarter of 2004, operating revenues from facilities were $27.8 million, up $4.2 million from the
previous quarter. The increase was primarily attributable to the flow-through of turnaround costs at the
Nordegg River and Gilby plants and prior period adjustments.
For the second quarter of 2004, marketing revenues of $148.5 million decreased by $20.5 million from the
previous quarter due to lower NGL sales volumes partially offset by higher prices.
Net earnings for the second quarter of 2004 of $9.9 million decreased by $2.1 million due primarily to the
unrealized loss on financial instruments and higher general and administrative costs partially offset by lower
interest expense.
March 31, 2004 compared to December 31, 2003
For the first quarter of 2004, operating revenues from facilities were $23.5 million, down $1.4 million from the
previous quarter. The decrease was primarily attributable to lower equalization adjustments than in the
previous quarter.
For the first quarter of 2004, marketing revenues of $169.0 million increased by $25.1 million from the previous
quarter due to higher NGL volumes and prices.
Net earnings for the first quarter of 2004 of $11.9 million increased by $3.4 million due primarily to the strong
performance of the marketing business segment and the unrealized gain on financial instruments.
December 31, 2003 compared to September 30, 2003
For the fourth quarter of 2003, marketing revenues of $143.9 million were up $20.2 million due to higher NGL
sales volumes and prices.
Net earnings for the fourth quarter of 2003 was $8.6 million, up $1.2 million from the previous quarter, due
primarily to the stronger performance from the NGL marketing business.
Distributions for the fourth quarter of 2003 were $11.7 million, down $0.5 million from the previous quarter, as
distributions to KEDCO were reduced as a result of the expiry of the gas marketing contract termination
payments on November 30, 2003.
September 30, 2003 compared to June 30, 2003
For the third quarter of 2003, marketing revenues of $123.7 million were down $14.5 million from the previous
quarter due primarily to the expiry and winding up of natural gas sales contracts.
Net earnings for the third quarter was $7.3 million, down $1.7 million from the previous quarter, due primarily
to higher interest costs. Prior to May 30, 2003, Keyera had no external debt.
Distributions for the third quarter of 2003 were $12.2 million, down $156.2 million from the previous quarter which
included the distributions related to the restructuring of the Partnership prior to its acquisition by the Fund.
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June 30, 2003 compared to March 31, 2003
For the second quarter of 2003, operating revenues from facilities were $24.4 million, up $1.2 million from the
previous quarter. The acquisition of KEFL by Keyera and take-or-pay revenues earned at the Paddle River plant
offset the lower volumes at the Brazeau River plant due to the turnaround at that plant.
For the second quarter of 2003, marketing revenues of $138.3 million were down $90.1 million from the previous
quarter due to lower NGL volumes and prices and the winding-up of the natural gas marketing business.
Net earnings for the second quarter of 2003 was $9.0 million, down $3.9 million from the previous quarter, due
primarily to the strong performance of the NGL marketing business in the first quarter where strong per unit
margins were earned due to lower than average North American inventory levels.
Distributions for the second quarter of 2003 were $168.4 million due primarily to the distributions paid to
KEDCO prior to the Fund’s acquisition of an indirect interest in Keyera.
NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Financial instruments
Effective January 1, 2004, Keyera adopted CICA Accounting Guideline 13, “Hedging Relationships” (“AcG-13”)
and commenced application of the accounting treatment specified in the CICA Emerging Issues Committee
Abstract EIC-128, “Accounting for Trading, Speculative or Non-Hedging Derivative Financial Instruments”
(“EIC-128”).
AcG-13 clarifies the circumstances in which hedge accounting is appropriate and includes the requirements
for the identification, documentation, designation and effectiveness of hedges. The guideline also identifies
situations where hedge accounting is to be discontinued.
EIC-128 requires that all derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting under AcG-13 or are
not designated as a hedge be recorded on the statement of financial position at their fair market value, either
as an asset or liability. Changes in their fair market value are recognized in earnings in the period they occur.
Keyera has applied the criteria of AcG-13 to all financial instruments and discontinued hedge accounting for
those that do not meet the effectiveness criteria of the guideline. At January 1, 2004, Keyera recorded an
unrealized loss of $0.3 million in deferred charges on the consolidated statement of financial position that is
being recognized in earnings over the life of the previously designated hedged items. The effect of these
contracts on earnings for the year ended December 31, 2004 was nil.
General accounting principles
In July 2003, the CICA approved section 1100, “General Accounting Principles” effective for fiscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2004. As a result, Keyera began expensing significant turnaround costs
commencing January 1, 2004. For the year ended December 31, 2003 these costs were capitalized and
depreciated over the estimated period until the next scheduled significant turnaround, which ranged from two
to four years.
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This change in accounting policy has been applied retroactively and resulted in a decrease in net property,
plant and equipment of approximately $4.7 million and a decrease in partners’ equity of approximately $4.7
million on January 1, 2004. The impact of this new accounting pronouncement on the consolidated statement
of earnings for the year ended December 31, 2003, had it been adopted on January 1, 2003, would have been a
reduction in net earnings of $2.4 million. There would have been no change to Distributable Cash Flow in the
year, as the reduction in net earnings of approximately $2.4 million and the reduction of depreciation and
amortization expense of $1.5 million would have been offset by the decrease in property, plant and equipment
of $3.9 million.
This change in accounting policy is expected to introduce volatility to earnings, as turnaround costs will vary
depending on the number and timing of plant turnarounds in a particular period. Distributable Cash Flow will
be unaffected, as maintenance capital which prior to 2004, included turnaround costs, was deducted when
calculating Distributable Cash Flow.
Asset retirement obligation
The Partnership has retroactively adopted the Canadian accounting standard outlined in the CICA Handbook
section 3110, “Asset Retirement Obligations.” Under the new section, the fair value of estimated asset
retirement obligations is recognized in the period in which they are incurred if a reasonable estimate of a
fair value can be determined. Asset retirement obligations include those legal obligations where the
Partnership will be required to retire tangible long-lived assets such as gathering and processing facilities as
well as other items.
The asset retirement cost, deemed to be the fair value of the asset retirement obligation, is capitalized as part
of the cost of the related long-lived asset and allocated to expense on a basis consistent with depreciation and
amortization. Amortization of asset retirement costs is included in depreciation and amortization in the
consolidated statement of earnings. Increases in the asset retirement obligations resulting from the passage of
time are recorded as accretion expense in the consolidated statement of earnings, over the estimated time
period until settlement of the obligation. Actual expenditures incurred are charged against the accumulated
asset retirement obligation.
The Partnership previously estimated costs of site restoration and abandonment and recorded them into
earnings based on the estimated life of the asset and accumulated a liability on the consolidated statement of
financial position. Upon adoption, all prior periods have been restated for the change in accounting policy.
The change resulted in a decrease in net earnings of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.
The effect of this change on the December 31, 2003 consolidated statement of financial position was an
increase in assets of $1.6 million, an increase in liabilities of $4.5 million and a decrease in retained earnings
of $2.9 million.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE PARTNERS OF
KEYERA ENERGY PARTNERSHIP:

We have audited the consolidated statements of financial position of Keyera Energy Partnership as at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the consolidated statements of earnings and partners’ equity and cash
flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the management of
Keyera Energy Management Ltd. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Keyera Energy Partnership as at December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Calgary, Canada
March 4, 2005
Chartered Accountants
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
2004
$

As at December 31 (All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2003
$
(restated – note 3)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other current assets (note 14)

10,518
154,247
26,142
2,807

6,367
120,472
27,458
3,996

Property, plant and equipment (note 5)
Asset held for sale (note 6)
Long-term investments (note 7)
Intangible assets (note 8)
Note receivable from affiliate (note 14)
Future income tax asset (note 11)
Other asset

193,714
865,595
4,735
–
40,551
70,016
–
–

158,293
556,043
–
13,095
7,770
–
3,900
13,716

1,174,611

752,817

LIABILITIES AND UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Distribution payable
Other current liabilities (note 14)
Current portion of long-term debt (note 9)

137,387
5,929
3,700
12,000

96,115
3,689
457
23,500

Long-term debt (note 9)
Asset retirement obligation (note 10)
Future income tax liability (note 11)

159,016
215,000
24,188
27,345

123,761
125,000
10,829
–

425,549

259,590

70,005
2,000

–
–

661,988
15,069

478,158
15,069

677,057

493,227

1,174,611

752,817

Preferred partnership interest (notes 5 and 14)
Non-controlling interest (note 7)
Partners’ equity
Partners’ equity
Related party transaction adjustment

Commitments and contingencies (note 16)
SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Approved on behalf of the Partnership by its managing partner, KEYERA Energy Management Ltd. (formerly KeySpan Canada Management Ltd.):

WESLEY R. TWISS
Director

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

JAMES V. BERTRAM
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS AND PARTNERS’ EQUITY

For the years ended December 31 (All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2004
$

2003
$
(restated – note 3)

Operating revenues
Marketing sales
Facilities – gathering, processing and pipelines
Operating expenses
Marketing cost of goods sold
Facilities – gathering, processing and pipelines

General and administrative
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense (note 6)
Accretion expense (note 10)
Equity earnings from investments (notes 7 and 14)

801,578
135,839

634,269
97,235

937,417

731,504

762,522
67,477

609,869
51,471

829,999

661,340

107,418
15,768
9,997
26,682
8,981
1,425
(1,444)

70,164
9,405
3,524
20,178
–
690
(1,086)

61,409

32,711

Earnings before tax and non-controlling interest
Income tax expense (recovery) (note 11)

46,009
4,989

37,453
(396)

Earnings before non-controlling interest
Non-controlling interest (note 7)

41,020
523

37,849
–

Net earnings
Partners’ equity, beginning of year
Capital contribution (notes 4 and 5)
Partners’ distributions (notes 4 and 12)
Change in accounting policies (note 3)

40,497
478,158
202,810
(59,477)
–

37,849
630,278
7,306
(192,298)
(4,977)

Partners’ equity, end of year

661,988

478,158

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31 (All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2004
$

2003
$
(restated – note 3)

Net inflow (outflow) of cash:
Operating activities
Net earnings
Items not affecting cash:
Non-controlling interest
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Accretion expense
Equity earnings from investments
Future income tax expense (recovery) (note 11)
Asset retirement obligation expenditures
Gain on sale of asset and investment

40,497

37,849

523
26,682
8,981
1,425
(1,444)
3,338
(186)
–

–
20,178
–
690
(1,086)
(520)
(304)
(235)

Changes in non-cash working capital (note 17)

79,816
18,576

56,572
31,478

98,392

88,050

(29,799)
(13,042)
(3,380)
4,996
–
–
919

(16,005)
(2,021)
–
–
748
1,460
2,038

(40,306)

(13,780)

90,000
(16,000)
(70,016)
(568)
(114)
(57,237)

125,000
23,500
(31,442)
(1,215)
103
(188,609)

(53,935)

(72,663)

4,151
6,367

1,607
4,760

10,518

6,367

Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (note 5)
Acquisitions (note 5)
Working capital acquired on acquisitions
Cash and debt acquired on acquisitions
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on sale of investments
Dividends on investments

Financing activities
Issuance of long-term debt (note 9)
(Repayment) issuance of current portion of debt
Note receivable and promissory note (note 14)
Deferred financing costs (note 9)
Changes in non-cash working capital
Distributions paid
Increase in cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEE NOTE 17 FOR CASH INTEREST AND TAXES PAID
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the years ended december 31, 2004 and 2003
(All amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where otherwise noted)

1.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Keyera Energy Partnership (the “Partnership” or “Keyera”, formerly KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership) is a
general partnership established under the laws of the province of Alberta. The Partnership and its subsidiaries
are managed by Keyera Energy Management Ltd. (“KEML” or the “Managing Partner”, formerly KeySpan
Canada Management Ltd.) Keyera’s business consists of natural gas gathering and processing, as well as
natural gas liquids (“NGL”) processing, transportation, storage and marketing.
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Partnership, and its subsidiaries, Keyera
Energy Facilities Limited (“KEFL”, formerly KeySpan Energy Facilities Limited), Keyera Energy Ltd. (“KEL”,
formerly KeySpan Energy Canada Company) and Rimbey Pipe Line Co. Ltd. (“Rimbey Pipe Line”) and are
presented in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Investments in companies
in which the Partnership does not have direct or joint control over the strategic, investing, and financing
decisions, but does have significant influence, are accounted for using the equity method.
Joint ventures
Substantially all natural gas and NGL processing activities are conducted jointly with others, and accordingly
these financial statements reflect only the Partnership’s proportionate interest in such activities.
Measurement uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These include the recoverability of assets and the amounts recorded
for depreciation, amortization, and asset retirement obligations, which depend on estimates of oil and gas
reserves or the economic lives and future cash flows from related assets. The recognized amounts of such items
are based on management’s best information and judgment.
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Revenue recognition
Marketing revenue
Revenue from the sale of natural gas and natural gas liquids is recognized based on volumes delivered to
customers at contractual delivery points and rates. Gains and losses relating to financial instruments that are
used to manage commodity price fluctuations are recognized on the settlement date.
Gathering, processing and pipeline revenue
Gathering, processing and pipeline revenue is recognized through fixed fee arrangements or flow through
arrangements that are designed to recover operating costs and provide the Partnership a return on its capital.
Amounts collected in excess of the recoverable amounts are recorded as a current liability. Recoverable
amounts in excess of the amounts collected are recorded as a current receivable.
Foreign currency translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates in effect at
the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at rates of exchange in effect at the transaction
date. Exchange gains and losses are recorded in income in the period they are incurred.
Stock-based compensation
A Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) was adopted to compensate officers, directors, key employees and
consultants, which is disclosed in note 13. The LTIP is a stock appreciation right as defined by the CICA
Handbook section 3870. The difference between the market price of the trust units and the grant price for the
outstanding units multiplied by the number of rights is recognized as compensation expense, over the vesting
period. Fluctuations in the price of the trust units will change the accrued compensation expense and are
recognized when they occur.
Financial instruments
Price swaps and option agreements are utilized by the Partnership to mitigate its exposure to fluctuations in
the price of natural gas, natural gas liquids and electricity. Forward currency exchange contracts and swaps are
utilized to mitigate exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. If hedging accounting criteria are met
(described below), gains and losses on these instruments are deferred and recognized in earnings in the same
period as the hedged item. The fair value of financial instruments qualifying for hedge accounting are not
recorded on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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To be accounted for as a hedge, a financial instrument must be designated and documented as a hedge and
must be effective at inception and on an on-going basis. The documentation defines the relationships between
the hedging items and the hedged items and documents the objectives and strategies for undertaking various
hedge transactions. The process includes linking financial instruments to specific anticipated transactions.
The Partnership also formally assesses, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, whether
the instrument used is highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows or fair values of the hedged item.
Hedge effectiveness is achieved if the cash flows from the hedging item substantially offset the cash flows of
the hedged item and the timing of the cash flows is similar or if changes in the fair value of the financial
instrument substantially offset changes in the fair value of the related asset or liability. If the above hedge
accounting criteria are not met, the financial instrument is recorded on the statement of financial position at
fair value and the initial fair value and subsequent changes in fair value are recorded in earnings in the period
of change.
If a financial instrument that has been accorded hedge accounting matures, expires, is sold, terminated or
cancelled and is not replaced as part of the Partnership’s hedging strategy, the termination gain or loss is
deferred and recognized when the gain or loss on the hedged item is recognized. If a designated hedged
item matures, expires, is sold, extinguished or terminated and the hedged item is no longer probable of
occurring, any previously deferred amounts associated with the hedging item are recognized in current
earnings along with the corresponding gains or losses recognized on the hedged item. If a hedging relationship
is terminated or ceases to be effective, hedge accounting is not applied to subsequent gains or losses. Any
previously deferred amounts are carried forward and recognized in earnings in the same period as the
underlying hedged item.
Income taxes
The Partnership follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, the
Partnership records the future income tax basis of an asset or liability, using the substantially enacted income
tax rates. Accumulated future income tax balances are adjusted to reflect a change in the income tax rates and
the adjustment is recognized in earnings in the period in which the change occurs.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include short-term investments with maturity of three months or less when purchased.
Inventory
Inventory is comprised primarily of NGL product for sale through the marketing operations. Inventory is
valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average cost basis,
calculated monthly.
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Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist of natural gas processing and gathering systems and NGL processing,
storage and transportation facilities, which were recorded at cost. Depreciation of these facilities is provided
for on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each facility, the periods of which range from eight
to thirty-five years. Impairment on property, plant and equipment is measured as the amount by which the
carrying value of an asset or asset group exceeds its fair value, as determined by the discounted future cash
flows of the asset or asset group.
Long-term investments
Investments in companies over which the Partnership has significant influence are accounted for using the
equity method. Other long-term investments are accounted for using the cost method. Impairment is
recognized when there has been a permanent decline in value of the investment.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of the marketing business contributed by the partners when the Partnership was first
formed and the marketing business contracts acquired on business combinations. These assets have been
recorded at their fair market value as at the time of contribution and acquisition. These amounts are being
amortized over their estimated economic life. The unamortized balance of these costs is assessed periodically
for impairment based on management’s best estimates of future net revenues from marketing operations.
Intangible assets also consist of deferred financing costs and goodwill. Amortization of deferred financing
costs is provided for on a straight-line basis over the weighted average term of the related debt offering.
The goodwill resulted from the acquisition of EnerPro Midstream Company. Annually, management assesses
goodwill, and its potential impairment, on a reporting unit basis by determining whether the balance
of goodwill can be recovered through the estimated discounted operating cash flows of each reporting unit
over their remaining life.
Distributions to partners
The amount of distributions to partners to be distributed monthly is defined in the Partnership Agreement.
The computation of the distributions to partners is comprised of cash flow from operations (including
dividends received from subsidiaries), after (i) satisfaction of its debt service obligations (principal and
interest) and income tax and large corporations tax expenses; (ii) satisfaction of funding requirements in
respect of any reclamation fund; (iii) providing for maintenance capital expenditures; (iv) satisfaction of its
other expense obligations including general and administrative expenses and those relating to incentive
compensation; and (v) retaining reasonable reserves for administrative and other expense obligations and
reasonable reserves for working capital and capital expenditures as may be considered appropriate by the
Board of Directors of the Managing Partner. Distributable Cash Flow, as defined above, is not a measure under
Canadian GAAP and there is no standardized measure of distributable cash flow. Distributable Cash Flow, as
presented, may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities.
Comparative figures
Certain amounts in the 2003 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year
financial statement presentation.
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3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General accounting principles
In July 2003, the CICA approved section 1100, “General Accounting Principles” effective for fiscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2004. As a result, the Partnership began expensing significant turnaround
costs commencing January 1, 2004. For the year ended December 31, 2003 these costs were capitalized and
depreciated over the estimated period until the next scheduled significant turnaround, which ranged from two
to four years.
This change in accounting policy has been applied retroactively and resulted in a decrease in net property,
plant and equipment of approximately $4,651 and a decrease in partners’ equity of approximately $4,651 on
January 1, 2004. The impact of this new accounting pronouncement on the consolidated statement of earnings
for the year ended December 31, 2003, had it been adopted on January 1, 2003, would be a reduction in net
earnings of $2,396. There would have been no change to distributable cash flow in the year, as the reduction in
net earnings of $2,396 are offset by the decrease in property, plant and equipment of $3,922.
Asset retirement obligation
Effective January 1, 2004, the Partnership has retroactively adopted the Canadian accounting standard
outlined in the CICA Handbook section 3110, “Asset Retirement Obligations”. Under the new section, the fair
value of estimated asset retirement obligations are recognized in the period in which they are incurred if a
reasonable estimate of a fair value can be determined. Asset retirement obligations include those legal
obligations where Keyera will be required to retire tangible long-lived assets such as gathering and processing
facilities as well as items for which the Partnership has made a promissory estoppel.
The asset retirement cost, deemed to be the fair value of the asset retirement obligation, is capitalized as part
of the cost of the related long-lived asset and allocated to expense on a basis consistent with depreciation and
amortization. Amortization of asset retirement costs is included in depreciation and amortization in the
consolidated statement of earnings. Increases in the asset retirement obligation resulting from the passage of
time are recorded as accretion expense in the consolidated statement of earnings, over the estimated time
period until settlement of the obligation. Actual expenditures incurred are charged against the accumulated
asset retirement obligation.
The Partnership previously estimated costs of site restoration and abandonment and recorded them into
earnings based on the estimated life of the asset and accumulated a liability on the consolidated statement of
financial position. Upon adoption of the new standard, all prior periods have been restated for the change in
accounting policy.
The change resulted in a decrease in net earnings of $193 for the year ended December 31, 2003. The effect of
this change on the December 31, 2003 consolidated statement of financial position was an increase in assets
of $1,611, an increase in liabilities of $4,526 and a decrease in retained earnings of $2,915.
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Hedging relationships
Effective January 1, 2004, Keyera adopted CICA Accounting Guideline 13, “Hedging Relationships” (“AcG-13”)
and commenced application of the accounting treatment specified in the CICA Emerging Issues Committee
Abstract EIC-128, “Accounting for Trading, Speculative or Non-Hedging Derivative Financial Instruments”
(“EIC-128”).
AcG-13 clarifies the circumstances in which hedge accounting is appropriate and includes the requirements
for the identification, documentation, designation and effectiveness of hedges. The guideline also identifies
situations where hedge accounting is to be discontinued.
EIC-128 requires that all financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting under AcG-13 or are
not designated as a hedge be recorded on the statement of financial position at their fair value, either as an
asset or liability. Changes in their fair value are recognized in earnings in the period they occur.
Keyera has applied the criteria of AcG-13 to all financial instruments and discontinued hedge accounting for
those that do not meet the effectiveness criteria of the guideline. At January 1, 2004, Keyera recorded an
unrealized loss of $310 in deferred charges on the consolidated statement of financial position that is being
recognized in earnings in the same period as the underlying hedged items. The effect of these contracts on
earnings for the year ended December 31, 2004 was an unrealized loss of nil (2003 – nil).
4.

REORGANIZATION

On May 30, 2003 (the “Closing”), the ownership of Keyera Energy Partnership was restructured in accordance
with the terms of an Initial Public Offering (the “Initial Public Offering”) of Keyera Facilities Income Fund (the
“Fund”, formerly KeySpan Facilities Income Fund).
The Fund is an unincorporated open-ended trust established under the laws of the Province of Alberta that
was created to acquire an indirect interest in the Partnership from KeySpan Energy Development Co.
(“KEDCO”). On Closing, the Fund acquired approximately a 34.5% interest in the Partnership for cash
consideration of $139,368. On June 10, 2003, an additional 4.6% interest was acquired for cash consideration
of $18,849. As at December 31, 2003, KEDCO and the Fund had interests of approximately 60.9% and 39.1%,
respectively. As at December 31, 2004, the Fund indirectly owns 100% of the Partnership.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

51

2004 FINANCIAL REPORT

Keyera 2004 Financial MARCH 15

3/15/05

7:57 PM

Page 52

KEYERA ENERGY PARTNERSHIP
(Formerly KeySpan Energy Canada Partnership)

On May 29, 2003, before the Closing, the following transactions were completed:
(a) The Partnership acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares of KEFL, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
KEDCO, in exchange for a $7,287 capital contribution in the Partnership. The transaction has been
recorded in the consolidated financial statements at the carrying amount of KEFL’s assets and liabilities as
shown on the following table. The difference between the capital contribution and the carrying values, of
$8,068, has been credited to related party transaction adjustment. The results of KEFL’s operations have
been included in the consolidated financial statements since that date. KEFL provides gas processing and
fractionation services and held a 40.606% beneficial interest in Rimbey Pipe Line.
The carrying values of KEFL’s assets and liabilities as at May 29, 2003 were:
$

Current assets
Investment in Rimbey Pipe Line
Property, plant and equipment
Future income tax asset
Current liabilities
Notes payable
Future site restoration provision

8,355
12,027
30,967
580
(4,979)
(31,442)
(153)
15,355

(b) The Partnership also acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares of KEL, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of KEDCO, in exchange for a $20 capital contribution in the Partnership. The transaction has
been recorded in these financial statements at the carrying value of KEL’s assets and liabilities. The
difference between the capital contribution and the carrying value has been charged to related party
transaction adjustment.
(c) The Partnership distributed $164,407 to KEDCO and its subsidiaries.
(d) On May 29, 2003, the Partnership transferred certain capital assets to KEFL at cost, in exchange for shares
in KEFL. The transaction has been recorded at the carrying amount of the asset which is $32,949. The
future income tax impact of the difference between the shares in KEFL and the carrying amount, of
$2,804, has been credited to related party transaction adjustment.
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5.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost
$

Accumulated
Depreciation
$

Net Book
Value
$

Balance, December 31, 2002
Additions, net
Acquisition
Depreciation

591,770
19,154
34,852
–

(61,932)
19
(3,885)
(20,895)

529,838
19,173
30,967
(20,895)

Balance, December 31, 2003
Change in accounting policies (note 3)

645,776
(6,396)

(86,693)
3,356

559,083
(3,040)

Balance, December 31, 2003 (restated)
Additions, net
Acquisitions
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment
through investment (note 7)
Depreciation

639,380
30,393
262,236

(83,337)
–
–

556,043
30,393
262,236

52,425
–

(10,496)
(25,006)

41,929
(25,006)

Balance, December 31, 2004

984,434

(118,839)

865,595

During 2004, $78 of general and administrative costs (2003 – $70) relating to certain capital projects were capitalized.
Acquisitions
On June 29, 2004, the Partnership acquired 100% of El Paso Velvet Processing Limited Partnership from whollyowned subsidiaries of El Paso Corporation, for an aggregate purchase price of $7,000, plus an adjustment for
net working capital and transaction costs. The El Paso Velvet Processing Limited Partnership owned 100% of
the Caribou gas plant, associated gathering pipelines and related acid gas disposal infrastructure.
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
date of acquisition. The results of operations have been included in the consolidated statement of earnings
effective July 1, 2004.
$

Net working capital
Property, plant and equipment
Asset retirement obligation

548
7,650
(1,012)
7,186
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On July 2, 2004, the Fund contributed the assets of EnerPro Midstream Company (“EnerPro”) to the
Partnership and KEFL for a total of $272,815, in exchange for $70,005 of preferential partnership interest and
$202,810 of capital contribution in the Partnership, thereby increasing the Fund’s indirect interest in the
Partnership from 75% to 82.6%. Working capital adjustments and transaction costs in addition to the
contribution amount of $272,815 were incurred directly by the Partnership and capitalized to property,
plant and equipment. The acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination and was allocated
as follows:
$

Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Future income tax liability
Asset retirement obligation

8,861
270,086
25,715
8,174
(25,715)
(8,765)
278,356

6.

ASSET HELD FOR SALE

The Partnership held a 50% interest in an electrical generator at a cost of $13,716 and categorized it as other
asset on the statement of financial position at December 31, 2003. In 2004, the Partnership concluded its
review of project opportunities for this equipment and chose not to proceed with putting it into service.
Accordingly, the equipment was written down to its estimated net realizable value of $4,735 and classified as
asset held for sale at December 31, 2004.
7.

LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

Prior to the acquisition of EnerPro, the Partnership owned a 45.3% interest in Rimbey Pipe Line through its
100% ownership of KEFL. The investment was accounted for using the equity method. The acquisition of
EnerPro added an additional 35.5% interest in Rimbey Pipe Line. Effective July 2, 2004, the results of operations
of Rimbey Pipe Line are consolidated with the remaining non-controlling interest reflected in the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidation required the elimination of the long-term investment and resulted in
an increase in property, plant and equipment of $21,595 on July 2, 2004.
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8.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2004
$

2003
$

Goodwill
Other intangible assets (a)
Deferred financing costs (note 9(e))

25,715
13,298
1,538

–
6,609
1,161

Intangible assets

40,551

7,770

As at December 31

(a) Other intangible assets consist of the marketing business contributed by the Partners when the
Partnership was first formed and the marketing business of EnerPro acquired on July 2, 2004 (see note 5).
The unamortized balance of the intangible assets is assessed periodically for impairment based on
management’s best estimates of future net revenues from marketing operations and is being amortized
over the remaining economic life of four to nine years.
9.

LONG-TERM DEBT
2004
$

2003
$

Bank credit facilities (a)
Senior secured notes (b & c)
Revolving demand loan (d)

7,500
215,000
4,500

23,500
125,000
–

Less: current portion of long-term debt

227,000
(12,000)

148,500
(23,500)

Long-term debt

215,000

125,000

As at December 31

(a) The Partnership has a $100,000 revolving credit facility with certain Canadian financial institutions led by
the Royal Bank of Canada, under two separate tranches. Each of the two $50,000 tranches matures on or
about May 27, 2006, unless extended, with one facility having a one year revolving term and the other a
two year revolving term. In addition, the Royal Bank of Canada has provided a $10,000 revolving demand
facility. The revolving credit facilities bear interest based on the lenders’ rates for Canadian prime
commercial loans or Bankers’ Acceptances rates. The weighted average interest rate for the year ended
December 31, 2004 was 4.41% (2003 – 4.82%). Security is shared on a pari passu basis with the lenders
under the bank credit facilities and the senior secured notes issued in 2003 and 2004. As at December 31,
2004, the balance outstanding on the bank credit facilities was $7,500 ($23,500 as at December 31, 2003).
(b) The $125,000 of senior secured notes issued in 2003 consist of three parts: Series A of $52,500 due in 2010,
bearing interest at 5.79%, Series B of $52,500 due in 2013, bearing interest at 6.155%, and $20,000 due in
2008, bearing interest at 5.42%. Interest is payable monthly. Security is shared on a pari passu basis with
the lenders under the bank credit facilities and the senior secured notes issued in 2004. Financing costs of
$1,215 were incurred to complete the 2003 senior secured notes issue. These costs have been deferred and
are amortized over the remaining terms of the related debt. Amortization expense of $163 has been
recorded for the year ended December 31, 2004 (2003 – $54).
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(c) On September 30, 2004, $90,000 of senior secured notes were issued by KEFL. The notes bear interest
at 5.23% and mature on October 1, 2009. Proceeds of the issue were used to repay short-term debt
incurred for the acquisition of EnerPro. Interest is payable semi-annually. Security is shared on a pari
passu basis with the lender under the bank credit facilities and the senior secured notes issued in 2003.
Financing costs of $568 were incurred to complete the issue. These costs have been deferred and are
amortized over the term of the notes. Amortization expense of $28 has been recorded for the year ended
December 31, 2004.
(d) A subsidiary of the Partnership has an unsecured revolving demand loan facility with a major Canadian
chartered bank in the amount of $7,000, of which $4,500 remains as at December 31, 2004. Borrowings
under the loan facility bear interest based on the lender’s rate for Canadian prime commercial loans
or Bankers’ Acceptances rates. The weighted average interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2004
was 3.76%.
(e) Deferred financing costs as at December 31:
2004
$

2003
$

998
540

1,161
–

1,538

1,161

Deferred financing costs, net (b)
Deferred financing costs, net (c)

10. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION
The following table presents the reconciliation between the beginning and ending aggregate carrying amount
of the obligation associated with the retirement of the gathering and processing facilities.
2004
$

For the year ended:

2003
$

Asset retirement obligation, January 1, 2004, as restated (note 3)
Liabilities incurred
Liabilities acquired
Liabilities settled
Revisions in estimated cash flows
Accretion expense

10,829
–
11,581
(186)
539
1,425

9,802
641
–
(304)
–
690

Asset retirement obligation, December 31, 2004

24,188

10,829

The total undiscounted amount of cash flows required to settle the asset retirement obligations is $81,575
($48,914 as at December 31, 2003), which has been discounted using a credit-adjusted risk-free rate of 7%. The
majority of these obligations are expected to be settled between 2018 and 2038. No assets have been legally
restricted for settlement of the liability.
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11. INCOME TAXES
The following is a reconciliation of income taxes, calculated at the combined federal and provincial income tax
rate, to the income tax provision included in the consolidated statement of earnings.
2004
$

2003
$

Earnings before income tax and non-controlling interest
Less: Non-taxable income attributable to the Partnership

46,009
32,726

37,453
36,802

Taxable earnings

13,283

651

Income tax at statutory rate of 38.62% (2003 – 37.79%)
Equity earnings and dividends excluded from taxable income
Resource allowance
Rate differences in subsidiaries
Adjustments to tax pool balances
Rate adjustment on opening balances
Other
Large corporation tax

5,130
(1,448)
(340)
(420)
1,536
372
(41)
200

246
(410)
(366)
–
–
–
10
124

4,989

(396)

Classified as:
Current
Future

1,651
3,338

124
(520)

Income tax expense (recovery)

4,989

(396)

Components of the current income tax expense include $200 of large corporation tax in KEFL and current
income tax expense of $1,446 from Rimbey Pipe Line from July 2 to December 31, 2004.
For income tax purposes the subsidiaries of the Partnership have non-capital losses carried forward of
approximately $5,503 at December 31, 2004 (2003 – $12,920) which are available to offset income of specific
entities of the consolidated group in future periods. The non-capital losses carried forward will expire at
various times to the end of 2007.
The future income tax (liability) asset relates to the difference in the carrying values and tax bases as follows:
2004
$

As at December 31

2003
$

Property, plant and equipment
Investments
Intangible assets
Asset retirement obligation
Non-capital losses carried forward
Other

(30,017)
–
(117)
1,251
1,960
(422)

(922)
(186)
(60)
60
5,416
(408)

Future income tax (liability) asset

(27,345)

3,900
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12. DISTRIBUTABLE CASH FLOW
The amount of Distributable Cash Flow, as defined in the Partnership Agreement, will generally be, on a
monthly basis, the Partnership’s cash flow from operations for such month (including dividends received from
subsidiaries), after (i) satisfaction of its debt service obligations (principal and interest) and income tax and
large corporations tax expenses; (ii) satisfaction of funding requirements in respect of any reclamation fund;
(iii) providing for maintenance capital expenditures; (iv) satisfaction of its other expense obligations including
general and administrative expenses and those relating to incentive compensation; and (v) retaining
reasonable reserves for administrative and other expense obligations and reasonable reserves for working
capital and capital expenditures as may be considered appropriate by the Board of Directors of the Managing
Partner. In 2003, KEDCO’s share of Distributable Cash Flow also included 100% of the net receipts (or payments)
for contracts entered into regarding termination of certain natural gas services and an electricity hedge.
Distributable Cash Flow, as defined above, is not a measure under Canadian GAAP and there is no
standardized measure of Distributable Cash Flow. Distributable Cash Flow, as presented, may not be
comparable to similar measures presented by other entities.
The Partnership makes monthly distributions to its partners of record on the last day of each month. Payments
are made on or about the 15th day of the following month.
The following table calculates the distributable cash flow under the terms of the Partnership Agreement:
For the twelve
months ended
December 31, 2004
$

For the period from
May 30 to
December 31, 2003
$
(restated – note 3)

Net earnings
Add (deduct):
Non-controlling interest
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Accretion expense
Equity earnings from investments
Dividends received from investments
Future income tax expense (recovery)
Gain on sale of asset and investment
Asset retirement obligation expenditures
Maintenance capital
Non-controlling interest distributable cash flow

40,497

19,226

523
26,682
8,981
1,425
(1,444)
1,132
3,338
–
(186)
(2,326)
(551)

–
12,223
–
414
(1,086)
2,038
(520)
(235)
(184)
(5,515)
–

Cash available for distribution for the period

78,071

26,361

Distributions to partners:

59,477

27,891

To subsidiaries of the Fund
To the Managing Partner
To KEDCO and its wholly-owned entity
To KEDCO, electricity hedge and gas services contract

44,067
3
15,407
–

10,805
1
16,838
247
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13. COMPENSATION PLANS
In 2003, a Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP” or the “Plan”) was adopted that compensates officers,
directors, key employees and consultants by issuing units of the Fund or paying cash in lieu of units. The Plan
permits the directors of KEML to authorize the grant of unit awards from time to time. A maximum of 1,300,000
units have been specified for issue from treasury under the Plan. Participants in the LTIP are granted rights
(“unit awards”) to receive units of the Fund on specified dates in the future.
The Plan consists of two types of unit awards, which are described below. Management accounts for unit
awards and the issuance of units under the Plan in accordance with the intrinsic value method of accounting
for stock-based compensation. The aggregate compensation cost recorded for the Plan was $3,028 for the year
ended December 31, 2004 (2003 – $588).
(a) Performance Unit Awards
The Performance Unit Awards vest 100% on the third anniversary of each grant date, July 1, 2003 and July 1,
2004. The number of units to be issued is determined by the financial performance of the Fund over the threeyear period. The number of units to be issued will be calculated by multiplying the number of unit awards by
an adjustment ratio and a payout multiplier. The adjustment ratio increases the number of units to be issued
to reflect the per unit cash distributions paid by the Fund to its unitholders during the term that the unit award
is outstanding. The payout multiplier is based upon the actual three-year average annual cash distributions
per unit of the Fund. The table below describes the relationship between the three-year average annual cash
distribution per unit and the payout multiplier.

First range
Second range
Third range

July 1, 2003 Grant
three-year average
annual cash distribution
per unit

July 1, 2004 Grant
three-year average
annual cash distribution
per unit

Payout

Less than $1.09
1.09 to 1.18
1.19 to 1.38
1.39 and greater

Less than $1.15
1.15 to 1.22
1.23 to 1.38
1.39 and greater

Nil
50% – 99%
100% – 199%
200%

As of December 31, 2004, 294,262 Performance Unit Awards were outstanding: 125,400 were granted on July 1,
2003 and 168,862 were granted on July 1, 2004. The compensation cost recorded for these units was $2,029
for the year ended December 31, 2004 (2003 – $301), using the closing market price of a unit of the Fund on
January 4, 2005.
(b) Time Vested Unit Awards (“Restricted Unit Awards”)
Restricted Unit Awards will vest automatically, over a three-year period from the effective date of the award on
July 1, 2003 and July 1, 2004, regardless of the performance of the Fund. The number of units to be issued will
be increased by an adjustment ratio which reflects the per unit distributions paid by the Fund to its unitholders
during the term that the unit award is outstanding.
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As of December 31, 2004, 133,355 Restricted Unit Awards were outstanding, 47,467 from the 2003 grant and
85,888 granted on July 1, 2004. The compensation cost recorded for these units was $999 for the year ended
December 31, 2004 (2003 – $287), using the closing market price of a unit of the Fund on January 4, 2005.
During the year, 14,684 units were issued from treasury and $175 was credited to unitholders’ equity on the
Fund’s balance sheet in respect of the units issued. In addition, the equivalent of 9,049 unit awards were
settled in cash.
14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The following table summarizes the Partnership’s related party transactions:

Operating allocation and NGL revenue
Tariff expense for use of pipeline and NGL purchases
Operating expense and general and administrative cost
Equity earnings from investments
Dividends received from investments

2004
$

2003
$

1,818
3,271
–
1,444
1,132

4,191
6,414
7,566
1,086
2,038

The transactions summarized in the above table were made in the normal course of operations and were
measured at the exchange value or on a cost recovery basis, which represented the amount of consideration
established and agreed to by the related parties. The acquisition of EnerPro described in note 5 added an
additional 35.5% interest in Rimbey Pipe Line, which when combined with the 45.3% investment held by the
Partnership represented an indirect controlling interest. Beginning on July 2, 2004, the transactions with
Rimbey Pipe Line are eliminated upon consolidation to reflect the Partnership’s indirect controlling interest.
The Partnership had the following balances receivable from and due to affiliates and related parties in the
normal course of business reflected in other current assets and other current liabilities:
2004
$

As at December 31:

2003
$

Due from affiliates

1,668

953

Due to affiliates

3,700

457

Note receivable due from affiliates of $70,016 is the result of a loan made by a subsidiary of the Partnership to
EnerPro. The loan is evidenced by a promissory note bearing interest at the subsidiary’s borrowing rate plus
0.1%. The weighted average borrowing rate payable for the year ended December 31, 2004 was 4.44%. There
are no fixed terms of repayment.
On July 2, 2004, the Fund indirectly acquired 100% of the shares of EnerPro and then transferred the assets of
EnerPro to the Partnership. The transaction was accounted for as a capital contribution, at carrying value of
$272,815 to the Partnership by the Fund. For its contribution, the Fund received $70,005 of preferred
partnership interest and an additional 7.6% interest in the Partnership. The preferred partnership interest has
a distribution rate equal to the interest rate paid by EnerPro on its debt, plus 0.10% per annum. Any return of
capital shall reduce the amount of preferred partnership interest by the amount repaid. The purchase price for
the acquisition of EnerPro is disclosed in note 5.
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Partnership enters into contracts to purchase and sell natural gas and natural gas liquids. These contracts
are exposed to commodity price risk between the time contracted volumes are purchased and sold. The
Partnership actively manages this risk by using energy-related futures, forwards, swaps and options and by
balancing physical and financial contracts in terms of volumes, timing of performance and delivery
obligations. Management monitors the Partnership’s exposure to the above risks and regularly reviews its
financial instrument activities and all outstanding positions.
Energy price risk management
The Partnership routinely enters into price swaps and option agreements to mitigate its exposure to
fluctuations in the price of natural gas, natural gas liquids and electricity. Price swap agreements require
payments to (or receipts from) counter parties based on the differential between fixed and variable prices for
commodities. The Partnership routinely enters into forward currency exchange contracts and swaps to
mitigate its exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. The contracts require the exchange of
currencies between counter-parties at previously agreed upon exchange rates. Management monitors the
Partnership’s exposure to the above risks and regularly reviews its use of financial instruments and all
outstanding positions. The fair values of the derivatives listed below represent an estimate of the amount that
the Partnership would receive or pay if these instruments were closed out at the end of the period.
The estimated fair value of all financial instruments is based on quoted market prices and, if not available, on
estimates from third-party brokers or dealers. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, other current assets, notes receivable from affiliates and accounts payable and accrued liabilities
approximates their fair values because the instruments are near maturity or have no fixed repayment terms.
The fair value of the bank credit facilities approximates fair value due to their floating rates of interest.
Carrying
Amount

Notional
Volume

–

63,000 Bbls

$

256

(28)

$ US 12,050

$

(28)

–
–

375,500 Bbls
487,638 Bbls

$ (1,116)
$ 2,421

$

$

2004
Natural gas liquids:
Price swaps (maturing by August 2005)
Currency:
Forward contracts (maturing by March 2005)

$

2003
Natural gas liquids:
Price swaps (maturing by August 2004)
Price swaps (maturing by August 2004)
Currency:
Forward contracts (maturing by March 2004)
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Credit risk
The majority of the Partnership’s accounts receivable are due from entities in the oil and gas industry and are
subject to normal industry credit risks. Concentration of credit risk is mitigated by having a broad domestic
and international customer base. The Partnership evaluates and monitors the financial strength of its
customers in accordance with its credit policy. At December 31, 2004, the accounts receivable from the
Partnership’s two largest customers amounted to approximately 5% of accounts receivable (2003 – 7%).
Revenue from the Partnership’s two largest customers amounted to 13% of total revenue in 2004 (2003 – 17%).
With respect to counter parties for financial instruments used for hedging purposes, the Partnership limits its
credit risk through dealing with recognized futures exchanges or investment grade financial institutions and
by maintaining credit policies which significantly minimize overall counter party credit risk.
Interest rate risk
The Partnership uses fixed and floating debt to finance its operations. The floating rate debt exposes the
Partnership to changes in interest payments as interest rates fluctuate. To manage this exposure, the
Partnership maintains a combination of fixed and floating rate borrowings. At December 31, 2004, fixed rate
borrowings comprised 95% (2003 – 84%) of total debt outstanding. The fair value of the Partnership’s senior
secured fixed rate debt is $222,819. The fair value of the Partnership’s preferential partnership interest is not
materially different than the carrying value of $70,005.
Foreign currency rate risk
The gathering and processing business generated 64% of 2004 operating margin (2003 – 65%) and is not
subject to foreign currency rate risk. All sales and virtually all purchases are denominated in Canadian
dollars. In the NGL marketing business, approximately US$171,091 of 2004 sales were priced in U.S. dollars
(2003 – US$104,390).
16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Partnership is involved in various contractual agreements with ConocoPhillips. The agreements range
from one to fourteen years and comprise the processing of ConocoPhillips’ natural gas and the purchase of
NGL production in the areas specified in the agreements. The purchase prices are based on current period
market prices. The Partnership has lease commitments relating to railway tank cars, vehicles, computer
hardware, office space and natural gas transportation agreements. The estimated annual minimum operating
lease rental payments from these commitments are as follows:
$

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter

7,618
7,457
6,666
4,245
3,026
6,225
35,237
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There are legal actions involving the Partnership for which the ultimate results cannot be ascertained at this
time. Management does not expect the outcome of any of these proceedings to have a material effect on the
financial position or results of operations of the Partnership.
There are no material guarantees outstanding at December 31, 2004.
17. CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL
2004
$

Cash provided by (used in):
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Distribution payable
Other current liabilities

2003
$

(33,775)
1,316
1,189
41,272
2,240
3,243

15,578
(8,424)
37,116
(12,195)
3,689
(3,905)

15,485

31,859

5,217
(2,240)
114

3,411
(3,689)
(103)

Change in non-cash working capital related to operating activities

18,576

31,478

Interest paid
Taxes paid

10,305
1,683

3,487
78

Adjust:
Working capital acquired on business combinations
Change in non-cash working capital related to distributions
Change in non-cash working capital related to financing activities
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18. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Partnership has two reportable segments: Facilities and Marketing. Facilities include natural gas gathering
and processing as well as natural gas liquids processing, transportation, and storage. The marketing business
consists of marketing of by-products recovered from the processing of raw gas, including NGLs and sulphur,
as well as services provided to its customers.
Facilities
$

Marketing
$

Corporate
$

2004
Revenue 1
Intersegment revenue

139,834
(2,551)

801,578
–

–
–

941,412
(2,551)

External revenue
Operating expenses

137,283
(67,477)

801,578
(762,522)

–
–

938,861
(829,999)

General and administrative, interest and other
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment expense
Accretion expense

69,806
–
(24,480)
(8,981)
(1,425)

39,056
–
(1,484)
–
–

–
(25,765)
(718)
–
–

108,862
(25,765)
(26,682)
(8,981)
(1,425)

Earnings (loss) before tax and non-controlling interest

34,920

37,572

(26,483)

46,009

Identifiable assets

Total
$

944,783

134,740

95,088

1,174,611

Capital expenditures

28,812

–

987

29,799

2003
Revenue 1
Intersegment revenue

100,141
(1,820)

634,269
–

–
–

734,410
(1,820)

External revenue
Operating expenses

98,321
(51,471)

634,269
(609,869)

–
–

732,590
(661,340)

General and administrative and interest and other
Depreciation and amortization
Accretion expense

46,850
–
(17,909)
(690)

24,400
–
(667)
–

–
(12,929)
(1,602)
–

71,250
(12,929)
(20,178)
(690)

Earnings (loss) before tax and non-controlling interest
Identifiable assets
Capital expenditures
1

28,251

23,733

(14,531)

37,453

622,899

116,316

13,602

752,817

14,631

–

1,374

16,005

Facilities revenue includes equity earnings from investment in Rimbey Pipe Line of $1,444 and $1,086 for years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003 respectively.

Export sales
Revenue from sales of natural gas, NGLs made outside of Canada was $127,998 (2003 – $27,889).
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Governance Committee

(4)

Member of the Health, Safety and
Environment Committee

(5)

Chairman of the Trustees and
Chairman of the Board
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Average Daily Trading Volume:
141,540 shares
Share Prices:
High: $14.60
Low: $10.60
Close (December 31): $14.39
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